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ERRATA

Por meio desta envio a correção da tabela 18 onde houve um erro na
apresentação da mesma explicado a seguir.
No cálculo do demonstrativo de resultados da Amazon (tabela 18, página
66), houve um erro na elaboração da planilha impressa, onde o valor da
depreciação se mantém constante ao longo dos anos analisados. O correto seria
a apresentação da tabela com o a depreciação variando anualmente. Na tabela
apresentada o resultado líquido projetado da Amazon está erroneamente
calculado.
No entanto, o resultado final, que representa o valor da ação da empresa,
não foi alterado, já que, no cálculo do fluxo de caixa descontado o valor da
depreciação está corretamente calculado e o resultado líquido utilizado é o
correto. Em anexo se encontra a planilha de demonstrativo de resultados
contendo o valor correto da depreciação, portanto esta nova planilha deve ser
considerada em substituição à da página 66.

••

Proje!Cãodo Demonstrativo de Resultados: Amazon
Ano
Receita
(CMV)
(Despesas Operacionais)
(Depreciação)
EBIT
~EBIT·t2
Resultado líguido

609,996
476,155
245,801
9,692

1999
1,524,990
1,189,492
564,246
39,230
(267,979)

2000
3,278,729
2,557,408
967,225
99,345
(345,249)

2001
5,737,775
4,245,953
1,663,955
173,853
(345,986)

2002
8,606,662
6,196,797
2,151,666
260,779
(2,579)

(267,9792

~345,2491

~345,986)

~2,5791

2003
11,188,661
8,055,836
2,685,279
391,169
56,377
20,296
36,082

2004
14,008,204
9,805,743
3,361,969
508,520
331,973
119,510
212,462

2005
16,865,877
11,637,455
4,047,811
636,667
543,945
195,820
348,125

2006
19,496,954
13,062,959
4,679,269
766,547
988,179
355,745
632,435

(Em milhares

Suposições

1

Atual
Ano
Receita
(CVM)
(Despesas Operacionais)
Imposto de renda

Tabela 18

2007
21,602,625
14,257,732
5,184,630
886,128
1,274,135
458,688
815,446

1998

1999

78.0%
40.0%
36%

150.0%
78.0%
37.0%
36.0%

2
2000
115.0%
78.0%
29.5%
36.0%

3
2001
75.0%
74.0%
29.0%
36.0%

4
2002
50.0%
72.0%
25.0%
36.0%

5
2003
30.0%
72.0%
24.0%
36.0%

6
2004
25.2%
70.0%
24.0%
36.0%

7
2006
20.4%
69.0%
24.0%
36.0%

8
2006
15.6%
67.0%
24.0%
36.0%

2008
23,114,809
15,255,774
5,547,554
981,830
1,329,651
478,674
850,977

de US$)

9
2007
10.8%
66.0%
24.0%
36.0%

10
2008
7.0%
66.0%
24.0%
36.0%

•
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Anexo 1 •

Amazon : Bloomberg beta

Anexo 2·
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Barnes &Nobles : Bloomberg beta
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Amazon: 1998 Annual Report
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Barnes & Nobles: 1998 Annual Report

1. Introdução
o tema

"Avaliação de empresas", representa uma das mais discutidas e

abordadas matérias dentro da área financeira. O interesse pelo assunto vem
crescendo

a medida

que

a onda

de fusões

e aquisições

vem

se

intensificando. Além disso, com a facilidade de se investir via Internet, os
investidores buscam hoje uma maior compreensão sobre como avaliar uma
empresa para que possam fazer seus investimentos com maior segurança.

A atividade de fusões e aquisições vem crescendo muito desde meados
dos anos sessenta. De acordo GRINBLATT[16], em 1967 o valor total de
todas as fusões e aquisições corporativas nos EUA foi inferior à US$ 20
bilhões. Em 1995 o volume total de fusões e aquisições tinha superado os
US$ 300 bilhões. Recentemente,

só a aquisição da Time Warner pela

America Online envolveu US$ 150 bilhões.

Com a popularização da Internet, o acesso às informações financeiras
sobre qualquer empresa se tornou muito rápido, fácil e praticamente sem
custo. Com isso o número de investidores não institucionais nas bolsas de
valores vem aumentando a cada dia.
Para se investir via Internet não é necessário nenhum software ou recurso
especial, um investidor pode ter acesso a seu portfolio a qualquer hora do
dia. Além disso, o custo de cada transação é muito inferior ao das comissões
cobradas por bancos e corretoras.
A grande desvantagem

de se investir via Internet é a análise das

informações

que um investidor

experiência

que

pode realizar.

os profissionais

Por não ter a mesma

que, tradicionalmente,

atuam

neste

mercado, o investidor comum dificilmente consegue realizar uma análise
correta na montagem de seu portfolio.
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A mudança da hábitos causada pela Internet não acontece somente no
mercado de capitais; os maiores negócios na Internet estão ligados com o
comércio virtual que pode ocorrer das mais variadas formas.

Segundo análise da Forrester Research [19], estima-se que o gasto com
compras pela Internet nos EUA em 1999 seja de US$ 74 bilhões (US$ 109.3
bilhões no mundo todo). A expectativa é de que em 2003 os gastos superem
o volume

total de US$ 1.3 trilhões.

O crescimento

da Internet

está

diretamente associado à conveniência de se comprar pela Web e serviços
oferecidos.

De acordo com a Jupiter Communications

[19], aproximadamente

200

milhões de pessoas estão conectadas à Internet. Segundo estimativa do
mesmo instituto, a Internet deverá ter 766 milhões de usuários em 2005,
baseado em um crescimento

anual de 17%, que pode ser considerado

conservador.

Este novo mundo, baseado em expectativas muito elevadas, está sendo
refletido no valor das ações das empresas ligadas ao comércio eletrônico.
Alguns analistas consideram as empresas super valorizadas, outros acham
que as empresas tem seu valor subestimado.

Existe um grande debate na imprensa e em círculos de investidores, onde
a grande pergunta é se empresas como a Amazon, Yahoo e AOL valem
realmente US$ 23 , US$ 94 e US$ 134 bilhões, respectivamente[14]

(dados

de agosto de 1999).

Analisar se as ações estão corretamente avaliadas não é uma tarefa fácil,
mas para a maior parte das empresas existem alguns valores a serem

2

considerados que já foram amplamente discutidos e estudados, tais como:
fluxo de caixa livre, lucros, capital social e projeção de ganhos.

Mas

as

empresas

principalmente,

virtuais

em expectativas

criaram
futuras.

um

novo

mundo

Estas empresas

baseado,

não possuem

ativos tangíveis, quase todas elas possuem resultados negativos. Não existe
base de dados histórica para comparação e as taxas de crescimento futuro
são muito difíceis de serem previstas. Além disso, enquanto as vendas
crescem a taxas vertiginosas, as empresas apresentam resultados cada vez
piores. Então como é possível explicar este valor tão alto de mercado?

Neste caso, muitos investidores e analistas não consideram as técnicas
tradicionais aplicadas a qualquer empresa. Eles, normalmente, ou não se
arriscam a investir nestas ações ou julgam-nas apostando no seu potencial
de gerar lucros no futuro.

A ansiedade e motivação dos investidores de investir dinheiro em um
mercado não consolidado, mas com um enorme potencial, não é nova. Nos
EUA, de tempos em tempos, uma nova mina de ouro aparece: estrada de
ferro no final do século 19; rádio nos anos 20; TV a cabo nos anos 80 e a
biotecnologia no final da década de 80 e início dos anos 90.

Comparando

com os episódios

anteriores,

o grande diferencial

da

Internet é o volume e no ritmo acelerado que os negócios estão ocorrendo.

A Tabela 1[14], apresentada na próxima página, demonstra alguns exemplos
de empresas virtuais que apresentam forte valorização. É interessante notar que
as empresas do mundo virtual, recentemente criadas, já apresentam um valor de
mercado altamente representativo, o que se torna evidente quando comparadas
com organizações a muito tempo estabelecidas no mercado
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Valor de
Mercado

Empresas
Virtuais

$ 149.8 bilhões
34.5

America Online
Yahoo
Amazon.com

~X:~_

Valor de
Mercado

Pfizer
Allied Signal

$ 149.8
34.7

_ _ _?.~.:~

§..~_~y.._._~~~ ~?EQ.~.~

2~.:g.._..........
.........._._
.._.___ _

$ 23.0

=
=

Empresas Tradicionais

$ 23.0

= Alcoa

~~g~j.~~9.
..

_.~.~i.?~.I.i
..~~:.??.r.:'.:_
§.~.t
@Home = Lockheed Martin··$·16:9·

$ 16.8

_ _.

17.7

-l·1-2:.~:::::::~:::.~=:::~____..::::~::!·~~:ª~~·:::~:~10:~::I~~=~f.I~~~::~(~l
$ 11.2...

.._..

$8'-4---···_··-

5?~~~
~_~_~.Q.~..~~?I.I.'.3~.~~..._._
Excite = Matte

RealNetworks

5.7
.Tabela 1. Fonte

Fortune

Magazine

=

!IR" Us

_....$ 11.4
$ 8.0
5.5

06/07/99 [14].

1.1. Motivação

Assim sendo, a grande polêmica gerada sobre o real valor das empresas
virtuais é a motivação para a realização deste trabalho. Iremos utilizar os
tradicionais modelos de avaliação de empresas com o objetivo de visualizar o
valor real de uma destas empresas virtuais, a Amazon.com e compara-Ia
com a Barnes and Nobles, o maior revendedor de livros do mundo, para
poder concluir

se são sustentáveis

os valores de mercado

das duas

Uma longa pesquisa bibliográfica foi realizada, procurando

identificar

empresas.

1.2. Metodologia

artigos

e livros

sobre

modelos

de avaliação

de empresas

utilizados

atualmente. Além disso, durante o tempo de pesquisa, foi estabelecido um
contato com o Prof. Dr. Damodaram Aswath da Universidade de Nova Iorque
e com a Profa. Dra. Susan White da Universidade

do Texas, visando

aperfeiçoar a qualidade da pesquisa. Também foi realizada uma rigorosa
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reavaliação e revisão feita pelo Prof. Dr. Piero Tedeschi -FGV - SP, quando
o trabalho sofreu um aprimoramento conceitual.

Devido a contemporaneidade

do assunto, há pouca literatura

sobre

modelos específicos de avaliação para empresas da Internet. Por isso, boa
parte da bibliografia,

principalmente

no que se refere a dados sobre a

Internet, provém de revistas, jornais e pesquisas realizadas
institutos,

empresas

de consultoria

e investidores

por alguns

que tivemos

contato

durante as pesquisas realizadas.

As duas empresas avaliadas são: Amazon .com e Barnes & Nobles. Hoje
em dia a Amazon não representa apenas uma empresa de comércio de
livros. Mas a maior parte de seu faturamento e o desenho de sua estrutura
atual ainda estão relacionados com a comercialização de livros.

Procuramos

várias

empresas

que pudessem

servir de modelo

de

comparação para a Amazon, porém é muito difícil encontrar uma empresa
concorrente que reflita perfeitamente sua imagem. Consideramos a Barnes &
Nobles a melhor opção para esta comparação, por ser a maior empresas de
comércio de livros do mundo e o maior concorrente direto da Amazon.

No caso da Barnes & Nobles a aplicação do modelo tradicional de fluxo
de caixa descontado é feita sem maiores dificuldades, porém, no caso da
Amazon se tornam evidentes as dificuldades de se aplicar este modelo.

1.3. Descrição dos Capítulos
Como primeiro capítulo deste trabalho temos a Introdução, onde são
apresentadas a importância do tema "Avaliação de empresas" e a discussão
atual sobre como avaliar uma empresa virtual. O capítulo também demostra
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a metodologia

utilizada e a descrição de todos os demais capítulos da

dissertação.
No segundo capítulo encontramos
mundo atualmente.
elevadas

Este capítulo visa mostrar ao leitor o porque das

expectativas

compreender

um panorama geral da Internet no

sobre

a Internet,

para

que

o mesmo

possa

o cenário único que pode justificar o valor das ações das

empresas virtuais.

o terceiro
empresas

capítulo apresenta os modelos tradicionais de avaliação de

proposto

demonstradas

pelos

principais

as dificuldades

autores.

No quarto

capítulo

são

de se avaliar uma empresa de comércio

eletrônico, além de uma nota sobre avaliação por múltiplos na Internet.

No quinto capítulo é feita a avaliação das duas empresas utilizando-se o
método do fluxo de caixa descontado. O sexto, e último, capítulo apresenta a
conclusão da dissertação.
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"Today we are preoccupied with the Internet companies.
This

label

is meaningless

because,

in five

years,

ali

companies will be Internet companies" Andy Grove

2. Panorama Geral da Internet e do comércio eletrônico
no mundo
2.1.o comércio eletrônico
A Internet está mudando os hábitos dos consumidores em todo o mundo.
A revolução causada pela rede ocorre devido às novas oportunidades

que

esta oferece.

Algumas das maiores oportunidades estão relacionadas ao comércio que
pode ser feito online. Admiradores do comércio eletrônico estão por toda
parte: consumidores, investidores, políticos e a imprensa, todos prontos para
enumerar as vantagens da Internet.

Existem algumas excelentes razões para essas elevadas expectativas; o
comércio eletrônico está apresentando

um crescimento maior do que as

previsões mais otimistas de um ano atrás.

Analistas financeiros, especializados em comércio eletrônico, dizem que
as expectativas de crescimento que, anteriormente, eram muito agressivas,
parecem ter subestimado a velocidade em que os consumidores americanos
e as corporações se moveriam para o comércio eletrônico.

A Internet se tornou a maior novidade para o mundo dos negócios. Alguns
analistas

predizem

que, durante

os próximos

anos,

consumidores

e

investidores ficarão ainda mais deslumbrados com as maneiras engenhosas
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que algumas companhias

tradicionais,

como Ford Motor Co., Wall-Mart

Stores Inc. e First Union Corp., irão tirar vantagem da Internet.

Hoje em dia, as "start-up companies" tem chamado mais a atenção dos
jornais e revistas, mas com o passar dos anos a Internet representará uma
enorme oportunidade

para as grandes empresa estabelecidas

há muitos

anos no mercado, como por exemplo a IBM, que já tem 25% de sua receita
sendo gerada por áreas relacionadas com o comércio eletrônico[29].

Considerando-se

os mais diversos aspectos do comércio eletrônico,

podemos dizer que 1999 foi o ano em que, definitivamente,

o mercado

corporativo norte americano entrou na Internet. Os Websites corporativos
deixaram

de ser apenas

uma versão

digitalizada

dos catálogos

das

empresas e dos demonstrativos financeiros.

Hoje, as empresas estão investindo milhões de dólares na Internet para
ter certeza de que nenhuma outra empresa, recém-chegada
possa adquirir

uma vantagem

competitiva

ao mercado

ao se estabelecer

primeiro,

dominando um novo mercado na Internet. A Amazon representa o melhor
exemplo neste caso. Até o inicio de 1995 a empresa não representava
nenhuma ameaça para as grandes livrarias americanas como a Barnes and
Nobles.

As empresas virtuais continuam a se expandir rapidamente, normalmente
financiadas por grandes investimentos adquiridos no mercado de capitais. Já
existem fundos de investimentos especializados em financiar novos projetos
mas a maneira mais tradicional é ainda através de investidores que analisam
as empresas e decidem bancar o projeto, estes investidor são conhecidos
como "Venture Capitalists". Até o final do ano passado, os investimentos na
Internet lideraram alista dos "Venture Capitalists".
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Como resultado, a economia voltada para a Internet está crescendo muito
rapidamente. O comércio eletrônico entre empresas (Business-to-Business)
teve um aumento significativo. Em 1998, as empresas gastaram US$ 43
bilhões em compras eletrônicas de produtos ou serviços de outras empresas,
dados da Forrester Reseach Inc [19]. Este mesmo instituto estimou que, em
1999, estes gastos teriam superado os US$ 110 bilhões. De acordo com
suas estimativas, o comércio eletrônico, entre empresas, deverá atingir US$
1,3 trilhões em 2003. Outro instituto de pesquisas, o International Data Corp
[29], prevê uma estimativa semelhante para o futuro do comércio eletrônico,
demonstradas nas Tabelas 2 e 3 [30].

Previsão para o comércio eletrônico mundial em 2003 (bilhões).
1999

2003

74

708

Europa

19

430

Outras Regiões

18

179

Total Mundo

111

1317

.._------_

...

USA

_._ ......

_ _-_.
..

Tabela 2 Fonte: International Data Corp.[30]

Previsões para o "business-to-consumer"

e para o "business-to-business"

em 2003.

USA
Europa
Outras Regiões
Total Mundo

''''Business-toBusiness"
1999
50
15
15
80

2003
634
367
139
1140

USA
Europa
Outras Regiões
Total Mundo

"Business-toconsumer"
1999
24

4
3
31

2003
75
64
39
178

Tabela3. Fonte: IDC.[30]

As previsões indicam que o "Business-to-business"

deverá crescer 94%

ao ano até 2003, quando atingirá US$ 1.140 bilhões. Por outro lado, o
"Business-to-consumer"

crescerá 54% ao ano podendo atingir US$ 178

bilhões, em 2003,. De acordo com estes montantes,

teríamos o "B2C"
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correspondendo

a 15,6% do "828", ou melhor, correspondendo

a 13% do

volume total do comércio eletrônico.

Viagens, computadores

pessoais e livros constituem os três maiores

mercados de compras virtuais, gerando mais de US$ 1 bilhão cada. Somente
a Amazon, líder do mercado de livros, obteve receita superior à US$ 1,6
bilhões em 1999.

Existem inúmeras

razões para os usuários comprarem

via Internet.

Primeiro, a conveniência de se comprar via Internet que agrada a ambos
consumidores,

grandes e pequenos. Websites, pelo menos teoricamente,

estão sempre abertos e prontos para servir. Em muitos casos, os Websites
oferecem mais informação sobre o produto e maior variedade de escolha,
tirando vantagem do fato que, no mundo virtual, mais espaço de prateleira
pode ser criado sem nenhum custo adicional.

Indústria

e comércio

estão concluindo

que as conexões

com seus

consumidores, por um lado, e com os fornecedores, do outro, podem gerar
uma melhora na comunicação

e como resultado expandir suas vendas,

diminuir custos e encurtar o tempo de resposta de ambos os lados.

Algumas das maiores mudanças estão vindo da indústria automobilística,
onde as cadeias de suprimento estão se tornando mais eficientes, de uma
forma nunca vista antes. As empresas
departamento

mantém contato direto com o

de produção de seus fornecedores,

antecipando

possíveis

problemas e aumentando a velocidade de comunicação.
Na indústria do turismo, as empresas aéreas e os hotéis descobriram que
com o uso da Internet podem tornar disponíveis

seus preços para os

consumidores de uma maneira muito mais rápida e barata, reduzindo o custo
dos intermediários.
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Mesmo em mercados muito menores, a Internet está exercendo enorme
influência. Em Santa Clara, CA, um distribuidor de aparelhos para medicina,
Neoforma Inc., está usando o seu Website para tornar disponíveis seus
produtos para consumidores

que ele nunca poderia ter alcançado antes,

como o governo de Omã por exemplo.

Os maiores fatores de sucesso para as empresas na Internet estão
baseados no número de consumidores que uma empresa tem. O consumidor
eletrônico de primeira viagem de hoje pode se tornar um grande comprador
no futuro, mantendo lealdade ao primeiro Website que se aventurou.

Além disso, os comerciantes obtém informações detalhadas sobre os
hábitos de compra dos consumidores, tornando possível a comercialização
deste valioso

banco de dados que poderá gerar anúncios

e ofertas

direcionadas.

Assim, algumas empresas estão apostando que vale a pena fazer quase
qualquer coisa para se obter um novo cliente hoje em dia. Além de uma
política de preços baixíssima, as empresas estão gastando enormes quantias
de dinheiro nas mais variadas formas de publicidade.

Segundo a Forrester Research[27], os gastos para se adquirir um novo
cliente variam entre US$ 1Oa US$ 200. As empresas acreditam que o valor
acrescido por cada cliente adicional é tão grande que qualquer política de
preços e investimento

em publicidade será recompensada

em um futuro

próximo.

Entretanto, as empresas de comércio eletrônico podem estar visualizando
uma esperança irreal, de que algum dia, no futuro, possam eliminar os atuais
prejuízos

aumentando

os preços

quando

os consumidores

estiverem

estabelecidos.
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As empresas tem feito qualquer esforço para aumentar o crescimento de
sua

receita,

investimentos

não

importando

o quanto

pareçam justificáveis.

as perdas

Esta estratégia

relativas

a estes

certamente

não é

sustentável ao longo do tempo.

Outro fato importante diz respeito aos "Venture Capitalists" que não
param de financiar negócios na Internet. No primeiro trimestre de 1999, US$
1,8 bilhões foram investidos em empresas relacionadas à Internet. De acordo
com a Pricewaterhouse

Coopers LLP [14], um recorde que representa 43%

de todos os investimentos realizados por estes investidores.

Quase todo o tipo de projeto atraiu dinheiro: empresas oferecendo e-mail
grátis, publicidade, acesso para oferta de ações e até vendas de utensílios
para animais domésticos.

2.2. Usuários

da Internet

Para avaliar uma empresa, devemos conhecer o tamanho do mercado
atual em que a empresa atua e projetar seu crescimento futuro .. Mas definir o
número de usuários da Internet não é tarefa fácil, pois estamos lidando com
expectativas sobre um ambiente do qual não possuímos muitas informações.
Segundo

uma estimativa

do Computer

Industry Almanac[29],

em 2005

teremos cerca de 766 milhões de usuários na Internet baseado em um
crescimento de 17% anual
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A Tabela 4 [28] mostra a distribuição de usuários em 1999.

País

USA
Japão
Reino Unido
Canadá
Alemanha
Austrália
Brasil
China
França
Coréia do Sul
Tailândia
Itália
Suécia
Holanda
ESQanha
Total

Total da
População
On-line
110,8
18,2
13,9
13,3
12,3
6,8
5,6
6,3
5,7
5,7
4,8
4,7
3,9
2,9
2,9
217,8

Total
População
273
126
59
31
82
19
172
1247
59
47
22
57
9
16
39
2258

Percentual
população
on-line
40,6
14,4
23,6
42,9
15,0
35,8
4,0
0,5
9,7
12,1
21,8
8,2
43,3
18,1
7,4
9,6

Tabela 4. Fonte: Computer Industry Almanac 1999 (29)

Os EUA possuem 110,8 milhões de usuários representando 50% do total
mundial. Apesar de apresentar

um alto percentual

de pessoas on-line,

40,6%, os EUA são, percentualmente, o terceiro colocado no ranking do total
da população ligada a Internet. A Suécia apresenta o maior percentual de
pessoas conectadas à rede, com 43,3%, seguida pelo Canadá com 42,9%.
O Brasil, com 5,6 milhões de pessoas on-line, representa o sétimo maior
mercado e ao analisarmos

o

baixo percentual, de 4% de usuários, em

relação a população total, verificamos o potencial do mercado brasileiro.
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[28] abaixo ilustra a previsão de usuários no mundo:
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Gráfico 1. Fonte:Computer Industry Almànac [29]

De acordo com a Juplter Comunications [27], o número de usuários nos
EUA deve crescer para 156.7 milhões em 2003, como demonstra a Tabela 5:

Usuários da Internet nos EUA (em milhões)
Idade
2-12
Teenagers
College
19-50
50+
Total

1996
1.4
2.8
5.0
23.8
3.9
36.8

1999
11.4
11.0
11,6
52.7
13.7 .
100.1

2003
24.3
17.8
13.3
73.9
27.3
156.7

Tabela 5. Fonte: Jupiter Communications

[27]
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A Tabela 6 [27] mostra a relação entre pessoas conectadas à rede e sua
condição financeira a população americana.

Ativos pessoais do lar
Menor
$50K to $100K
que
$99K
to
$50K
$199K
Porcentagem de 26%
37%
45%
lares conectados
----_ ..._-_ ...__ ..._.__ ......
Porcentagem de lares que:
Enviam e-mail
78%
80%
80%
Navegam
76%
77%
77%
Pesquisam
41%
43%
44%
produtos
Já compraram
41%
38%
39%
algo
Tabela 6. Fonte: Jupiter Communications

$200K
to
$499K

$500K
to
$749K

$750K
and up

49%

48%

48%

""----_._---

81%
77%
45%

80%
77%
46%

86%
79%
46%

41%

40%

44%

[27]

Estes dados nos demonstram o potencial que a Internet reserva para as
empresas que conseguirem posicionar-se corretamente e adquirirem fatias
consideráveis deste mercado ainda em formação.

2.3. Comércio eletrônico na América Latina
A América Latina, como um todo, apresentou um irrisório volume do
comércio eletrônico em relação aos países desenvolvidos.

O volume da

América Latina de US$ 198 milhões representou 0,1% do volume mundial de
US$ 111 bilhões indicando que esta região tem um alto potencial de
crescimento. A Tabela 7 [28] demonstra o volume de negócios gerados pelo
comércio eletrônico na América Latina e a previsão para o ano de 2005.
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Volume de negócios na Internet (em US$ milhões)
1999
121
28
18

Brasil
México
Argentina
Colômbia
Chile
Peru
Venezuela
Outros
Total

7

7
5

4
8
198

2005
4256
1542
1094
336
312
164
348

277
8329

Tabela 7 Fonte: Juplter Communlcatlons [27].

A América Latina deverá apresentar um montante de comércio eletrônico
de US$ 8,3 bilhões em 5 anos, sendo que o Brasil deteria 51 % deste total.
Entretanto, o mercado brasileiro cresce exponencialmente e este fato deverá
alterar para cima estas previsões. Além deste aspecto, a economia brasileira
está dando sinais de recuperação e os indicadores demonstram que as taxas
de crescimento da Internet, no Brasil, superam a média mundial. O gráfico 2
demonstra a previsão do número total de usuário na Internet na América
Latina[29].
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Gráfico 2. Fonte: Computar Industry Almanac [29].
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2.4. Internet no Brasil

o

Brasil deverá receber US$ 3 bilhões de investimentos ligados a

Internet em 2000, conforme uma previsão da AMI (Associação de Mídia
Interativa),

com a criação de 100 mil postos de trabalho.

Research [19] estima que o Brasil deverá apresentar

O Forrester

US$ 4 bilhões de

negócios pela Internet até 2003.

A Internet tem a característica de tornar as distâncias mais curtas e
este é um dos fatores que acarretaram a diminuição do período entre o
lançamento de produtos e sites no exterior e no país. O início da Internet
gratuita mudou, em poucos meses, o modelo de fazer negócios na Web. A
entrada de provedores gratuitos como IG , BR Free, Super 11.Net, entre
outros, fez com que os provedores tradicionais definissem estratégias para
combater o crescimento destes novos entrantes. Os provedores tradicionais
como Terra ZAZ (ligado à Telefônica),

UOL, PSINet, O Site e Matrix

concentram 70% dos usuários, mas esta proporção deverá mudar, pois,
inclusive estes estão lançando provedores gratuitos.

Os bancos como o Bradesco, Unibanco e Banco do Brasil também
estão dando acesso gratuito e deverão acirrar a disputa entre os provedores
tradicionais.
A queda na receita de assinatura fará com que o mercado viabilizese a partir da venda de material publicitário e e-commerce ("business-tof'

consumer" e "business-to-business").

Estima-se que o custo para o provedor

gratuito será de R$14,OO, assim, aqueles provedores que não conseguirem
vender espaço na mídia e tiverem custos elevados, terão dificuldades.
Apesar deste fator, provedores que esperam ter 100.000 usuários e que
deverão consumir como custo R$ 1,4 milhões/mês, acreditam que terão seu
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retorno financeiro com o crescimento da verba publicitária, dos usuários e,
consequentemente,

do comércio eletrônico.

Apesar da competição entre o acesso gratuito e o pago, deverá
haver espaço para todos, da mesma forma que aconteceu na Televisão com
a TV a cabo. A Televisão tradicional cobra dos anunciantes e a outra dos
usuários, e há espaço para as duas.
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3. Avaliação de Empresas: Abordagem Teórica
3.1. o conceito de valor
Para PRATT[23] o valor, assim como a beleza, depende
percepção

da

de quem avalia. Assim podemos entender a controvérsia

existente ao se avaliar uma empresa.

Segundo PARRINO[21], o "fair market value" de qualquer ativo é
defindo pelo preço em dinheiro que um ativo troca de mãos entre uma
pessoa desejando compra-lo e outra vende-lo, se o ativo for oferecido
para a venda no mercado por um período razoável de tempo e ambos,
comprador

e vendedor, estiverem, adequadamente,

informados sobre

todos os fatos relevantes referentes ao produto, e nenhum estiver agindo
compulsivamente.

Mais importante do que o conceito de valor é o conceito de
geração de valor para o acionista, que consiste em um dos mais
importantes e debatidos assuntos na área financeira. Em última análise, a
geração de valor para o acionista determinará o valor de uma empresa.
Em tese, a geração de valor é um processo onde só existem ganhadores,
os "stakeholders" da empresa. Entre eles estão os acionistas, credores,
fornecedores, funcionários, clientes e o governo.

De acordo com STEWART[26], é difícil afirmar, com certeza, se o
valor de uma ação é direcionado pelos múltiplos de lucro ou pelo fluxo de
caixa. No entanto, o autor defende a idéia de utilizar o método do fluxo de
caixa descontado, embora reconheça que o mercado de capitais pareça
preferir a metodologia baseada nos múltiplos.
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o

valor para o acionista é criado quando a empresa consegue

crescer em um ambiente onde o retorno sobre o investimento é maior que
o custo médio ponderado de capital. Desta forma podemos dizer que uma
empresa aumenta o seu valor quando consegue: 1)aumentar a taxa de
crescimento, desde que o retorno seja superior ao custo do capital; 2)
Aumentar a lucratividade, ou seja, o retorno sobre o capital investido;3)
Aumentar os investimentos; 4) Reduzir o custo de capital.

Para se traçar uma estratégia empresarial para que adicione valor

à

uma

empresa,

direcionadores
crescimento

RAPPAPORT[24]

sugere

que

avaliemos

os

de valor que são, em ultima instância, determinantes de
da empresa.

Para sua avaliação,

o autor

cita como

importante ferramenta a análise das cinco forças competitivas elaboradas
por PORTER[22]. Fundamentalmente,

a análise competitiva consiste na

visualização do potencial de criação de valor em determinado setor de
existência.

3.2. Modelos de avaliação de uma empresa
De acordo com BENNINGA[03], o valor de uma empresa é o valor
que um investidor pagará hoje pelos fluxos de caixa esperado no futuro.
Onde os elementos chave da qualidade desta avaliação são:

•

A estimativa dos futuros fluxos de caixa livre baseado nos
demonstrativos financeiros atuais;

•

A utilização de uma taxa de desconto que reflita o real risco da
empresa

Muitos analistas discordam dos diferentes modelos de avaliação de
uma empresa.

Estes modelos variam quanto a sua fundamentação
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teórica; no entanto, segundo DAMODARAN[10), todos estão englobados
em três grupos principais citados abaixo.

o primeiro

modelo, do fluxo de caixa descontado, é o mais citado

por todos os outros autores. Este modelo considera basicamente o valor
do ativo como sendo o valor presente dos fluxos de caixa futuros.

o

segundo modelo, mais simples e rápido de ser aplicado, é a

avaliação por múltiplos, onde o valor de um ativo é determinado
comparação

de seu valor com ativos similares.

pela

Normalmente

são

utilizados índices que comparam as vendas, lucros, fluxo de caixa ou
valor de face entre os ativos.

o último
modelo

de

modelo é o CCV ou "contingent claim value" que usa um

opções

para

avaliar

o valor

dos

ativos

que

tenha

características similares as opções financeiras.

3.3. Fluxo de Caixa Descontado

o fluxo

de caixa descontado (FCD) é o modelo mais recomendado

pelos autores

de avaliação

de empresas.

A grande

vantagem

da

utilização deste modelo consiste na grande quantidade de informação
que precisa ser obtida para que se possa calcular o valor de uma
empresa.

o modelo

de fluxo de caixa descontado requer que sejam feitas

previsões sobre o futuro da empresa, considerando o crescimento de sua
receita e custos, necessidade de capital de giro e novos investimentos,
capacidade de se obter capital, estrutura de capital e o risco inerente a
cada negócio.
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Para se obter uma avaliação correta devemos fazer uma análise
temporal da empresa, onde é importante que seja utilizada a base de
dados histórica da companhia considerando tendências passadas para
melhor se prever o futuro. Também devemos realizar uma avaliação
vertical da empresa considerando todos os elementos que compõe seus
demonstrativos

financeiros

e compará-los

com empresas do mesmo

setor.

Além disso, devemos, também, analisar o mercado comparando a
empresa com algumas outras que apresentem uma similaridade em suas
operações,

ramo

de atuação

e tamanho.

considerar fatores macroeconômicos

Também

é importante

como o desempenho do mercado

em que a empresa está inserida e o andamento da economia como um
todo.

De acordo com COPELAND[07], o melhor modelo para se avaliar
uma empresa é fluxo de caixa descontado, pois é o método que nos
permite obter uma visão mais sofisticada e confiável de seu valor.

DAMODARAN[09]

segmenta

o

método

do

fluxo

de

caixa

descontado em duas abordagens. A primeira, considera somente o valor
do "equity" da empresa. Este valor é calculado descontando-se o fluxo de
caixa residual obtido após o pagamento de todas as despesas, impostos,
principal e juros à taxa referente ao "cost of equity".

Value of Equity

=L

CF to Equity

(1 +Ke}n

Onde:
"CF to equity"

= Fluxo de Caixa

Ke

= Custo

para os Acionistas

do Patrimônio Líquido

22

A outra abordagem é a de obter o valor da empresa toda, a qual
inclui todo o fluxo de caixa gerado após o pagamento das despesas
operacionais

e impostos mas antes do pagamento de empréstimos e

juros. Nesta abordagem a taxa de desconto utilizada é o custo médio de
capital da empresa (WACC).

Valor da empresa =

L

FCF
(1+WACC)"

Onde:
FCF - Fluxo de Caixa Livre
WACC - Custo médio ponderado de capital

PRATT[23] considera o uso do fluxo de caixa descontado uma
técnica complexa mas eficiente. Porém, o autor conclui que a utilização
dos lucros descontados é tão eficiente quanto, e pode ser igualmente
utilizada para efeito de avaliação de uma empresa.

Independente

do modelos a ser utilizados, 0$ dois itens mais

importantes e difíceis para a elaboração de uma avaliação coerente são
as taxas de desconto e de crescimento a serem utilizadas.
Quanto maior for a taxa de crescimento, maior será o valor da
empresa. Esta taxa deve ser coerente com as projeções de crescimento
do mercado. Por exemplo, em um mercado ainda em formação, como a
Internet, a taxa de crescimento das empresas pode ser relativamente
grande durante os primeiros anos da análise.

Este super-crescimento

será reduzido, ao longo da projeção, para

determinação do valor da empresa. Deve ser considerada uma taxa que
reflita o crescimento da economia como um todo. Se um analista utilizar
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uma taxa constante de crescimento elevada para o cálculo do valor da
uma empresa, ele causará um erro grave na avaliação, pois, em algum
ponto do futuro, a empresa se tornará maior que o próprio mercado em
que atua.

A taxa de desconto reflete o risco que a empresa representa em
relação ao mercado.

Quanto maior o risco, maior será a taxa de

desconto, e por conseqüência, menor será o valor da empresa. A taxa
correta para se utilizar é o custo de capital da empresa pois nele está
refletido todo o risco da empresa.

3.3.1. Custo de Capital

o custo

de capital é um dos dois parâmetros mais importantes na

construção de um modelo de avaliação de fluxo de caixa descontado. A
chave para o entendimento
investidores
empresas

fornecem

capital necessário

possam financiar

desempenham

do custo de capital é perceber que os

corretamente

para que os gestores

seus projetos.

Estes gestores,

das

quando

seu papel, só investem o capital a eles

confiado em projetos que gerem, ao menos, taxas de retorno iguais ou
maiores às que os investidores podem conseguir em qualquer outro
investimento de mesmo risco.

Esta taxa de retorno é a taxa requerida de retorno ou o custo de
oportunidade

do capital. BRIGHAM[05]

demonstra

que as empresas

utilizam diferentes formas de recursos conhecidas como componentes
de capital. As três formas mais utilizadas são: o capital próprio, os
empréstimos e através de ações preferenciais.

Cada

forma

características

de

capital

empregada

pela

empresa

próprias e, devido seus riscos diferenciados

apresenta
possuem
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taxas de retorno diferentes. A taxa de retorno requerida por cada um dos
componentes de capital é denominada custo do componente, e o custo
de

capital

utilizado

deve

ser

a média

ponderada

dos

diversos

componentes de custo.

Esta taxa é conhecida como o custo médio ponderado do capital.
Para avaliar a empresa empregaremos esta taxa, pois ela compreende os
custos de todas as fontes de recurso utilizadas, considerando

seus

respectivos volumes em relação aos recursos totais da empresa.

Devemos

usar a seguinte fórmula para calcular o custo médio

ponderado de capital (WACC):

Onde:
WACC

= Custo

Kl

= Custo do endividamento permanente

Wd

= total do endividamento! recursos totais

T

= Alíquota do imposto de renda

médio ponderado de capital

= Custo do capital próprio
= total de capital próprio! recursos

totais

= Custo das ações preferenciais
= total de ações preferencias! recursos totais

3.3.2. Custo do Capital próprio
O custo do capital próprio é a taxa de retorno que os acionistas
ordinários requerem para investir na empresa. Existem diversas formas
de estimar o custo do capital próprio, mas as principais são pelo modelo
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de risco e retorno, modelo de crescimento de dividendos ou modelos
assemelhados.

3.3.2.1.

o

CAPM

primeiro

modelo é baseado no CAPM (Capital Asset Pricing

Model) desenvolvido

por SHARPE[25]. Como o objetivo deste trabalho

não é discutir o CAPM, faremos apenas uma breve menção ao assunto.
COPELAND[08] apresenta o modelo de SHARPE[25] para determinarmos
o custo do capital próprio, demonstrado abaixo:

E(R)

= Rt + 13(E(Rm) - Rt)

Onde:
E(R)

= retorno

esperado pelo acionista

Rt

= taxa livre de risco

13

= Fator Beta (risco referente à empresa em relação ao
mercado)

E(Rm) = retorno esperado do mercado

O beta (13)representa uma medida de risco para cada ação, medindo
a volatilidade dos retornos de uma ação relativa ao retorno do mercado,
que representa o portfolio formado por todos os ativos de risco. Para
calcular o beta, devemos fazer uma regressão histórica dos retornos de
uma ação, e compará-los

com os retornos do mercado no mesmo

período.
BRIGHAM[05] sugere outras maneiras práticas de se estimar o beta
de uma empresa. A técnica consiste em utilizar o beta de empresas que
atuem na mesma linha de mercado e que possuam características
semelhantes.
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3.3.2.2.

o

Modelo de dividendos

modelo de GORDON[15] é uma maneira simples de calcular o

custo de capital próprio. A fórmula, descrita abaixo, apresenta o modelo
que assume que a empresa irá pagar um fluxo de dividendos

que

crescerá a taxa g. O modelo também supõe que a taxa de desconto seja
uma constante.
E(R) = (Div1/ Po) + g

Onde:
E(R)

= Taxa de retorno esperada

Div1

= Próximo dividendo esperado

P

= Preço atual

g

= Taxa de crescimento

3.3.2.3.

da ação

Comparativos

BENNINGA[03]

ainda sugere uma terceira abordagem derivada do

modelo anterior. As suposições para este modelo são as seguintes:

(1) Segundo o modelo de GORDON[15] as empresas distribuem uma
parcela fixa do resultado a cada período de tempo. Esta parcela é
conhecida

como taxa de pagamento

ou p. Com base nesta

premissa, o dividendo a ser pago, conhecido como Div- ,é igual a p
(EPS), onde EPS é igual ao lucro por ação durante aquele período.
(2) O lucro deverá crescer a uma taxa fixa 9 . Assumindo uma parcela
de pagamento fixa, significa que os dividendos também crescerão

a taxa g.
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Com

base

nestas

suposições,

rescrevemos

a

formula

de

GORDON[15]:

E(R)

= (Div11Po) + g

E(R)

= (p EPS11Po) + g

E(R) = (p EPSo (1 +g)1 Po) + g
E(R)

= (p (1 +g)1 (Po 1 EPSo )+ g

Onde:
Po 1 EPSo representa atual preço da ação dividido pelo
lucro.

3.3.3. Custo dos empréstimos

O custo

dos

empréstimos

emprestados

à empresa.

empréstimos

é geralmente

mede

Segundo

o custo

atual

DAMODARAN[09],

determinado

dos

fundos

o custo dos

pelo risco de inadimplência.

Quanto maior este risco, maior será o custo para obter um empréstimo.
Uma maneira de medir este risco é utilizar a classificação

da

empresa conforme alguns classificadores de risco tais como Moody's e
S&P. Quando a empresa não estiver classificada, devemos utilizar a
última taxa de empréstimo adquirido.

Para o cálculo do custo médio ponderado de capital devemos utilizar
o custo de empréstimo depois do efeito dos impostos. Ou seja, devemos
considerar,

também, as vantagens obtidas pela redução de impostos

associados ao pagamento de juros. A fórmula a seguir demonstra como
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devemos

calcular

o custo dos empréstimos

considerando

o efeito

benéfico dos impostos:

Kdt

(depois dos impostos)

= Kd (1-t)

Onde:
T

= taxa de impostos marginal

~

= custo do endividamento permanente
= custo dos endividamento permanente

Kdt

após o efeito

dos impostos

3.3.4. Custo das ações preferenciais
Sempre que houver a sua emissão, devemos considerar o custo das
ações preferenciais,

que compartilham

capital próprio e dos empréstimos.

de algumas características

do

Como as ações preferenciais

se

caracterizam como uma perpetuidade, o custo deste instrumento deve ser
calculado usando-se a seguinte fórmula:

Kp = Dividendo por ação! Preço de mercado da ação
3.3.5. Fatores que influenciam o custo médio ponderado de capital
O custo médio ponderado de capital pode ser afetado por diversos
fatores. Alguns deles podem ser controlados

pela própria empresa,

enquanto outros não.
Entre os fatores que a firma não pode controlar estão o nível das
taxas de juros, determinados

por aspectos macroeconômicos.

E os

impostos, que são determinados pelos órgãos governamentais.
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j

Porém, uma empresa pode alterar seu custo médio ponderado de
capital

através

da

modificação

de sua estrutura

de capital,

que

determinará o nível de alavancagem da empresa. Além disso, a política
de dividendos empregada pela empresa e a política de investimentos
também são fatores decisivos na determinação do custo do capital.

3.3.6. Taxa de crescimento
PRATT[23] e COPELAND[07] consideram a taxa de crescimento,
que passaremos a chamar de g, o direcionador de valor mais importante
do fluxo de caixa. Segundo COPELAND[07], a taxa de crescimento de
uma empresa é o produto do retorno do investimento (ROI) pela taxa de
reinvestimento. Resultando na seguinte fórmula:

g= ROI * k

Onde:
ROI

= Retorno sobre o capital investido

k

= taxa de reinvetimento

É importante

de capital

notar que existem duas suposições

básicas na

aplicação desta fórmula, que não refletem o que realmente ocorre com as
empresas. Primeiro, as empresas não crescem a uma taxa constante
todos os anos e, segundo, as empresas também não reinvestem

o

resultado operacional na mesma proporção dos resultados todos.os anos.
Mas o ponto principal é o fato de que a taxa de crescimento de uma
empresa é diretamente relacionada com estes dois fatores principais.

DAMODARAN[10]

acrescenta que a taxa de crescimento de uma

empresa, juntamente com a taxa de desconto, é o fator mais importante
para a determinação de seu valor. Pois dentro da visão do modelo do
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fluxo de caixa, o valor de uma empresas

, em última análise,

é

determinado pelo fluxo de caixa futuro afetado pela taxa de crescimento,
e não pelo corrente.

Assim, a taxa de crescimento de uma empresa determinará se a
empresa estará gerando valor para o acionista.RAPPAPORT[24]

e

STEWART[26] concordam que se o retorno do capital investido for maior
que o custo médio ponderado do capital, a empresa estará criando valor
para o acionista. Se as taxas forem iguais, não há mudança no valor da
empresa, mas se o custo médio ponderado do capital for maior que a taxa
de retorno do capital investido, haverá destruição de valor.

3.3.7. Modelos de fluxo de caixa

Como pudemos constatar, o que realmente direciona o valor de uma
empresa é o fluxo de caixa gerado pela mesma. Para uma avaliação
correta de uma empresa, é de vital importância compreender o que é e
como podemos calcular, o seu fluxo de caixa livre.

FALCINI[13] menciona que a preocupação com a emissão de um
demonstrativo de fluxo de caixa obrigatório é recente nos EUA e ainda
inexistente no Brasil. Segundo FALCINI[13], após anos de pressão feita
por acadêmicos
Accouting

e profissionais

Standards

procedimentos

Board),

da área financeira,
órgão

máximo

o FASB (Federal
na

definição

de

contábeis nos EUA, obrigou as empresas a emitirem,

oficialmente, um demonstrativo de fluxo de caixa a partir dos exercícios
que se encerravam depois de 15-07-88 (FASB 95).

o fluxo

de caixa livre (FCF) representa o verdadeiro fluxo de caixa

líquido de uma empresa. Ele é o fluxo de caixa total, depois dos impostos,
gerado

pela empresa

e disponível

para os investidores.

Segundo
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DAMODARAN[10], podemos entender o fluxo de caixa livre como o valor
que estaria disponível para os acionistas, se a empresa fosse totalmente
financiada com capital próprio.

o fluxo

de caixa livre, normalmente, não é afetado pela estrutura de

capital da empresa, mas a estrutura de capital pode variar o custo médio
ponderado de capital alterando o valor da empresa.

Para COPELAND[07] o fluxo de caixa deve ser calculado da seguinte
maneira:

FCF= NOPLAT - ~ capital investido

FCF= (NOPLAT + depreciação) - (~ capital investido + Depreciação)

FCF= Fluxo de caixa bruto - Investimento bruto

Onde:
NOPLAT

= Nível normalizado de lucro operacional
menos impostos

~ capital investido

= incluem as variações no capital de giro, e
investimentos em ativos fixos

FC bruto

= quantidade de dinheiro disponível para ser
reinvestida

Investimento bruto

= Soma de todos os investimentos realizados
pela empresa em ativos, capital de giro e
outros investimentos

DAMODARAN [10] sugere uma abordagem mais elaborada para o
cálculo do fluxo de caixa. Segundo o autor, o valor que estamos
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procurando deve ser considerado depois do pagamentos dos impostos e
investimentos que precisem ser realizados.

Já que a empresa possui diversos investidores, os acionistas e os
fornecedores

de empréstimos,

devemos considerar

o FCF antes do

pagamento de juros e principal. Assim, o fluxo de caixa gerado para os
acionistas, pago em forma de dividendos ou recompra de ações, será
somado ao fluxo de caixa pago aos fornecedores de crédito, na forma de
juros e principal. A fórmula apresentada por DAMODARAN[10]

para o

cálculo do FCF utilizando o método indireto está descrita abaixo:
)

Lucro antes dos impostos e juros(EBIT) *(1-t)
- Investimento em ativos
+ Depreciação
- ~ Capital de giro

= Fluxo de Caixa

Livre (FCF)

A soma dos investimentos

em ativos e a variação positiva do

capital de giro menos a depreciação representam todos os investimentos
feitos pela empresa para gerar seu crescimento atual e futuro.

3.3.8. Valor terminal
Por

definição,

publicamente,

empresas

de

capital

aberto

têm um horizonte infinito de planejamento.

negociadas
Como não

podemos estimar os fluxos de caixa para sempre, normalmente,
modelos de avaliação

apresentam

os

um horizonte onde se encerra o

cálculo do fluxo de caixa em algum lugar do futuro e se calcula um valor
terminal, que reflete os fluxos de caixa gerados daquele período em
diante.
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Existem várias abordagens para a determinação do valor terminal
de uma empresa, incluindo o uso de múltiplos. A metodologia
consistente

para

ser usada

com uma análise

de fluxo

mais

de caixa

descontado é apresentada por DAMODARAN [11], onde se assume que
os fluxos de caixa gerados após o ano terminal crescerão a uma taxa
constante.

Neste caso, estima-se o valor terminal no ano n pela seguinte
fórmula:

Valor Terminal n = FCFF n+1/ (WACCn+1- gn)
Onde:
g - taxa de crescimento constante.

A taxa de crescimento

e o custo do capital são considerado

constantes para todos os anos seguintes. Este fato nos permite identificar
algumas restrições para o modelo.

Já que, em um horizonte de longo prazo, as empresas não podem
crescer a uma taxa maior que a da economia em que estão inseridas, a
taxa de crescimento constante não pode ser maior do que a taxa média
de crescimento dessa economia. Com base no mesmo conceito, o custo
médio ponderado do capital deve representar o custo de oportunidade do
capital no longo prazo.

3.3.9. Limitações

do modelo de Fluxo de Caixa Descontado

Como pudemos visualizar, o modelo de fluxo de caixa descontado
é baseado em expectativas de fluxo de caixa futuros e taxas de desconto.
Esta abordagem é, facilmente, usada em empresas que possuam fluxo de
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caixa atual positivo, que possam projetar os fluxos de caixa futuros com
certa precisão e que apresentem uma taxa de desconto fácil de ser
calculada. DAMODARAN[10] apresenta alguns cenários, citados a seguir,
onde a utilização do modelo não é tão simples e necessita passar por
adaptações.

Empresas em setores cíclicos - Os resultados e fluxos de caixa de
empresas, atuando em setores cíclicos, tendem a seguir a economia,
crescendo em períodos de aquecimento e diminuindo

em épocas de

recessão. O modelo de fluxo de caixa descontado prevê a projeção dos
fluxos atuais, que apresentaram um viés, dependendo da situação em
que a empresa estiver.

Empresas com ativos não utilizados - O modelo reflete os fluxos
de caixas de todos os ativos que estão sendo utilizados, se uma empresa
possuir ativos que não estão gerando caixa, estes ativos não terão seu
valor refletido. na avaliação.

Empresas com patentes e/ou opções - Assim como as empresas
possuem

ativos que não estão sendo utilizados, algumas empresas

possuem

certos

ativos, como patentes

e opções,

que ,apesar

de

possuírem potencial para gerar fluxo de caixa futuro não o estão fazendo.
Neste caso, os ativos, novamente, não estarão sendo considerados na
análise do fluxo de caixa descontado.
Empresas

em processo

processo de reestruturação,

de reestruturação-

normalmente,

Empresas

em

vendem alguns ativos ou

adquirem outros, além de mudar sua estrutura de capital e política de
dividendos. Cada uma destas mudanças faz com que a estimativa de
fluxo de caixa seja alterada.
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Empresas

envolvidas

em aquisições - Existem dois pontos a

serem considerados em empresas envolvidas em aquisições. O primeiro
é o de que, existe sinergia entre as empresas e qual é o valor desta
sinergia. O segundo, e mais difícil de ser estimado, é o efeito da mudança
de gerência da empresa no fluxo de caixa.

Empresas não negociadas publicamente - O grande problema de
se avaliar empresas não negociadas publicamente é a medida do risco, já
que a maior parte dos modelos de risco determinam que os parâmetros
de risco sejam baseados em performances

passadas,

refletidas

em

modelos

de

informação publicadas.

3.4. Nota sobre o modelo de opções reais

BREALEY

& MYERS[04]

acrescentam

que

os

avaliação tradicional, muitas vezes, não conseguem capturar o valor das
opções reais que as empresas possuem. Segundo os autores, existem
modelos principais para as opções reais.

Opção de espera -Funciona
investimento.

Por exemplo,

como uma opção "Cal!" sobre o

uma empresa que possua um poço de

petróleo inexplorado pode aguardar que o preço do barril suba para que
ela passe a explorar o ativo.

Opção de abandono - Serve como uma opção "Put", é a opção de
se abandonar um projeto se for conveniente. Por exemplo, no caso de um
projeto que irá gerar um resultado negativo a empresa tem a opção de
abandoná-lo e liquidar seus ativos.

Opção de fazer investimentos subsequenfes - Projetos com VPL
negativo

podem apresentar

um valor estratégico

que não pode ser
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mensurado

num

desenvolvimento

primeiro

momento.

Por

exemplo,

o

custo

de

de um remédio é um projeto de NPV negativo, porém

caso seja encontrada uma aplicação para a substância uma empresa
pode investir

na comercialização

deste produto

e obter resultados

positivos.

3.5.Avaliação

comparativa

através de múltiplos

Embora muito menos precisa que a avaliação pelo método do fluxo
de caixa descontado,

a avaliação comparativa através de múltiplos é

amplamente utilizada por analistas no mercado de capitais.

A avaliação por múltiplos é simples, rápida e muito conveniente,
causando o entendimento e aceitação rápida por parte dos analistas. A
abordagem consiste em derivar o preço de qualquer empresa com base
em uma empresa

comparável,

normalmente,

usando variáveis

que

envolvam lucro, fluxo de caixa, valor de face ou vendas.

BENNINGA[03] sugere cinco passos para se avaliar uma empresa
por múltiplos

1 - Seleção de empresas comparáveis - Devemos selecionar
algumas empresas para servirem de base de avaliação. Estas empresas
devem se parecer ao máximo com a empresa avaliada. No entanto,
devemos tomar cuidado para não restringir demais estas similaridades,
para que não possamos ficar sem nenhuma, ou com poucas empresas
comparáveis

2 - Seleção das variáveis - Normalmente, são utilizadas relações
entre o valor da empresa e variáveis como lucro, fluxo de caixa ou receita.
Porém,

podemos

utilizar

algumas

variáveis

específicas

para

cada
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indústria como, por exemplo, vendas por loja, no caso de uma cadeia de
lojas.

3 - Definição da média do mercado - Uma vez selecionadas as
empresas e as variáveis, devemos calcular uma média, das diversas
variáveis, para visualizar o quanto os investidores avaliam, em média,
empresas deste setor.

4 - Projeção das bases de comparação para a empresa avaliada Devemos determinar as bases de comparação da empresa avaliada tais
como seus resultados, vendas ou qualquer outra variável utilizada.

5 - Estimativa do valor da empresa - O passo final é utilizar os
parâmetros obtidos a partir das empresas do mercado e utilizá-los para
mensurar o valor da empresa em exame.

3.5.1. Limitações do modelo de múltiplos

O fato dos múltiplos serem muito simples e convenientes é tanto a
sua maior vantagem quanto seu maior problema. Por serem simples e de
fácil entendimento,
estimativas

podem ser usados,

rapidamente

para se obter

de valor. São muito úteis quando possuímos um grande

número de empresas para examinar e temos certeza que mercado está
as avaliando corretamente.

No entanto os múltiplos são instrumentos
especialmente

de fácil manipulação,

na escolha de empresas comparáveis.

Cada empresa

possui suas próprias características de risco e crescimento, portanto, não
existem duas empresas realmente comparáveis.
pode influenciar

Por isso, um analista

a seleção de algumas empresas

para validar

sua

avaliação.
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Corremos um risco de viés, também, no modelo de fluxo de caixa
descontado.

Porém, o analista tem que ser muito mais específico em

suas suposições para determinar o valor final da empresa. No caso dos
múltiplos estas suposições são geralmente deixadas de lado.

Outro problema dos múltiplos é o de que existe um pressuposto de
que as empresas comparáveis estão corretamente avaliadas, o que pode
não ser a realidade. Este fato é agravado quando encontramos poucas
empresas para comparar pois a chance de haver um viés é muito maior.
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4. Avaliação de Empresas da Internet
4.1. Dificuldades em se avaliar uma empresa da Internet

Com base na ferramenta do fluxo de caixa descontado descrito no
capítulo anterior, vamos analisar alguns dos problemas que encontramos
para realizar a avaliação da Amazon, uma empresa nova com resultados
negativos e nenhuma, ou poucas, empresas comparáveis. Estas dificuldades
refletem os problemas que qualquer analista encontraria para avaliar uma
empresa semelhante.

4.1.1. Resultados negativos
Empresas que estão perdendo dinheiro, atualmente, apresentam
vários problemas para os analistas que pretendem avaliá-los. Embora
nenhum destes problemas seja conceitual, eles são muito significativos
para a abordagem da avaliação.
4.1.1.1.

Taxas de crescimento

não podem ser estimadas

ou

usadas na avaliação

o
estimar

primeiro, e mais óbvio problema, é o fato de não ser possível
uma taxa de crescimento

esperado

para os resultados

da

empresa e aplicá-Ia ao resultado atual para se estimar os resultados
futuros. Quando o resultado de uma empresa é negativo, a aplicação de
uma taxa de crescimento só tornará os resultados ainda mais negativos.
Além disso, estimar uma taxa de crescimento se torna uma tarefa difícil,
pois não há correlação entre os dados históricos e as projeções dos
analistas.
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Estimar uma taxa de crescimento quando há prejuízo é muito
complicado

e os número, se estimados, não tem sentido algum. Por

exemplo, considerando

que o prejuízo operacional

por ação de uma

empresa qualquer foi de U$(-2.00) no ano anterior e U$(-1.00) no ano
corrente. Usando o método tradicional de crescimento descrita abaixo:

Taxa de Crescimento

= (EPS(n)IEPS(n-1))-

1

Onde:
EPS - Lucro por ação

Teremos:

TC = (-1/-2) - 1 = -50%

Este resultado não faz sentido pois, evidentemente,

a empresa

melhorou o resultado operacional no período.

Um outro método para a abordagem da taxa de crescimento é o de
usar a projeção do crescimento do resultado estimado pelos analistas,
especialmente
estimada

durante os próximos 5 anos. A taxa de crescimento,

por vários analistas que seguem uma ação, é geralmente

informação pública para muitas empresas americanas e, normalmente,
utilizada

para fins de avaliação

da empresa.

Mas, para empresas

apresentando prejuízo, este número não estará disponível ou, se estiver,
não faz o menor sentido.

Uma terceira metodologia é usar a análise fundamental citada por
DAMODARAM[11]. A abordagem consiste da seguinte fórmula:

Taxa de Retorno

= Taxa

de reinvestimento * ROE
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Onde:

=

Taxa de reinvestimento

(Investimento

em

imobilizado

-

depreciação + ~ capital de giro) / Lucro
operacional

ROE

= Lucro Operacional/Capital

Esta abordagem

também

Investido

não é eficaz pois, se a empresa

analisada apresenta prejuízo, os resultados da taxa de reinvestimento e
do ROE são negativos, invalidando a fórmula.

4.1.1.2.

A compensação dos impostos dificulta a avaliação

Nos EUA, para se estimar os impostos de renda, devemos aplicar
a taxa marginal do imposto de renda no lucro operacional antes das taxas
para se obter o resultado operacional líquido.

Este cálculo assume que o lucro gera um passivo fiscal no período
avaliado.

Mas as empresas que apresentam

um resultado

negativo,

podem utilizar este prejuízo acumulado em um futuro próximo, quando
obtiverem

lucro, para reduzir a despesa com impostos. Por isso, os

analistas que estão avaliando estas empresas tem que considerar que
este prejuízo acumulado irá ser utilizado algum dia.
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4.1.1.3.

Outro

Risco de falência

problema

encontrado

para se avaliar

empresas

com

resultados negativos é a real ameaça de que estas empresas decretem
falência. Mesmo, como no caso da Amazon, onde existe o crescimento
significativo da receita, o fluxo de caixa gerado pela empresa é negativo.
Situação que não é sustentável no longo prazo.

4.1.2. Inexistência

de dados históricos

Em avaliação

de empresas,

normalmente,

utilizamos

dados

históricos para estimar mais precisamente as projeções futuras. Dados
passados podem ser de extrema utilidade para estimar os seguintes
parâmetros:

•

Parâmetros

de risco, como o beta, que é calculado utilizando

retornos passados da ação. Muitas das agências que calculam o
beta utilizam dados dos últimos 5 anos, estes valores podem ser
estimados com alguma segurança com dados de, no mínimo, 2
anos. É possível calcular o beta para empresas
publicamente

negociadas

a menos de 2 anos, porém, o resultado é de

eficiência duvidosa;

•

Para se estimar parâmetros
para

ano, normalmente

que variam com freqüência
olhamos

para a média

de ano

de longos

períodos. Um exemplo clássico é a necessidade de capital de
giro, um dado que tende a aumentar, drasticamente, em alguns
anos e cair muito em outros. Neste caso, a melhor maneira de se
estimar estas variações é calcular a necessidade de capital de
giro como um percentual da receita de vendas;
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Mesmo os analistas que não usam a taxa de crescimento histórica
para estimar a taxa de Crescimento futura, verificam suas estimativas com
a taxa de crescimento histórica para verificar se estão razoáveis.

Por isso, apesar do fato de que os dados passados podem não ser
uma boa estimativa do futuro, uma empresa que possua um histórico de
vendas e de resultados nos permite obter uma projeção mais confiável
sobre seu futuro.

4.1.3. Inexistência de empresas comparáveis

Além de informação
freqüentemente,

sobre resultados

anteriores,

os analistas

usam informação sobre empresas comparáveis

para

fazer uma avaliação. Assim, o beta de uma empresa pode ser estimado,
simplesmente,

por comparação com o beta de empresas de tamanho

similar, dentro do mesmo mercado. As estimativas de necessidades de
investimento e capital de giro, normalmente, são obtidas através da média
de empresas comparáveis em um mesmo mercado.

o uso do beta se torna
significativo

muito mais fácil quando existe um número

de empresas comparáveis

dentro do mercado avaliado.

Como no caso da Amazon, quando a empresa avaliada é única ou as
outras

firmas

do mercado

não são comparáveis,

uma análise

de

comparativos fica muito mais difícil.

44

4.2. Nota em avaliação

por múltiplos

na Internet

Para a maior parte das empresas existe um enorme número de
múltiplos que podemos utilizar para fazer sua avaliação. Estes múltiplos
variam entre índices de lucratividade (P/E, Value/EBIT, Value/EBITDA),
valor

de

face

(Price/Book

, Value/Book)

e· vendas

(Price/Sales,

Value/Sales).

Mas as empresas de Internet criam enormes dificuldades para a
utilização desta abordagem. Os índices de lucratividade não podem ser
utilizados

pois

as

empresas,

normalmente,

apresentam

resultado

operacional negativo. Os índices que consideram o valor de face também
não podem ser utilizados, pois, além de serem minúsculos comparados
ao valor de mercado da empresa, não refletem o valor real do maior dos
ativos, que é a tecnologia.

A única abordagem que está sendo utilizada pelos analistas é a
comparação da receita de vendas entre as empresas. Um dos índices
considera

o valor de mercado da empresa dividido pelas vendas e

compara este número com o número de páginas visitadas e o número de
visitantes

por mês. Apesar

de não existir

nenhuma

comprovação

científica, analisamos algumas empresas para visualizar se realmente
existe consistência nestes índices.

Como já foi amplamente discutido, a vantagem da avaliação por
múltiplos é o pouco volume de informações necessárias para se avaliar
uma empresa, se compararmos com o fluxo de caixa descontado. Porém,
quando comparamos

os múltiplos, entre empresas similares, estamos

assumindo todas as suposições que faríamos em uma análise de fluxo de
caixa descontado, só que, neste caso, as suposições estão implícitas. E
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para piorar a situação, na maior parte das vezes não é possível explicitar
as suposições.

DAMODARAM[10]
avaliação

por múltiplos

corretamente
empresa

avaliado.

estar

necessariamente,

cita que o maior problema relacionado com a
é a pressuposição

está

Em um setor super avaliado, o fato de uma

subavaliada,.
que

de que o setor

esta

em

relação

empresa

ao

tenha

setor,
seu

não
valor

significa,
intrínseco

erroneamente avaliado. O problema pode ser a super-avaliação de todo o
setor.

O risco

de

se confiar

na avaliação

correta

do

mercado,

especialmente em setores com grandes variações de expectativa, é muito
alto ..

As Tabelas 8 e 9 foram publicadas pela revista Businessweek
monstrando alguns exemplos de avaliação por múltiplos. Para fins de
avaliação,

são

mercado/número

considerados

os

índices

preço/vendas,

valor

de

de páginas visitadas e valor de mercado/número

de

visitantes.

É interessante notar que na Tabela 8, onde os portais estão sendo
comparados, os valores do índice variam de 3.9 até 73 para a Netscape e
Yahoo respectivamente.

Outro índice, o valor por visitante,

também

apresenta uma enorme variação de US$41 para a Geocites e US$354
para o Yahoo. A comparação do valor de mercado com o número de
páginas visitadas apresenta também uma variação deO.5 para a Geocites
até 7 para a CNET, demonstrando grande variação no modelo.
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Portal

Simbolo

Preço

Valor de
Mercado

Preco
Vendas

Páginas visitadas
por mês

Valor de
mercado

Número de
vislantes

paginas

por mês

..

Valor de
mercado
número de

CNET

CNWK

33.5

567,289,000

13.25

84,864,125

7

8,517,692

Excite

XCIT

26.5

1,348,532,000

15.12

1,043,929,657

1

16,216,767

83

GeoCities

GCTY

22.94

703,286,688

35.29

1,286,631,880

0.5

17,136,935

41

Infoseek

SEEK

20.5

641,933,723

12.3

265,840,312

2

10,643,415

60

Lycos

LCOS

24.69

889,005,960

15.88

775,777 ,371

1

16,679,426

53

Netscape

NSCP

22.38

2,200,933,852

3.97

1,129,968,118

2

15,790,768

139

SportsLine

SPLN

18.5

344,572,932

16.19

64,570,131

5

2,186,047

158

Yahoo!

YHOO

90.44

8,472,467,165

2

23,956,436

354

73.21

3,806,848,681

67

Tabela 8. Fonte: buslness week 12/98

A Tabela 9 mostra os valores para as empresas de comércio
eletrônico. Neste caso, são criados três índices: valor de mercado/número
de clientes, valor de' mercado/vendas

por 'cliente e valor de mercado

sobre as vendas. Uma breve análise dos números é suficiente para
comprovar a inconsistência dos valores obtidos.

No exemplo, a Ameritrade e a Onsale apresentam receitas por
volta de US$ 145 milhões, e índices de preço/venda

de 3.69 e 2.19

respectivamente, que parecem consistentes. Mas quando comparamos o
valor de mercado/número de clientes, observamos que os valores obtidos
variam de 2005 para 490 demonstrando a incompatibilidade

na análise.
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Tabela 9. Fonte: Busíness Week 12/98

É importante

notar as enormes

diferenças

entre o valor de

mercado e o índice de preço/vendas (P/S) das empresas de um mesmo
setor. Este fato, mesmo sendo surpreendente, é, muitas vezes, justificado
pelas diferenças

entre os modelos

das empresas

e os diferentes

mercados em que estas operam. Mesmo assim é difícil considerar que a
utilização de múltiplos seja consistente pois os índices calculados variam
muito em sua ordem de grandeza.
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5. Estudo de caso: Amazon x Barnes & Nobles
Após termos discutido diferentes modelo de avaliação de empresas,
apresentaremos,

agora,

uma comparação

entre

duas

empresas

uma

representando as empresas de Internet e a outra, as empresas tradicionais
do mercado. Pretendemos, através da análise do fluxo de caixa descontado,
analisar o valor de mercado das duas empresas.

Representando

as empresas de Internet escolhemos a Amazon, a

maior empresa de comércio eletrônico do mundo, com faturamento superior
a US$ 1.64 bilhões em 1999 [01]. Hoje, a Amazon é o maior revendedor de
livros via Internet. Por isso decidimos escolher a Barnes & Nobles [02], o
maior revendedor mundial de livros com faturamento de US$ 3.5 bilhões em
1999, para servir de modelo de comparação com a Amazon.

Esta abordagem de fluxo de caixa descontado foi realizada no dia 18
de outubro de 1999, quando as ações da Amazon e da Barnes & Nobles
estavam sendo negociadas à US$ 74.06 e US$ 21.31 respectivamente.

o objetivo

desta avaliação é ser o mais preciso possível, mas como

existe muita incerteza
Amazon,

esta

sobre o futuro das empresas,

avaliação

servirá

para

demonstrar

especialmente
qual

deve

ser

a
o

desempenho da empresa para justificar seu atual valor de mercado.

5.1.Àmazon.com

A Amazon.com

é, seguramente,

a mais conhecida

e admirada

empresa de comércio eletrônico mundial. A empresa foi fundada em julho de
1995,em

Seattle, EUA e hoje é a líder mundial de vendas de livros pela

Internet. Segundo nota da diretoria [01], a missão da empresa é: "To use the
Internet to offer products that educate inform and inspire and build an online
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store that would be customer-friendly and easy to navigate and would ofter
the broadest possible setection".

A Amazon abriu seu capital em maio de 1997, suas ações estão
listadas na NASDAQ, usando o símbolo "AMZN". O fundador, chairman e
CEO da empresa

é Jeff Bezos um engenheiro

eletrônico

formado

na

Universidade de Princeton. A revista Forbes recentemente citou Bezos como
um dos homens mais ricos do mundo, com um patrimônio pessoal avaliado
em US$ 12.3 bilhões. A revista Time o apresentou como o "Man of the year
1999".

Os produtos vendidos atualmente pela empresa são livros, vídeos,
música, brinquedos, aparelhos eletrônicos, software e cartões virtuais. Além
disso, a empresa oferece e-mail grátis, anúncios de publicidade e uma seção
de leilão virtual. Operando online, a empresa disponibiliza um portfolio de
mais de 4.7 milhões de CDs, livros, vídeo e outros títulos. Este ano a
empresa irá aumentar sua gama de produtos vendendo hardware, assinatura
de revistas, flores e turismo, se tornando o maior shopping virtual do mundo.

A receita

da empresa

cresceu à surpreendente

taxa de 313%,

saltando de US$ 147 no exercício de 1997 para US$ 610 milhões em 1998.
Mesmo com este crescimento de receita, a empresa apresentou um prejuízo
operacional de US$ 124 milhões em 1998.

Segundo Jeff Bezos, a venda de livros, música e outros produtos e
serviços através da Internet oferece enormes vantagens ao consumidor,
entre elas, uma maior variedade de produtos, conveniência, facilidade de
encontrar maior informação, preços competitivos e serviço personalizado.
Consumidores que utilizam o site da Amazon podem, além de comprar livros
e outros produtos, receber vales-presente, conduzir busca específica a certos
itens, acompanhar a avaliação de especialistas e de outros consumidores
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sobre os produtos, participar de promoções e verificar a movimentação de
seus pedidos.

Os componentes chave para o sucesso da empresa são a excelência
de seu sistema de busca e navegação, a grande quantidade de produtos
disponíveis, a personalização do serviço e a tecnologia patenteada como 1Cllck e Secure Credit Card Payment. Além disso, por estar online, o site está
disponível o tempo todo para consultas. O Web site da empresa procura
promover o retorno do consumidor providenciando uma experiência que visa
a lealdade dos clientes ao site, com promoções e novos serviços sendo
oferecidos.

Conforme sua estratégia, a empresa está procurando

se tornar o

destino preferido dos consumidores para se comprar online. Em agosto de
1998, a Amazon adquiriu a Sage Entrepise, Inc. ("Planet Ali"), um site de
agenda e mensagens virtuais, e a Junglee Corp ("Junglee"), empresa líder
em tecnologia de banco de dados na Internet, que permitirá aos clientes
acessar produtos vendidos por outros sites.

Em abril de 1998, a Amazon adquiriu três sites na Alemanha
Inglaterra.

Em agosto do mesmo ano, a Amazon reinaugurou

e

os sites

utilizando sua própria marca: Amazon.com.Uk na Inglaterra e Amazon.de na
Alemanha.

Em outubro de 1998, as vendas combinadas

destes sites já

faziam da Amazon a maior empresa da comércio eletrônico da Europa. Os
dados referentes à Amazon podem ser encontrados no anexo 4.
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5.2. Barnes & Nobles
Barnes & Nobles, o maior revendedor de livros do mundo, possui 1009
lojas de livro. Destas, 520 operam com o nome Barnes & Nobles Bookseller,
Bookstar ou Bookstop, sendo que 50 novas lojas foram inaugurada em 1998.
As outras 489 lojas operam com o nome B. Dalton Bookseller, Doubleday
Book Shop ou Scribner's Bookstore.

Fundada em 1968, a Barnes & Nobles está listada na NYSE (New
York Stock Exchange),

utilizando o símbolo "BKS". O chairman, CEO e

principal acionista de empresa é Leonardo Riggio, de 58 anos. A empresa
emprega, aproximadamente,

29.000 funcionários e só no ano fiscal de 1998

gerou 2.000 novos postos de trabalho devido à sua expansão.

A Barnes & Nobles é a maior operadora de "super" lojas dos EUA,
com lojas localizadas em 49 estados e no distrito de Columbia. Com mais de
30 anos de experiência no comércio de livros, a empresa possui um enorme
conhecimento dos perfis e hábitos de seus clientes. A estratégia da empresa
é a utilização

do conceito

da "community

store", loja que atende

as

necessidades da comunidade em que está situada. Uma loja oferece a seus
clientes, além de uma enorme variedade de títulos, cafeteria, seção para
crianças, seção de música e um calendário de eventos como apresentação
de autores, lançamentos

de livros, coquetéis e atividades para crianças,

integrando-se, assim, à comunidade.
As 520 lojas que operam com o nome Barnes & Nobles possuem, em
média, de 1.000 a 6.000 metros quadrados, dependendo da sua localização
e do tamanho do mercado da região. Cada loja possui uma grande seleção
de livros variando entre 60.000 e 175.000 títulos, que refletem à preferência
dos consumidores locais. O porttollo de produtos tem seu foco em livros de
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pequenas

editoras

e universidades,

fugindo

da guerra de preços dos

Bestsellers que representam, apenas, 3% da receita total com livros.

As outras 489 lojas, operando com o nome B. Dalton em 45 estados e
no distrito de Columbia, possuem uma estratégia que visa o consumidor
médio

americano,

oferecendo,

principalmente,

bestsellers

e livros

de

assuntos gerais. O tamanho destas lojas varia entre 300 e 600 metros
quadrados, o tamanho ideal para estar presente em shoppings e galerias.

A estratégia global da empresa visa maximizar o retorno das lojas B.
Dalton, em resposta ao declínio das vendas causado pela entrada das super
lojas, a diminuição do movimento em shoppings e galerias e o advento da
Internet. Parte da estratégia da empresa é a de fechar lojas com resultados
negativos, causando o fechamento de mais de 400 lojas B Dalton, desde
1989.

Em setembro de 99, o Web site http://www.barnesandnobles

abriu

seu capital na NASDAQ. A Barnes & Nobles possui 50% de participação na
nova empresa que se tornou vendedor exclusivo de livros no portal América
Online (AOL). Com uma receita anual de US$ 202 milhões o site tem um
valor de mercado de 1.3 bilhões, quase o mesmo valor da própria Barnes &
Nobles, que possui um valor de mercado de US$1.39 bilhões. O Anexo 5,
apresenta o relatório anual da Barnes and Nobles de onde foram estraidas
as informações sobre a empresa.
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5.3. Comparação

entre as Empresas

A Tabela 10 compara as duas empresas sob a ótica financeira. É
interessante notar que, mesmo apresentando resultado operacional líquido
negativo, a Amazon tem um valor de mercado quase 10 vezes maior do que
a Sarnes & Nobles. Em março de 2000, o valor da Sarnes & Nobles havia
diminuído para US$ 1.39 bilhões, enquanto que a Amazon aumentou seu
valor para, aproximadamente,

US$ 22 bilhões. Parte deste valor é explicado

pela alta taxa de crescimento da receita, enquanto a Amazon cresceu a uma
taxa de 313%, entre 1997 e 1998, a Sarnes & Nobles cresceu 7.45% no
mesmo período.

Amazon.com

Vs.

B&N

$14.9 bilhões

Valor de Mercado

$1.5 bilhões

$ 609 milhões

Receita

$ 3.1 bilhões

313%

Crescimento das Vendas 97-98

7.45%

$ (124)

Resultado líquido

$ 92 milhões

- 20.5%

Lucratividade

3.7%

2%

Retorno de livros

30%

24

Giro annual de estoque

2

4.5%

Estoquei Ativos

52%

Baixa

Necessidade empréstimos de
longo prazo

Alta

Rápido

Ciclo de conversão de caixa

Lento

$ 97.5

Preço da ação

$ 23.4

203

PreçoN alor de face

2.37

NIA

PreçolLucro

18.01

14.94

PreçoN endas

0.53

1.79

Bloomberg Adjusted Beta

1.29

Tabela 10. Fonte: Business

Week, Dec 1998
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As duas empresas possuem uma política de qualidade garantida, pela
c

qual o consumidor pode devolver os produtos adquiridos em um prazo de
até 30 dias. A Barnes & Nobles apresenta um índice de livros devolvidos, de
aproximadamente
são devolvidos.

30%, enquanto que na Amazon somente 2% dos livros
A diferença

neste índice está na dificuldade

que o

consumidor tem para devolver um livro para a Amazon, haja visto que terá
que arcar com as despesas de envio do produto à sede da Amazon. No
caso da Barnes & Nobles, o consumidor só tem que voltar a loja que
comprou o produto, que geralmente está convenientemente localizada para
seu fácil acesso.

Outra diferença está no nível do estoque: a Amazon mantém um baixo
volume, apenas 4.5% do seus ativos, e uma alta rotatividade, 24 vezes por
ano. Enquanto isso, a Barnes & Nobles tem um alto volume de estoque,
cerca de 54% de seus ativos, e uma baixa rotatividade de apenas 2 vezes
por ano. O resultado desta política de estoque está refletida na ciclo de
conversão

de caixa, que é lento para a Barnes & Nobles, gerando a

necessidade de capital de longo prazo, justamente o contrario do que ocorre
com a Amazon.

Esta eficiência que as empresas de Internet possuem nos ajuda a
compreender porque os investidores e analistas tem enormes expectativas
sobre as empresas de comércio eletrônico, justificando o seu alto valor de
mercado.
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A Tabela

11, apresentada

pela revista Forbes, demonstra

uma

interessante comparação entre uma super loja de livros e uma empresa que
vende livros via Internet.

Venda média
(Desconto)
Despesas de Envio
Impostos
Desembolso do cliente
CMV
Custo para receber o Livro
Lucro Bruto

Super loía

Online

$ 100
-10

$100
-20

O

11
O

7
97
67

91
58
10
24

3

27

Tabela 11. Fonte: Forbes

A vantagem da empresa de comércio eletrônico está no menor preço que
o consumidor pagará pelo produto. O custo do envio do livro, que não existe
para a super loja, é quase que compensado pela não tributação das empresas
de Internet.

A empresa

virtual

recebimento

do livro, devido

possui também

ao pequeno

um custo

volume

maior

de pedidos

para o

feito aos

fornecedores e o fato de ter seu centro de distribuição em uma única localidade.

A Tabela 12 compara as despesas operacionais das empresas:

Super Loia
Despesas Operacionais
Aluguel
Mão de Obra e Manutenção
Web Design
_Marke.tin.~
.._ ...__ .... _
Total de.despesas operacionais

$1
11
O
3
._----_._
$ 14

Online
$5
O
3
..

17
._------$ 25

Tabela 12. Fonte: Forbes

O custo de aluguel da empresa de comércio eletrônico representa o custo
de se manter um site no ar. Este custo é cinco vezes maior do que o aluguel de
uma loja. No entanto, a empresa de comércio eletrônico é recompensada

por
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não ter nenhum custo de mão de obra e manutenção,
operacionais

os maiores custos

de uma super loja. No caso da empresa de Internet a maior

despesa é gerada com marketing.

o resultado

final é demonstrado na Tabela 13:

Lucro Bruto
Total de Despesas
Lucro operacional por pedido

Super Loia
$ 27
$ 14

Online
$ 24
$ 25

$13

$ (1)

Tabela 13. Fonte: Forbes

A redução das despesas operacionais

será uma necessidade

para a

empresa de comércio eletrônico. A expectativa destas empresas é que o custo
operacional

seja diluído

com o aumento

das vendas, já que não existe

necessidade de se aumentar o custo fixo se o volume de vendas aumentar.

5.4.Avaliação

da Amazon

Como já foi amplamente discutido, é quando não temos dados históricos
nem empresas comparáveis que uma avaliação fica mais difícil. Nesta seção,
faremos a avaliação da Amazon que, além de não possuir dados históricos
confiáveis,

nem uma empresa comparável,

apresenta

prejuízo operacional

tornando a avaliação ainda mais complicada.

Teremos, então, que projetar o fluxo de caixa livre da empresa para poder
encontrar o momento em que a empresa passará a apresentar

resultados

positivos. Por isso esta análise foi feita para os próximos 10 anos da empresa,
quando acreditamos que a Amazon terá atingido a sua maturidade e passará a
apresentar uma taxa de crescimento constante.
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Para se avaliar uma empresa nesta situação, DAMODARAM[10] sugere o
seguinte modelo que será aplicado na Amazon:

1- Utilizar a informação mais atualizada e completa sobre a empresa

Empresas com resultado negativo e altas taxas de crescimento, como
a Amazon,

tendem

a apresentar

drásticas

mudanças

nos

seus

demonstrativos financeiros em curtos períodos de tempo.
2- Estimar a taxa de crescimento

Estimar a taxa de crescimento para a Amazon é a tarefa mais difícil
de ser realizada nesta avaliação. A empresa cresceu 3000% de 95 para
96,938%

de 96 para 97 e 313% de 97 para 98, portanto, fica difícil fazer

estimativas

sobre

seu futuro.

Mas é possível

considerar

algumas

evidências antes de projetá-Ia:

•

Como as empresas aumentam o volume de receita a medida em
que crescem à taxas elevadas,

fica difícil manter a taxa de

crescimento tão alta. Assim uma empresa que cresceu 900% e
300%

nos dois

apresentar

últimos

exercícios

respectivamente,

tende

a

uma taxa de crescimento ainda menor no exercício

atual;

•

É muito mais fácil para uma empresa manter altas taxas de
crescimento em mercados que crescem, também, rapidamente do
que em mercados estabilizados;

•

As vantagens competitivas devem ser consideradas para entender
se a empresa possui uma vantagem

competitiva

sustentável.
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Quanto

maior for a vantagem

competitiva,

maiores

serão as

chances de se manter um crescimento constante;

•

As

barreiras

de

entrada

do

mercado

também

devem

ser

considerados, pois quanto maior forem as barreiras maior será a
chance de manter as altas taxas de crescimento;

Para estimar a taxa de crescimento da Amazon, consideramos o
momento atual da Internet, que cresce rapidamente em todo o mundo.
Além disso, a Amazon apresenta uma grande vantagem competitiva por
ser o primeiro entrante no mercado, estar estabelecida

e conhecida

mundialmente.

Mas ao invés de nos guiarmos somente por índices de crescimento
iremos considerar, também, o volume de receita marginal adicionado
anualmente. A Tabela14 demonstra os resultados obtidos para a taxa de
crescimento utilizada na avaliação da empresa e o aumento de receita
anual gerado:

Ano
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

Taxa de
Crescimento

Receita em US$

Crescimento da
Receita em US$

$ 609,996,000
150.0%
115.0%
75.0%
50.0%
30.0%
25.2%
20.4%
15.6%
10.8%
7.0%

$ 1,524,990,000
$ 3,278,729,000
$ 5,737,775,000
$ 8,606,662,000
$ 11,188,661,000
$ 14,008,204,000
$ 16,865,877,000
$ 19,496,954,000
$ 21,602,625,000
$ 23,114,809,000

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

914,994,000
1,753,739,000
2,459,046,000
2,868,887,000
2,581,999,000
2,819,543,000
2,857,674,000
2,631,077,000
2,105,671,000
1,512,184,000

Tabela 14.
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É interessante notar que, embora a taxa de crescimento diminua
ao longo do tempo, o valor de crescimento da receita em dólares aumenta
até o ano de 2005, quando a receita marginal em relação ao ano anterior
é menor. No final de 10 anos, a Amazon seria a maior empresas de
venda de livros do mundo, com uma receita 8 vezes superior a da Barnes
& Nobles, maior revendedor mundial de livros atualmente.

3- Estimar uma margem sustentável de lucro:

É necessário estimar uma margem de lucro razoável para quando
a empresa atingir um cenário de crescimento estabilizado.

Como não

existem empresas comparáveis, a tarefa fica mais difícil. Mas, em última
análise,

a Amazon

é um revendedor

de livros, portanto

podemos

considerar uma margem similar a dos vendedores de livros atuais.

Analisamos,
conforme

também, as margens operacionais

a empresa

aumenta

o seu faturamento,

da empresa. E
suas despesas

operacionais vão sendo diluídas sobre um volume maior de receita e seu
custo de mercadorias vendidas deve cair devido aos investimentos da
empresa na melhoria de seu sistema de distribuição.

Atualmente, a Amazon opera com uma margem negativa de 20.4%
da sua receita. Com o passar dos anos assumimos que a empresa
atingirá uma margem de 10%, que é similar a das empresas que atuam
no mercado. A Tabela 15 demonstra como as margens de lucro devem
aumentar durante os próximos 10 anos quando a empresa atingirá um
nível estável de crescimento.
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Ano

CMV

1998
1999
·2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

78%
78%
78%
74%
72%
72%
70%
69%
67%
66%
66%

Despesas
Operacionais
42%
37%
30%
29%
25%
24%
23%
23%
24%
24%
24%

Margem
{J:!re-taxl
-20%
-15%
-8%
-3%
3%
4%
7%
8%
9%
10%
10%

Tabela 15

Tem sido argumentado

que as empresas virtuais apresentaram

taxas maiores do que as empresas tradicionais, mas conforme nossa
avaliação,

isto não representará

a realidade.

Primeiro porque, para

conseguir clientes, as empresas estão praticando uma política de preços
reduzidos se comparadas

com empresas tradicionais.

Além disso, a

própria concorrência entre os diversos Websites não permitira que as
empresas consigam obter margens que não representem a realidade do
mercado.

4- Estimar necessidade de investimentos para se manter o crescimento

Diferentemente de outras empresas, a Amazon não necessita de
grandes investimentos em ativos imobilizados. Os maiores investimentos
que a empresa faz são em tecnologia e desenvolvimento

e já foram

gastos para a criação do Web site.
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Este ano a Amazon declarou que irá investir US$ 300 milhões em
ativos imobilizados

para poder reduzir as despesas

com envio de

produtos e, portanto, seus custos operacionais [62]. Este dado está sendo
considerado para se estimar as despesas com ativos imobilizado e no
cálculo da depreciação da empresa.

Assumimos, então, que a empresa investirá US$ 150 milhões nos
próximos dois anos. No terceiro ano assumimos que a empresa investirá
US$ 40 milhões, para os próximos anos. Assumimos que a taxa de
crescimento dos investimentos crescerá à mesma grandeza da taxa de
crescimento da receita.

Como teremos grandes investimentos em ativos nos primeiros dois
anos da análise, consideramos que a depreciação dará um grande salto.
Para

calculá-Ia

aplicamos

a taxa

de

crescimento

da

receita

na

depreciação do ano anterior, somada a 10% do volume de investimento
em ativos imobilizados realizados no ano corrente. Nos anos seguintes a
depreciação seguirá a taxa de investimentos realizada no ano anterior.

A

grande

dificuldade,

no caso

da Amazon,

é estimar

as

necessidades de capital de giro. Alguns analistas tem argumentado que
as empresas

de comércio

eletrônico

podem trabalhar

com estoque

reduzido e menor volume de capital de giro. Como concordamos

com

esta

giro

premissa,

assumimos

que

necessidade

de

capital

de

representará 5% do aumento em dólares da receita de um ano para outro .

.,,)-
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5- Estimar parâmetros de risco e taxas de desconto

Para estimar o custo do capital próprio, utilizamos a abordagem do
CAPM. Optamos por utilizar o beta ajustado fornecido
Bloomberg.

pela agência

O beta atual da empresa é de 1.79 (vide anexo 1) mas,

conforme a empresa for se estabelecendo
diminuindo, consideramos

no mercado e seu risco for

que o seu beta e, portanto, o custo do capital

próprio, deva representar um risco menor ao investidor.

Assumimos,

então, que o beta da empresa se aproximará das

outras empresas que comercializam livro e em 10 anos se tornará igual
ao beta do mercado. A Tabela 16 demonstra as estimativas do beta para
a Amazon:
Ano
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

Beta
1.79
1.79
1.76
1.76
1.65
1.54
1.43
1.33
1.22
1.11
1.00

Tabela 16.

Assumimos, também, que o retorno esperado do mercado será
igual a 10.5%, que representa o retorno médio da S&P dos últimos 5
anos.

Além

disso,

consideraremos

a taxa

livre de risco

de 5%

representada pela US T-Bond de 30 anos.

Custo do capital próprio
Taxa livre de risco
5.00%
Retorno do Mercado
10.50%
Beta
Variável
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Para calcular o custo dos empréstimos utilizaremos o custo atual
de 8%, calculado sobre para o ano de 1998. Os impostos serão
considerados
Custo dos empréstimos
Custo antes dos impostos
8.00%
Impostos
36.00%
Custo dos empréstimos
5.12%
Para

o

cálculo

do

custo

médio

ponderado

de

capital,

consideraremos o valor de mercado dos empréstimos e o valor de
mercado do capital próprio do dia 31 de dezembro de 1998. Comparando
os números, é possível visualizar que, atualmente, o custo dos
empréstimos representa apenas 2.33% da estrutura de capital da
empresa. Por isso, ajustamos gradativamente a estrutura de capital da
empresa para que, em 10 anos, a mesma seja similar a dos revendedores
de livros atuais onde este índice é de 25%.
D/E (Valor de mercado)
Empréstimos (D)
348,077,000
Capital Próprio (E)
14,621,000,000
Total
14,969,077,000

2.33%
97.67%
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A Tabela 17 apresenta os resultados obtidos no cálculo do custo
médio ponderado de capital:

Ano
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008

Beta
1.79
1.79
1.76
1.76
1.65
1.54
1.43
1.33
1.22
1.11
1.00

Ke
14.85%
14.85%
14.68%
14.68%
14.08%
13.49%
12.89%
12.29%
11.69%
11.10%
10.50%

KJ

E/(D+E)
97.67%
97.67%
97.67%
97.67%
95.00%
95.00%
90.00%
90.00%
85.00%
80.00%
75.00%

D/(D+E)

5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%
5.12%

2.33%
2.33%
2.33%
2.33%
5.00%
5.00%
10.00%
10.00%
15.00%
20.00%
25.00%

Custo
Do CaQital
14.62%
14.62%
14.46%
14.46%
13.63%
13.07%
12.11%
11.57%
10.71%
9.90%
9.16%

Tabela 17

Onde:

.Ke = custo do capital próprio
K~ = custo dos empréstimos

= total de empréstimos
E = total do capital próprio

D

6- Estimar o valor da empresa

Após se estimar o fluxo de caixa e as taxas de desconto e os
fatores que influenciam no fluxo de caixa podemos, finalmente, calcular o
valor da empresa.

A Tabela

18, apresentada

na página

seguinte,

demonstra as projeções do demonstrativo de resultados da empresa. A
Tabela 19 demonstra os fluxos de caixa livre projetados para os próximos
10 anos.
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Proie~ão do Demonstrativo de Resultados: Amazon

Ano
Receita
(CMV)
(Despesas Operacionais)
(Depreciação)
EBIT
!EBIT"t)
Resultado liquidO

609,996
476,155
245,801
9,692

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

1,524,990
1,189,492
564,246
9,692
(238,441)

3,278,729
2,557,408
967,225
9,692.00
(255,597)

5,737,775
4,245,953
1,663,955
9,692
(181,825)

!238,441)

~255,59~

(181,825)

8,606,662
6,196,797
2,151,666
9,692
248,508
89,463
159,045

11,188,661
8,055,836
2,685,279
9,692
437,854
157,628
280,227

14,008,204
9,805,743
3,361,969
9,692
830,800
299,088
531,712

16,865,877
11,637,455
4,047,811
9,692
1,170,919
421,531
749,388

19,496,954
13,062,959
4,679,269
9,692
1,745,034
628,212
1,116,822

21,602,625
14,257,732
5,184,630
9,692
2,150,570
774,205
1,376,365

23,114,809
15,255,774
5,547,554
9,692
2,301,789
828,644
1,473,145

(Em milhares de US$)
Suposições

1998

1
1999

2
2000

3
2001

2002

5
2003

6
2004

2005

8
2006

9
2007

10
2008

78.0%
40.0%
36%

150.0%
78.0%
37.0%
36.0%

115.0%
78.0%
29.5%
36.0%

75.0%
74.0%
29.0%
36.0%

50.0%
72.0%
25.0%
36.0%

30.0%
72.0%
24.0%
36.0%

25.2%
70.0%
24.0%
36.0%

20.4%
69.0%
24.0%
36.0%

15.6%
67.0%
24.0%
36.0%

10.8%
66.0%
24.0%
36.0%

7.0%
66.0%
24.0%
36.0%

Atual
Ano
Receita
(CVM)
(Despesas Operacionais)
Imposto de renda

Tabela 18

4

7

Fluxo de Caixa Descontado: Amazon
Atual
Ano

1998

Resultado líquido
Depreciação
(Investimentos em ativos)
(Yar. Ca~ital de Giro)
FCF
Valor ~resente
Somados VP

1
1999

2
2000

3

4

2001

2002

(267,979)
39,230
150,000
45,750
(424,498)

(345,249)
99,345
150,000
87,687
(483,592)

(345,986)
173,853
40,000
122,952
(335,086)

(370,356.31)

(368,100.59)

(222,842.75)

5
2003

6
2004

7

2005

54,755

36,082
391,169
78,000
129,100
220,151

212,462
508,520
97,656
140,977
482,349

348,125
636,667
117,578
142,884
724,330

31,814.53

112,565.85

218,127.58

292,169.29

(2,579)
260,779
60,000
143,444

8
2006
632,435
766,547
135,920
131,554
1,131,508
409,064.28

9
2007
815,446
886,128
150,599
105,284
1,445,691
472,095.74

10
2008
850,977
981,830
161,141
75,609
1,596,056
474,240.03

1,048,777.65
14.62%
14.62%

14.62%
31.37%

14.46%
50.37%

14.46%
72.11%

13.63%
95.57%

13.07%
121.13%

12.11%
147.91%

11.57%
176.61%

9.90%
236.55%

10.71%
206.23%

(Em milhares de US$)
Suposição
Atual
Ano
Crescimento da receita
Depreciação
(Investimentos em ativos)
(Var. Capital de Giro)

Tabela 19

1

1998

1999

2
2000

914,994
150.0%

1,753,739
115.0%

5.0%

5.0%

3

4

2001

2002

2,459,046
75.0%
5.0%

2,868,887
50.0%
50.0%
5.0%

5
2003
2,581,999
50.0%
30.0%
5.0%

6

7

2004

2005

2,819,543
30.0%
25.2%
5.0%

2,857,674
25.2%
20.4%
5.0%

8
2006
2,631,077
20.4%
15.6%
5.0%

9
2007

2008

2,105,671
15.6%
10.8%
5.0%

1,512,184
10.8%
7.0%
5.'0%

10

Existe um fluxo de caixa muito significativo para a avaliação da
empresa que não está refletido na Tabela3, o valor terminal da empresa.
Para estimar o valor terminal da empresa, devemos, primeiramente,
calcular o resultado no ano 11. Abaixo temos esta projeção, que utiliza as
mesmas suposições usadas no ano anterior:

Ano
Receita
(CMV)
.
(Despesas Operacionais)
(Depreciação)
EBIT
(EBIT*t)
Resultado

2009
24,501,697,000
16,171,120,000
5,880,407,000
981,830,000
1,468,340,000
528,602,000
939,738,000

Depois, devemos calcular o fluxo de caixa livre, demonstrado na
abaixo:

Ano
Resultado líquido
Depreciação
(Investimentos em ativos)
(Var. Capital de Giro)
FCF

2009
939,738,000
981,830,000
170,810,000
69,344,000
1,681,413,000

Onde:
Custá do Capital
G Terminal
Custo do Capital Ac.
Valor Terminal
VP do Valor Terminal

9.16%
6.0%
267.4%
54,134,357,150
14,735,994,002

Para calcular o valor terminal da empresa, consideramos o custo
de capital de 9.16% do ano anterior e assumimos
crescerá, após o ano 10, a uma taxa de crescimento

que a empresa
constante, em

termos nominais, de 6%. O resultado é demonstrado a seguir.
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Valor terminal = 1,681,413/ (0,0916 - 0,06)

Valor terminal

= US$ 54,134,357.15

VP do Valor terminal

o

= US$ 14,735,994.02

valor da Amazon

pode ser estimado

somando-se

o valor

presente do valor terminal com a somatória do valor presente dos fluxos
de caixa livre projetados para os próximos 10 anos.

Valorda Empresa

$ 1,048,777,000

Soma do VP dos FCF
+
VP do valor terminal
Valor da empresa

$ 14,735,994,000
$ 15,784,771,000

7- Estimar o valor do capital próprio

A maneira tradicional de se estimar o valor de uma ação é dividir o
valor do capital próprio pelo número total de ações. Mas para as
empresas de Internet existe uma consideração a ser feita. Normalmente,
estas empresas remuneram seus funcionários com opções de compra de
ações. Com a valorização do preço da ação da empresa, as opções
passam a possuir um considerável valor de mercado que pode influir no
valor do capital próprio da empresa. Como as empresas são obrigadas a
divulgar o número de opções emitidas, o "average strike price" e o
"average

maturity",

podemos

utilizar um modelo de precificação

de

opções para calcular o valor destas opções.

69

Neste caso, o valor de uma ação será determinado

conforme o

seguinte esquema:

Valor da Empresa
- Valor dos Empréstimos
= Valor do Capital Próprio
- Valor de Mercado das Opções emitidas
= Valor das Ações Ordinárias
/ Número de Ações Ordinárias
= Valor da Ação

Tendo estimado o valor da Amazon, sendo US$ 15,784 milhões,
podemos estimar o valor de cada ação. O valor dos empréstimos é obtido
através do balanço patrimonial da empresa, consideraremos

o valor de

US$ 509,715 mil.

Para calcularo

valor total da opções usaremos

o modelo de

precificação de opções de Black-Scholes. descrito abaixo por HULL[18]:

Onde:
Co - Valor da opção "Call"
So - Valor atual da ação
PV(k) - Valor presente do "Strike Price"
T - vida média ponderada da opção

cr - Volatilidade
d1 e d2 são calculados conforme as fórmulas a seguir:
d1= (Ln(So/PV(k) / c (T)1/2 ) + o (T)1/2 / 2
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N(d1) e N(d2) podem ser encontrados usando uma Tabela
de distribuição normal acumulada apresentada no apêndice deste
trabalho.

Em dezembro de 1998, a Amazon havia emitido cerca de 38
milhões de opções, com uma vida média esperada de 8.4 anos e um
preço médio de exercício de US$ 13.375.0 valor da ação de utilizado
será US$ 9015/16, preço do dia 13/08/99, a volatilidade obtida através da
agência Bloomberg (vide anexo 2).

Dados para o modelo Black and Scholes
Preço da Ação
Média ponderada do Strike Price
Vida média ponderada da opção
Taxa livre de risco
Volatilidade
00 dias - Bloombergl

i:!

90 15/16
13.375
8.4 anos
5%
104%

Para aplicar o modelo, devemos calcular o valor presente do "strike
price" e aplicar a fórmula

VP do Strike Price
d1

N (d1)
d2

N (d2)

Call Price
Número de Opções

8.88
2.279
0.98855
-0.735
0.2297

$ 87.857
38,005,000
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r

Assim podemos calcular o valor de uma ação da Amazon:

$ 15,784,771,000

Valor da empresa

$ 509,715,000

Valor dos empréstimos
yalor

9as ~l?5.9.e~,~,~~....

Valor do capital próprio

~ 3,339,00?.Rºº.

$ 11,936,049,000
161,600.00

Número de ações

o preço

obtido na avaliação da empresa é de US$ 73.86, inferior

ao preço da ação em agosto de 1998. Porém superior ao valor atual da

.

:

ação de US$ 69 em 10 de março de 2000 .

5.5. Avaliação da B&N
A avaliação da Barnes & Nobles é uma tarefa muito mais fácil. A
empresa apresenta resultado positivo, foi fundada há mais de 30 anos, o
que nos permite utilizar uma base de dados histórica, além de existirem
várias empresas comparáveis no mesmo segmento de mercado.
Utilizamos a mesma metodologia aplicada à Amazon, o fluxo de
caixa descontado,

para avaliar a empresa, mas neste caso faremos a

projeção somente para os próximos 5 anos da empresa. Analisando a
performance

passada da Barnes & Nobles, podemos estimar o seu

crescimento. A tabela abaixo demonstra o crescimento apresentado pela
empresa nos últimos 5 anos.

Média

1998

1997

1996

1995

1994

8.24%

5.0%

9.4%

7.3%

6.9%

12.6%
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Como a média de crescimento parece ser um pouco alta, para se
assumir como perpetuidade,

consideraremos

um fator de crescimento

constante de 7%, que é a média dos últimos 5 anos da indústria, segundo
a agência S&P. A alíquota de impostos utilizada é de 41 %, considerando
a média histórica dos últimos 3 anos.

Nos últimos anos a Barnes & Nobles vem sofrendo uma completa
reestruturação,

as lojas que não estão apresentando

,•

um resultado

Z'

operacional positivo estão sendo fechadas. Desde 1989 a empresa vem

•

fechando em média 50 lojas por ano. Por outro lado a Barnes & Nobles
inaugurou

54 novas super lojas em 1998, depois de realizar ampla

pesquisa de mercado e determinar novos pontos estratégicos.

A política agressiva de abertura de novas lojas fez com que a
empresa investisse muito em ativos imobilizados causando um fluxo de
caixa livre negativo nos últimos 3 anos. Com esta estratégia a empresa
deve reduzir seus custos. Por isso, ao longo de 5 anos, reduzimos em 2
pontos percentuais o CMV e os custos operacionais, que representam
hoje 71% e 19% da receita bruta da empresa.

Assumimos que a empresa continuará com esta mesma política de
investimentos,

assim, consideramos que os nível de investimentos em

novos ativos

crescerá

acompanhará

o crescimento

percentual

à mesma taxa das vendas. A depreciação

de depreciação

nos ativos, sendo

mantido

o mesmo

aplicado hoje sobre o total dos ativos. A

Tabela 20, na página 77, demonstra a projeção dos demonstrativos

de

resultado para os próximos 5 anos da empresa

Historicamente, a necessidade de capital de giro está diretamente
relacionada

com

o

aumento

da

receita

bruta.

Sendo

assim,
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consideraremos que este valor crescerá conforme o aumento da receita
em termos reais. A necessidade de capital de giro representará 25% do
aumento da receita. Este percentual é muito elevado, o que é devido a
necessidade

que a Barnes & Nobles tem de manter altos níveis de

estoque em cada loja.

Para calcular

o custo do capital propno utilizaremos

o beta

ajustado de 1.29, fornecido pela Bloomberg (vide anexo3). O retorno de
mercado e a taxa livre de risco serão as mesmas utilizadas no cálculo da
avaliação da Amazon. Portanto utilizando a fórmula do CAPM teremos:

E(r)

= 5 + 1.29 (10.5 - 5)

E(r)

= 12.10%

Consideraremos

Ke= 12.10%
o custo dos empréstimos

constante de 8% e a

alíquota de impostos de 36%. Assim teremos:

Kn = Ki (1-t)
Kit = 0.08 (1- 0.36)

= 5.12%

Sabendo-se que a empresa possui uma relação D/(E+D) de 15%,
que

consideraremos

constante

podemos

calcular

o

custo

médio

ponderado de capital.

WACC = 5.12 * 0.15 + 12.10 * 0.85
WACC = 11.10%
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Depois de calcular a taxa de desconto e fazer todas as suposições
sobre o futuro da empresa, podemos estimar os fluxos de caixa livre e o
valor terminal da empresa. A Tabela 21 demonstra a estimativa dos fluxos
de caixa livre da empresa para os próximos 5 anos.

o

demonstrativo

de resultados

no ano terminal

é demonstrado

abaixo:

Ano
Receita bruta
CMV
Despesas Operacionais
Depreciação
EBIT
(EBIT*t)

2004
4,468,452,000
3,083,232,000
759,637,000
132,582,000
493,001,000
202,131,000

Suposições
9 da receita
CMV
Despesas Operacionais
Depreciação
Impostos

6%
69%
17%
7%
41%

Podemos então calcular o valor do fluxo de caixa livre no ano
terminal:

Ano
Receita bruta
Depreciação
Investimento em ativos
Varo ca ital de iro
.FCF

2004
290,871,000
132,582,000
212,185,000
73,772,000
137,496,000

Assumindo taxa constante de crescimento de 6% e um custo médio
ponderado de capital de 11.10%, podemos calcular o valor terminal da
empresa:
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Valor terminal

o

= 137,469,000

I (0,111 - 0,06)

=$

2.695.127,000

valor presente do valor terminal, descontado ao custo de capital,

será igual a US$ 1,433,033,000.

o valor

da empresa será a soma do valor presente do valor terminal

com a somatória do valor presente dos fluxos de caixa livre projetados
para os próximos 5 anos.

Valor da Empresa
Soma dos VP do FCF
+
VP do valor terminal

287,276,720
1,433,033,150
1,720,309,860

Podemos, então, calcular o valor do capital próprio subtraindo o valor
dos empréstimos do valor total da empresa:

Valor da empresa

1.720.309.860

Valor dos empréstimos
Valor do Capital próprio.

249.100.000
1.471.209.860

Em dezembro de 1998, a empresa possuía 69.394 milhões de ações
ordinárias.

Como a Sarnes & Nobles não possui o mesmo

plano

agressivo de remuneração com opções não existe valor a ser subtraído
do capital próprio. Portanto o preço da ação será:
Valor do Capital próprio.
Número de ações
Valor por ação

1.471.209.860
69.364.000
US$ 21.21
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Proie~ão do Demonstrativo de Resultados: Barnes and Nobles
Receita
CMV

Despesas Operacionais
Depreciação e Amortização
EBIT
Provisão para Impostos
Resultado Líquido

1998
3,005,608
2,142,717
577,195
88,345
156,569
64,193
92,376

1999
3,216,001
2,283,360
611,040
94,529
227,071
93,099
133,972

2000
3,441,121
2,408,784
619,402
101,146
311,788
127,833
183,955

2001
3,681,999
2,577,399
662,760
108,226
333,613
136,782
196,832

2002
3,939,739
2,718,420
669,756
115,802
435,761
178,662
257,099

2003
4,215,521
2,908,709
716,639
123,908
466,264
191,168
275,096

1999
7.0%
71.0%
19%
7.0%

2000
7.0%
70.0%
18%
7.0%

2001
7.0%
70.0%
18%
7.0%

2002
7.0%
69.0%
17%
7.0%

2003
7.0%
69.0%
17%
7.0%

4.17%

5.35%

5.35%

6.53%

6.53%

Premissas
Receita
CMV

Despesas Operacionais
Depreciação e Amortização
EBIT
Provisão para Impostos
Lucratividade
Tabela 20

.41.0%

(Em milhares de US$)

Análise de Fluxo de Caixa Descontado:
Indice
Lucro
Receita bruta
Resultado líquido
Depreciação
Investimento em ativos
Varo capital de giro

1

2

3

4

5

1999
4.17%
3,216,001
133,972
94,529
151,285
52,598

2000
5.35%
3,441,121
183,955
101,146
161,875
56,280

2001
5.35%
3,681,999
196,832
108,226
173,206
60,220

2002
6.53%
3,939,739
257,099
115,802
185,331
64,435

2003
6.53%
4,215,521
275,096
123,908
198,304
68,945

FCF

24,618

Custo do Ca~ital

11.10%

VPFCF
Soma dos PV FCF

Sarnes and Nobles

22,158
287,277

66,946

71,632

123,136

131,755

54,236

52,233

80,817

77,833

(Em milhares de US$)

Tabela 21

6. Conclusão
Por definição

qualquer

avaliações apresentadas

avaliação

é subjetiva.

Por isso, as

neste trabalho, especialmente

a da Amazon,

não devem ser consideradas precisas. A avaliação de uma empresa com
resultado negativo, alta taxa de crescimento e informação limitada sempre
será imprecisa.

A imprecisão da avaliação não é reflexo da qualidade do modelo,
mas das incertezas relacionadas com o futuro da empresa, fato que deve
ser considerado ao se investir na Amazon.

Em uma avaliação, temos que lidar com estas incertezas fazendo
as nossas melhores estimativas possíveis sobre o futuro. Os analistas
que desconsideram os método de avaliação do fluxo de caixa descontado
pelo seu potencial de erro, acabam usando abordagens

ainda mais

imprecisas, como os comparativos. A diferença é que eles simplesmente
ignoram as incertezas agindo como se elas não existissem.

DAMODARAN[10] faz duas observações sobre as imprecisões do
modelo. Primeiro, mesmo que uma avaliação seja imprecisa, serve como
uma poderosa ferramenta para se visualizar o futuro da empresa que
justifica o valor atual da sua ação. Assim os investidores podem fazer
suposições que lhes pareçam razoáveis para tomar decisões sobre a
compra ou vendas destas ações.
Segundo,

os portfólios

a'valiação,independente""
rigorosamente

desenvolvidos

da" precisão,

usando' um modelo

certamente

estarão"

de

mais

avaliados. Com isso, um investidor que, por exemplo,

comprar 40 ações que ele considere sub-avaliadas usando um modelo de
fluxo de caixa descontado deve encontrar incertezas que se anulem, em
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média, dentro do portfolio. Assim, a performance final do portfolio deverá
refletir a qualidade da análise do investidor.

A avaliação da Amazon comparada com a da Barnes & Nobles nos
demonstra

a alta

desempenho

expectativa

que

os

investidores

da Amazon. Se considerarmos

depositam

as pressuposições

no

feitas

para as duas empresas, fica fácil perceber que os mercado está prevendo
que a Amazon

deva continuar

crescendo a altas taxas durante os

próximos anos.

Para compreender se esta expectativa depositada na Amazon é
justificável,

a

um investidor deve compreender o que, hoje, representa

Internet. Caso contrário a expectativa parecerá injustificável.

Antes de investir em uma empresa na Internet, um investidor deve
compreender os fatores que determinaram o sucesso dessas empresas:

•

O modelo da empresa - A idéia é compreender

como a

empresa irá gerar receita no futuro. Devemos visualizar que tipo
de margem a empresa pode ter e quanto a empresa está
gastando para conseguir aumentar sua base de clientes;

•

Margem de Lucro - A margem sempre será um dos grandes
direcionadores do valor da empresa. Na Internet, o custo de se
enviar a informação é baixo e está diminuindo a cada dia, além
disso um aumento na receita não representa um aumento nos
custos;

•

Crescimento - Deve-se considerar se a taxa de crescimento é
sustentável ao longo do tempo;
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•

Market share - É preciso conhecer o tamanho do mercado para
ver até onde o faturamento
muitas avaliações

da empresa pode chegar. Em

pode estar implícito que uma empresa

necessitará de todo o mercado para justificar seu valor

•

Vantagens

competitivas

-

Deve-se

conhecer

as

reais

vantagens competitivas da empresa analisada. Como o custo
da informação é praticamente inexistente, existe uma grande
tendência de que ocorra uma guerra de preços na Internet. Por
exemplo, uma pessoa já pode acessar Web sites que fazem
pesquisa de preço dentro da própria Internet, fornecendo

o

menor preço para o consumidor;

•

Fories de receita - A Amazon está mudando o escopo inicial de
seu negócio.

A empresa

está, além de livros, vendendo

brinquedos, software, aparelhos eletrônico, publicidade e está
realizando leilões. Como o custo adicional de se aumentar o
portfolio de produtos é muito baixo, a empresa tenta obter
outras fontes de receita;

•

Competência da Gerência - É um dos fatores mais importantes
para se determinar
ambiente

dinâmico,

o sucesso de urna empresa.
como

a

Internet,

é

Em um

extremamente

importante identificar e aproveitar novas oportunidades;

•

Barreiras de entrada - As barreiras de entrada podem justificar
o 'valor de uma empresa.

No caso da Amazon,

a marca

estabelecida pela empresa é a grande barreira de entrada para
os concorrente. No entanto, ela pode ser superada de diversas
formas;

si

o

preço da ação encontrado

na análise

de fluxo de caixa

descontado da Sarnes & Nobles é de US$ 21,21. Este valor reflete o valor
negociado da ação de US$ 21,31. A diferença entre os valores pode ser
justificada

por alguma expectativa que não tenha sido capturada em

nossa análise.

Dentro das projeções, assumimos que a Sarnes & Nobles deverá
crescer a mesma média dos últimos 5 anos e manter uma margem de
lucro de 7%. Este cenário proposto

não representa algo impossível de

ser realizado e pode ser considerado uma perspectiva muito provável.

No entanto o cenário proposto para a Amazon mostra que para a
ação da empresa justificar o valor de US$ 74,06, do dia18 de outubro de
1999, contém enormes expectativas sobre o futuro da empresa. Segundo
nossa análise, para o valor da ação justificar os US$ 73.86, a empresa
deve apresentar um faturamento de mais de US$ 23 bilhões com uma
margem de lucro de 6%.

Para se ter uma idéia, o faturamento de 1999 da Amazon foi de
US$ 1.64 bilhões. Portanto para atingir as projeções terá que crescer
mais de 1400% em 10anos. A intenção deste trabalho não é a de sugerir
que a Amazon está super avaliada, mas concluímos que um investidor
deve, no mínimo entender as expectativas refletidas no valor da ação da
empresa.

Assim, um investidor, ao investir em empresas da Internet, estará
implicitamente validando estas projeções sobre o futuro da rede. E para
que as empresas atinjam estes volumes de receita, será necessário que
milhões de consumidores venham a alterar seus hábitos atuais de compra
dentro do horizonte projetado.

82

Referências Bibliográficas
[01]

AMAZON. Annual Report 1998. Seattle, 1999.

[02]

BARNES & NOBlES. Annual Report 1998. New York, 1999.

[03]

BENNINGA,

S. Z. ; SARIG, O. H.. Corporate

Finance: A Valuation

approach 2 ed. McGraw-HiII, 1997.

[04]

BREAlEY,

R., MYERS, S. Principies of Corporate Finance. 4.ed. New

York, McGraw-Hill, 1991.

[05]

BRIGHAM, E et aI. Financiai Management: Theory and Pratice 6 ed.

Orlando, Fl, The Dryden Press, 1999

[06]

COlVIN, G. How to be a great eCEO Fortune Magazine, New York, v.139

n. 11, p. 40-64, 07 Jul. 1999

[07]

COPElAND,

T et aI. Valuation: measuring and managing the value of the

companies. New York, John Wiley & Sons, 1996.

[08]

COPElAND,

T. Financiai Theory and Corporate Policy 3 ed. lA, Addison-

Wesley Publishing Company, 1988.
[09]

DAMODARAN,

A. Applied Corporate Finance: A user's manual. New

York, John Wiley & Sons, 1999.

[010] DAMODARAN,

A. Investment

Valuation:

Tool

and Technigues

for

determining the value of any asset. New York, John Wiley & Sons, 1996.

83

[011] DAMODARAN,

A. The Dark side of Valuation.

http://www.stern.nyu.edu/-adamodar/,

Endereço eletrônico:

Aug. 1999.

[012] DAMODARAN, A. Diversos emails com anotações. [Prof. Dr. Damodaram
Aswath]. adamodar@stern.nyu.edu.

[013] FALCINI, P. Avaliação Econômica de Empresas: técnica e prática. São
Paulo, Editora Atlas, 1992.

[014] FOX, J. Net Stock Rules: Masters of Parallel Universe. Fortune Magazine,
New York, v.139, n.10, p. 26-42, 07 Jul. 1999

[015] GORDON,

M. J. The

investment

financing

and

valuation

of the

corporation. Irwin: Homewood, 1962.

[016] GRINBLATT, M. TITMAN, S Financiai Markets and Corporate Strategy.
Irwin/McGraw-HiII, 1998.

[017] HAUGEN, R. Modern Investment Theory 4. ed. New Jersey: Prentice,
Hall, 1997.

[018]

HULL, J. C. Option. Futures and Other Derivatives. New Jersey: Prentice

Hall, 1999.
[019] MOHANBIR,

S. KAPLAN, et aI. B2B Ecommerce: Get in on the Big

Money. Business 2.0, Brisbane, p 84-124, September 1999.

[020] MAUBOUSSIN,
Outperformance.

M. Frontiers

of Finance:

Mental Models for Market

Unpublished paper, Credit Suisse First Boston, 2000

[021] PARRINO, R Class Slides and Notes. University of Texas at Austin, 1999

84

[022]

PORTER, M. Vantagem Competitiva - Ed. Campus 7 ed. São Paulo,

1991.

[023] PRATT. SHANNON, P.. Valuing a Business: Theanalysis and appraisal of
closely-held companies. Dow Jones-Irwin, 1981

[024] RAPPAPORT,

A. Creating Shareholder

Value: The new standard for

business performance. New York, The Free Press, 1986

[025] SHARPE, W Capital asset prices: a theory of market equilibrlum under
conditions of risk. Journal of Finance. 19:3:425-42, 1964

[026] STEWART, G. B. The Quest for Value. USA, Harper Business, 1991.
[021] The 21st Century Economy. BusinessWeek,

New York, special double

issue, Oct, 1998.

[028] THE WALL STREET JOURNAL. Street Journal. Diversos artigos. 1999 2000.

[029] THE

WALL

http://www.wsj.com.

STREET

JOURNAL

ONLlNE.

Endereço

eletrônico:

Aug 1999 - Mar 2000.

[030] WALL STREET JOURNAL TECHNOLOGICAL

ALERT. Diversos emails

sobre Internet. [ lista de ernall do Technological Alert.]. endereço eletrônico:
newsalrt@LlSTSERV.DOWJONES.COM

85

Amazon : Bloomberg beta

Anexo 1 -

Equity BETA
Screen Printed

HISTORICAL
US

AMZN

AMAZON.COM INC
S&P 500 INDEX

Relative Index
Per i od l!J

R an ge -1;:;':'.-:

Market

BETA

.Indenttftes

latest observatton

-~-*~t4To I'lIiJm1

li Trade

Y

A

ADJ
RAW

1.76

BETA
BETA

2.14
3.24
.14

Alpha (Intercept)
R2 (Correlation)
Std Dev of Error
Std Error of Beta
Number of Points
Adj beta

20

13.51
.53
103

= (0.67) * RawBeta

*

-10.00

+ (0.33)L.P. 1.O
Frankfurt:69-920410

Copyrlght 1998 BLOOMBERG
Prtnceton:609-279-3000

stngapore:226-3000

-5.00

.00

5.00

10.00

X=sPX

Hong KOng:2-2977-6000
London:171-330-7500
New York:212-318-2000
Sydney: 2-9777-8686
Tokyo:3-3201-8900G261-226-2
sao 29-Jul-99
Paulo: 11-3048-4500
12: 12:46

M

Z'
N

~

Amazon :Historical Volatility

Anexo 2-

OG48 Equity HVG

<HELP) for explanation.

PRICE

HISTORICAL

From

AMAZON.COM INC

IlítAtn:I:)

to ItIIl:fAP]

. Period ~ O/W/M

N

=

(AMZN

VOLATILITY

~M1 RUmE
Overlay
Curr
Im

PRICE 10238

US)

I

Prices

?

P

W

1/13

200 ~------~----~----~----~----~----~------~----~----~----~----~----~------~~

P

C
T

150

v

O

L
A

100

T

I
L
I
T

HISTORICAL

O

.

.

·r·············

6NOV

119r. Last
93.8r. Last

50 day

105r. Last
104r. Last

100 day

Y

160CT98

VOLATILITY

10 day
30 day

27

18DEC

8JAN99

29

,

I

19FEB

12MAR

.•.•

T ••••.•••••.•.•

r •..••.•.•..••.

r• ......•..•..•.

2APR

~
Copyrlght 1998 BLOOM8ERG
Prlnceton:609-279-3000

L.P.
Frankfurt:69-920410
SI ngapore: 226-3000

Hong Kong:2-2977-6000
Sydney:2-9777-B686

•

,•...•.•.....•

23

-,-' .•.•.••..••.

14MAY

,
~."
..•..••.•..••

4JUN

•

," •..•..•.•.•.••

25

Annualization factor

,• .•.•.•

16JUL

Grid?~

London:171-330-7500
Neu York:212-318-2000
TOkYO:3-3201-8900G261-226-2
Sao 29-Jul-99
Paulo: 11-3048-4500
12: 16:01

Barnes &Nobles : Bloomberg beta

Anexo 3-

DG48 Equity BETA

<HELP) f6r explanatian. <MENU) for similar functions.
HISTORICAL
BKS

BETA

BARNES & NOBLE INC

US

S&P 500 INDEX

Relative Index

• Indentlfles

latest observatlon

r.=======~========~--------~--------~40

I

Pe r i od l!l
Range -.;;':tln.-D""',)j-~ Ta WIIJJA)1
Market ii Trade

Y =

1 .63 X -

_________________

)

1",

I

BETA
BETA

Alpha (Intercept)
R2 (Correlation)
Std Dev of Errar
Std Errar af Beta
Number of Paints

!+

I

1.42
1.63
-.34
.27
6.72
.27
103

+

= (0.67) * Raw Beta

Slngapore:226-3000

+

+!

+
+
+
+
;...+ + + ++

i~
-:

L____________________

i:

20
Y
= .
B
K

+

i

S

--·------------~--l---;--_!-·±~---l'I'---+~:- ~------';;f"f";'--:+--"'------------------'
.
+~T
++~r T++ +
1

I

+

+++

1

+

---------------------1-----------"'--------"\"-----------------------:---1

I

I

---------------

-20

i

1

-10.00

l

o

I

I

:

+ (O. 33)L.P.* 1.
O
Frankfurt:69-920410

Copyrlght 1998 BLOOM8ERG
Prlnceton:609-279-3000

I

4{

L-~~~~~~~~~~~~~-L~~~~~-40

Adj beta

=_------

i

I
.

ADJ
RAW

I \

O. 34

5.00

.00

-5.00

10.00

X=SPX
/

I

Hong Kong:2~2977-6000
London:171-330-7500
Neu York:212-31B-2000
Sydney:2-9777-8686
Tokyo:3-3201-8900
Sao 29-Jul-99
Paulo: 11-3048-4500
G261-226-2
12:21:17

Anexo 4-

Amazon: 1998 Annual Report

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM lO-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the year ended December 31,1998

Commission File No. 000-22513

AMAZON.COM, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

91-1646860

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation
or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1516 Second Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 622-2335
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of
registrant's principal executive offices)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, par value $.01 per share
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for· such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports),
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [ ]
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will
not be contained, to the best ofregistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part
IH of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 1O-K. [ ]
Aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of February 28, 1999................
Number of shares of common stock outstanding as ofFebruary

28, 1999

$

11,495,058,788
161,096,869

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The information required by Part III of this Annual Report, to the extent not set forth herein, is incorporated herein by reference
from the registrant's defini tive proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 20, 1999, which
.definitive proxy statement shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year
to which this Annual Report relates.
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PARTI
Item 1. Business
This Annual Report on Form lO-K and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements based
on current expectations, estimates and projections about the Company's industry, management's beliefs and certain assumptions made
by management. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiai Condition and Results of Operations - Forward-Looking
Statements. "
General
Amazon.com, Inc. ("Amazon.com" or the "Company"), the Internet's number one book, music and video retailer, opened its virtual
doors on the Web in July 1995. Amazon.com, one of the most widely known, used and cited commerce sites on the Web, offers more
than 4.7 million book, music CD, video, DVD, computer game and other titles. The Company offers its customers a superior shopping
experience by providing value and a high level of customer service. Amazon.com is a proven technology leader; it has developed
electronic commerce innovations such as l-Click ordering, personalized shopping services and easy-to-use search and browse
features. Shopping at Amazon.com is fast and safe, incorporating a simple ordering system, secure credit card transactions, e-mail
communication with customers and direct shipping worldwide.
The Internet is an increasingly significant global medium for online commerce. According to Forrester Research, the total value of
goods and services purchased over the Web was $43 billion in 1998 and is expected to increase to $1.3 trillion in 2003. Amazon.com
believes it is well positioned to capitalize on this growth. According to Media Metrix, approximately 16% of Web users visited
Amazon.com's stores in December 1998.
Amazon.com, Amazon.co.uk, Amazon.de, Internet Movie Database, Earth's Biggest Bookstore and l-Click are either registered
trademarks or trademarksof Amazon.com or its affiliates. Allother names mentioned herein maybe trademarks of their respective
owners.
Information contained on the Company's Web sites is not deemed to be a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As used
herein, "titles" offered by the Company means the items offered in the Company's catalogs and includes books, CDs, videotapes,
audiotapes and other products.
Amazon.com was incorporated in 1994 in the state of Washington and reincorporated in 1996 in Delaware. The Company's
principal corporate offices are located in Seattle, Washington. Amazon.com completed its initial public offering in May 1997 and its
common stock is listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "AMZN."
Business Strategy
The Company's objective is to become the best place to buy, find and discover any product or service available online.
Amazon.com will continue to enhance and broaden its brand, customer base and electronic commerce expertise with the goal of
creating customers' preferred online shopping destination, in the United States and around the world.
Amazon.com

Web Sites

The Companybelieves that the sale of books, music and other products and services over the Web can offer attractive benefits to
customers, including greater selection, convenience, ease-of-use, competitive pricing and personalization. Customers entering
Amazon.com Web sites can, in addition to ordering books and other products, purchase gift certificates, conduct targeted searches,
browse highlighted selections, view bestseller lists and other features, read arid post reviews, register for personalized services,
participate in promotions and check order status. The key components of Amazon.com's offerings include browsing, searching,
reviews and content, recommendations and personalization, l-Click technology, secure credit card payment and availability and
fulfillment. The Company's Web sites promote brand loyalty and repeat purchases by providing an inviting experience that encourages
customers to retum frequently and to interact with other customers.
.
Browsing. The Amazon.com sites offer visitors a variety of highlighted subject areas, styles and special features arranged in a
simple, easy-to-use fashion intended to enhance product search and selection. In addition, the Web sites present a variety of products
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and services and topical information. To enhance the customers' shopping experience and increase sales, the Company features a
varietyof products and services on a rotating basis throughout the stores.
Searching. A primary feature of Amazon.com Web sites is its interactive, searchable catalogs of more than 4.7 million books,
music CD, video, DVD, computer game and other titles. The Company provides a selection of search tools to find books, music, video
and other products based on keyword, title, subject, author, artist, musical instrument, label, actor, director, publication date or ISBN.
Customers can also use more complex and precise search tools such as Boolean search queries. The Company licenses some of its
catalog and other information from third parties.
Reviews and Contento The Amazon.com stores offer numerous forms of content to enhance the customer's shopping experience
and encourage purchases. Various types of content are available for particular titles, including cover art, synopses, annotations,
reviews by editorial staff and other customers,and interviews by authors and artists.
Recommendations and Personalizaiion: Amazon.com personalizes its product and service offerings. These features include
greeting customers by name, instant and personalized recommendations, bestseller and chart-topper listings, personal notification
services, purchase pattern filtering and a number of other related features. The Company believes that personalization of a customer's
shopping experience at the Company's Web sites is an important element of the value proposition it offers to customers and intends to
continue to enhance its personalized services.
l-Click Technology. Amazon.com providescustomers with a strearnlined ordering process using l-Click technology. If a customer
has previously activated l-Click functionality, a customer can place an order by clicking one button without having to fill out an order
formo The customer's shipping and billing information is automatically referenced on the Company's secure server.
Secure Credit Card Payment. Amazon.com utilizes secure server software for secure commerce transactions. It encrypts alI of the
customer's personal information, including credit card number, name and address, so that it cannot be read as the information travels
over the Internet.
Availability and Fulfillment. Many of the Company's products are available for shipment within 24 hours, others are available
within two to three days and the remainder are generally available within four to six weeks, although some products may not be
available at alI. Out-of-print books generally are available in one to three months, although some books may not be available at all.
Customers can select from a variety of delivery options, including overnight and various international shipping options, as well as giftwrapping services. The Company uses e-mail to notify customers of order status under various conditions and provides links to
shipping carriers so that the customers can track their shipments. The Company seeks to provi de rapid and reliable fulfillment of
customer orders and to continue to improve its speed of availability and fulfillment.
Return Policy. Within 30 days following the customer's receipt of their order, Amazon.com will provi de a full refund for any book
in its original condition, any Amazon.com recommended book in any condition, any unopened music CD, DVD, VHS tape or
software, and any other merchandise item in new condition, with its original packaging and accessories.

Products, Services and Geographic Expansion
Products. The Company has offered books for sale since July 1995. The Company expanded its product offerings beyond books
with the June 1998 launch of its music store. In the third quarter of 1998, its first full quarter of online music sales, Amazon.com
became the number one online music seller. In November 1998, Amazon.com launched its video store and an enhanced holiday gift
store, offering a variety of products, including selected personal electronics and toy products. In the fourth quarter of 1998, its first
quarter of online video sales, Amazon.com became the number one online video seller. The Company plans to continue to expand its
product offerings.
Services. Amazon.com intends to broaden the scope of its business with the goal of becoming customers' preferred destination for
online shopping. In August 1998, Amazon.com merged with Sage Enterprises, Inc. ("PlanetAll"), a Web-based address book, calendar
and reminder service, and Junglee Corpo ("Junglee"), a leading provi der of Web-based virtual database technology, which allows
visitors to access a variety of products sold by other merchants. The Company plans to continue to expand its service offerings.
Geographic Expansion. In April 1998, Amazon.com acquired three Internet companies in the United Kingdom and Germany. In
October 1998, the Company re-launched two of these businesses under the Amazon brando The Company incorporated Amazon.com's
technology and look-and-feel into the European sites, www.amazon.co.uk and www.amazon.de. During the fourth quarter of 1998,
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combined sales on the European sites significantly increased over the third quarter, establishing Amazon.com as the number one
onIine bookseller in these markets. For discussion of segment and geographic information, see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated
FinanciaI Statements.
Marketing

and Promotion

Amazon.com's marketing strategy is designed to strengthen the Amazon brand name, increase customer traffic to the Amazon.com
Web sites, build customer Ioyalty, encourage repeat purchases and deveIop incrementaI product and service revenue opportunities.
Amazon.com creatively applies technology to deliver personalized programs and services, as well as flexible merchandising. The
Company employs a variety of media, business development and promotional methods to achieve these goals. The Company also
benefits from public relations activities as well as online and traditional advertising, induding radio, television and print media.
Associates Programo The Company extends its market presence through its Associates Program, which enables associated Web
sites to make products available to their audiences with order fulfillment by Amazon.com. Approximately 200,000 Web sites have
enrolled in the Associates Programo Amazon.com associates indude Yahoo! Inc. ("Yahoo!"), American Online, Inc. ("AOL"), Excite,
Inc., Netscape Communications Corporation, GeoCities, Microsoft Corporation and AltaVista Company.
Advantage for Books and Music. The Advantage program is designed to increase the visibility and sales of titles from independent
publishers, authors, artists and labels. This free program provides the tools and framework to ensure their books and music appear
more often, more prominently, and with 24-hour availability throughout Amazon.com's catalogs of book, music and other titles.
Customer

Service

The Company believes that its ability to establish and maintain long-term relationships with its customers and to encourage repeat
visits and purchases depends, in part, on the strength of its customer support and service operations and staff. Furthermore, the
Company seeks to achieve frequent communication with and feedback from its customers to continually improve the Amazon.com
stores and services. The Company offers a number of e-mail addresses to enable customers to request information and to encourage
feedback and suggestions. Users can also contact customer service representatives via telephone 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. The
Company has automated certain of the tools used by its customer support and service staff and has plans for further enhancements.
Warehousing,

Fulfillment

and Distribution

The Company sources products from anetwork of distributors, publishers, labels and manufacturers. Although the Company
carries its own inventory (some of which is purchased directly from manufacturers), it also relies on rapid fulfillment from major
distributors and wholesalers that carry a broad selection of titles. The Company purchases a majority of its products from Ingram
Book Group ("Ingram"), Baker & Taylor, Inc. ("B&T") and Valley Media, Inc. ("Valley Media"). Ingram is the Company's single
largest supplier and accounted for approximately 40% and approximately 60% of the Company's inventory purchases in 1998 and
1997, respectively.
The Company utilizes automated interfaces for sorting and organizing its orders to enable it to achieve rapid and economic
purchase and delivery terms. For orders that cannot be filled from the Company's inventory, the Company's proprietary software
selects the ordersthat can be filled via electronic interfaces with vendors and forwards the remaining orders to its special orders group.
Under the Company's arrangements with distributors, electronically ordered books often are shipped to the Company by the distributor
within hours of a receipt of an order from Amazon.com. The Company has developed customized information systems and trained
dedicated ordering personnel who specialize in sourcing out-of-print books and other hard-to-findproducts.
The Company intends to continue developing its distribution infrastructure to increase efficiency and to support greater customer
demando Forexample, in December 1998, Amazon.com leased a highly mechanized distribution facility in Fernley, Nevada. The new
facility, which is expected to begin operations in 1999, should reduce standard shipping times to key markets in the western United
States. The facility will allow the Company to increase significantly the number of products maintained in inventory for rapid
shipment to customers.
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Technology
The Company has implemented numerous site management, search, customer interaction, recommendation, transaction-processing
and fulfillment services and systems using a combination of its own proprietary teehnologies and commercially available, licensed
technologies. The Company's current strategy is to focus its development efforts on creating and enhancing the specialized,
proprietary software that is unique to its business and to license or acquire commercially developed technology for other applications
where available and appropriate.
The Company uses a set of applications for accepting and validating customer orders, placing and tracking orders with suppliers,
managing and assigning inventory to customer orders and ensuring proper shipment of products to customers based on various
ordering criteria. The Company's transaction- processing systems handle millions of items, a number of different availability statuses,
gift-wrapping requests and multiple shipment methods and allow the customer to choose whether to receive singIe or several
shipments based on availability. These applications also manage the process of accepting, authorizing and charging customer credit
cards. Arnazon.com Web sites also incorporate a variety of search and database tools.
Systems administrators and network managers monitor and operate the Company's Web sites, network operations and transactionprocessing systems. The continued uninterrupted operation of the Company's Web sites and transaction-processing
systems is
essential to its business and it is the job of the site operations staff to ensure their reliability. The Company uses the services of five
Internet service providers to obtain connectivity to the Internet, both domestically and internationally, over multiple dedicated lines.
Competition
The online commerce market, particularly over the Web, is new, rapid1y evolving and intensely competitive. In addition, the retail
book, music and video industries are intensely competitive. The Company's current or potential competitors include (1) online
booksellers and vendors of other products such as CDs, videotapes and DVDs, (2) a number of indirect competitors, including Web
portaIs and Web search engines such as Yahoo! and AOL, that are involved in online commerce either directly or in collaboration with
other retailers, (3) publishers, distributors and retail vendors of books, music, video and other products, including Bames & Noble,
Inc. ("Bames & Noble"), Bertelsmann AG ("Bertelsmann") and other large specialty booksellers and media corporations, many of
which possess significant brand awareness, sales volume and customer bases, and (4) traditional retailers whocurrently sell, or who
may sell, products or services through the Internet. The Company believes that the principal competitive factors in its market are brand
recognition, selection, personalized services, convenience, price, accessibility, customer service, quality of search tools, quality of
editorial and other site content, and reliability and speed of fuIfillment.
As the online commerce market continues to grow, other companies may enter into business combinations or alliances that
strengthen their competitive positions. For example, in late 1998, (1) Bertelsmann announced that it purchased a 50% interest in
Barnes & Noble's online venture, bamesandnoble.com inc., and intends to launch online stores in several countries, (2) Bames &
Noble announced its pending acquisition of Ingram, currently the Company's largest single supplier, and (3) online music retailers
CDnow, Inc. and N2K Inc. a:nnounced a merger. The Company may not be able to compete successfully against these and future
competitors.
Intellectual

Property

The Company regards its patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, trade dress, trade seerets, proprietary technology and
similar intellectual property as criticai to its success, and relies on trademark, copyright and patent law, trade secret protection and
confidentiality and/or license agreements with its employees, customers, partners and others to proteet its proprietary rights. The
Company has applied for the registration of certain of its trademarks and service marks in the United States and internationally. In
addition, the Company has filed V.S. and international patent applications covering certain of its proprietary technology. Effective
tradernark, service mark, copyright, patent and trade secret proteetion may not be available in every country in which the Company's
products and services are made available online. The Company has licensed in the past, and expects that it may license in the future,
certain of its proprietary rights, such as trademarks, technology or copyrighted material, to third parties.
Employees
As of December31,
1998, the Company employed approximately 2,100 employees. The Company also employs independent
contractors. Nane of the Company's employees are represented by a labor union, and the Company considers its employee relations to
be good. Competition for qualified personnel in the Company's industry is intense, particularly for software development and other
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technical staff. The Company believes that its future success will depend in part on its continued ability to attract, hire and retain
qualified personnel.
Additional

Factors That May AtTect Future Results

The following risk factors and other information inc/uded in this Annual Report should be carefully considered. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. Jf any of the following risks actually occur, our business,
financiai condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.
We have a limited operating history. We incorporated in July 1994 and began offering products for sale on our Web site in July
1995. Accordingly, we have a relatively short operating history upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects. You should
consider our prospects in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequent1y encountered by early stage online commerce
companies. As an early-stage online commerce company, we have an evolving and unpredictable business model, we face intense
competition, we must effectively manage our growth and we must respond quickly to rapid changes in customer demands and industry
standards. We may not succeed in addressing these challenges and risks.
We have an accumulated deficit and anticipate further losses. We have incurred significant losses since we began doing business.
As of December 31, 1998, we had an accumulated deficit of $162.1 million. To succeed we must invest heavily in marketing and
promotion and in developing our product,technology and operating infrastructure. In addition, the expenses associated with our recent
acquisitions and interest expense related to the February 1999 issuance of our 4 %% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (the
"Convertible Notes") and the May 1998 issuance of our 10% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 (the "Senior Discount Notes") will
adversely affect our operating results. Our aggressive pricing programs have resulted in relatively low product gross margins, so we
need to generate and sustain substantially higher revenues in order to become profitable. Although our revenues have grown, we
cannot sustain our current rate of growth. Our percentage growth rate will decrease in the future. For these reasons we believe that we
will continue to incur substantial operating losses for the foreseeable future, and these losses may be significantly higher than our
current losses.
Unpredictability offuture revenues; potentialfluctuations
in quarterly operating results; seasonality. Due to our limited operating
history and the unpredictability of our industry, we cannot accurately forecast our revenues. We base our current and future expense
leveis on our investment plans and estimates offuture revenues. Our expenses are to a large extentfixed. We may not be able to adjust
our spending quickly if our revenues fall short of our expectations. Further, we may make pricing, purchasing, service, marketing,
acquisition or financing decisions that could adversely affect our business results.
Our quarterly operating results will fluctuate for many reasons, incIuding:
•

our ability to retain existing customers, attract new customers and satisfy our customers' demand,
our ability to acquire merchandise, manage our inventory and fulfill orders,

•

changes in gross margins of our current and future products, services and markets,
introduction of our new sites, services and products or those of competitors,

•

changes in usage óf the Internet and online services and consumer acceptance of the Internet and online commerce,
timing of upgrades and developments in our systems and infrastructure,
the leveI of traffic on our Web sites,
the effects of acquisitions and other business combinations, and related integration,
technical difficulties, system downtime or Internet brownouts,
introductions of popular books, music selections and other products or services,
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• our leveI of merchandise returns, and
• disruptions in service by common shipping carriers due to strikes or otherwise .
Both seasonal fluctuations in Internet usage and traditional retail seasonality may affect our business. Internet usage generalIy
declines during the summer. Sales in the traditional retail book and music industries usually increase significantly in the fourth
calendar quarter of each year.
For those reasons, you should not rely on period-to-period comparisons of our financiaI results to forecast our future performance.
Our future operating results may falI below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which would likely cause the trading
price of our common stock to decline.
Intense competition. The online commerce market is new, rapidly evolving and intensely competi tive. In addition, the retail book,
music and video industries are intensely competitive. Our current or potential competitors include (1) online bookselIers and vendors
of other products such as CDs, videotapes and DVDs, (2) a number of indirect competitors, including Web portals and Web search
engines, such as Yahoo! and AOL, that are involved in online commerce either directly or in colIaboration with other retailers, (3)
publishers, distributors and retail vendors of books, music, video and other products, including Bames & Noble, Bertelsmann and
other large specialty bookselIers and media corporations, many of which possess significant brand awareness, sales volume and
customer bases, and (4) traditional retailers who currently selI, or who may selI, products or services through the Internet. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in our market are brand recognition, selection, personalized services, convenience, price,
accessibility, customer service, quality of search tools, quality of editorial and other site content, and reliability and speed of
fulfilIment.
Many of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition
and significantly greater financiaI, marketing and other resources than we have. They may be able to secure merchandise from vendors
on more favorable terrns and may be able to adopt more aggressive pricing or inventory policies. They also can devote more resources
to technology development and marketing than we cano We alsoexpect to experience increased competition from online commerce
sites that provide goods and services at or near cost, relying on advertising revenues to achieve profitability.
As the online commerce market continues to grow, other companies may enter into business combinations or alliances that
strengthen their competitive positions. For example, in late 1998, (1) Bertelsmann announced that it purchased a 50% interest in
Barnes & Noble's online venture, bamesandnoble.com inc., and intends to launch online stores in several countries, (2) Barnes &
Noble announced its pending acquisition of Ingram, currently our largest single supplier, and (3) online music retailers CDnow, Inc.
and N2K Inc. announced a merger. We may not be able to compete successfulIy against these and future competitors.
Competition in the Internetand online commerce markets probably will intensify. As various Internet market segments obtain
large, loyal customer bases, participants in those segments may use their market power to expand into the markets in which we
operate. In addition, new and expanded Web technologies may increase the competitive pressures on online retailers. For example,
"shopping agent" technologies permit customers to quickly compare our prices with those of our competitors. This increased
competition may reduce our operating margins, diminish our market share or impair the value of our brando
Risks of system interruption. Customers' access to our Web sites directly affects the volume of orders we fulfilI and thus affects our
revenues. We experience occasional system interruptions that make our Web sites unavailable or prevent us from efficiently fulfilling
orders, which may reduce the volume of goods we sell and the attractiveness of our products and services. These interruptions will
continue: We need toadd additional software and hardware and upgrade our systemsand network infrastructtire to accommodate
increased traffic onour Web sites and increased sales volume. Without these upgrades, weface additional system interruptions, slower
response times, diminished customer service, impaired quality and speed of order fulfillment, and delays in our financiaI reporting.
We cannot accurately project the rate or timing of any increases in traffic or sales volume on our Web sites and, therefore, the
integration and timing ofthese upgrades are uncertain.
We maintain substantially alI of our computer and communications hardware at a single leased facility in Seattle, Washington. Our
systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, break-ins, earthquake
and similar events. We do not have backup systems or a formal disaster recovery plan and we may not have sufficient business
interruption insurance to compensate us for losses from a major interruption. Computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and
similar disruptions could cause system interruptions, delays, and loss of critical data and could prevent us from providing services and
accepting and fulfilling customer orders.
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We may have difficulty managing our growth. We have rapidly and significantly expanded our operations and will further expand
our operations to address potential growth of our product and service offerings and customer base. We will expand our product and
service offerings and our international operations and will pursue other market opportunities. We need to significantly expand our
distribution center network and improve our transaction-processing, operational and financiaI systems, procedures and controls. This
expansion will continue to place a significant strain on our management, operational facilities and financiai resources. Because it is
difficult to predict sales increases, and lead times for developing distribution centers are long, we may over-expand our facilities,
which may result in excess inventory, warehousing, fulfillment and distribution capacity. We also need to expand, train and manage
our employee base. Our current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support and
effectively manage our future operations. We may not be able to hire, train, retain, motivate and manage required personnel or to
successfuIly identify, manage and exploit market opportunities, which may lirnit our growth.
Risk of entering new business areas. We intend to expand our operations by promoting new or complementary products, services
or sales formats and by expanding our product or service offerings. This will require significant additional expense and could strain
our management, financiaI and operational resources. We cannot expect to benefit in these new markets from the first-to-market
advantage that we experienced in the online book market. Our gross margins in these new business areas may be lower than our
existing business activities. We may not be able to expand our operations in a cost-effective or timely manner. Any new business that
our customers do not receive favorably could damage our reputation and the Amazon brando
Risk of international expansion. We plan to expand our presence in foreign markets. We have relatively little experience in
purchasing, marketing and distributing products or services for these markets and may not benefit from any first-to-market
advantages. It wiIl be costly to establish international facilities and operations, promote our brand internationally, and develop
localized Web sites and stores and other systems. We may not succeed in our efforts in these countries. Ifrevenues from international
activities do not offset the expense of establishing and maintaining foreign operations, our business, prospects, financiaI condition and
operating results will suffer.
As the international online commerce market continues to grow, competition in this market will likely intensify. In addition,
governments in foreign jurisdictions may regulate Internet or other online services in such areas as content, privacy, network security,
encryption or distribution. This may affect our ability to conduct business internationally.
Risks of business combinations and strategic alliances. We may expand our operations or market presence by entering into
business combinations, investments, joint ventures or other strategic alliances with other companies. These transactions create risks
such as:
difficulty assimilating the operations, technology and personnel of the combined companies,
•

disruption of our ongoing business,
problems retaining key technical and managerial personnel,

•

expenses associated with amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangible assets,
additional operating losses and expenses of acquired businesses, and

•

impairment of relationships with existing employees, customers and business partners.

We may not succeed in addressing these risks. In addition, the businesses we acquired in 1998 are incurring operating losses.
Rapid technological change. Technology in the online commerce industry changes rapidly. Customer functionality requirements
and preferences also change. Competitors often 'introduce new products and services with new technologies. These changes and the
emergence of new industry standards and practices could render our existing Web sites and proprietary technology obsolete. To
succeed, we must enhance Web site responsiveness, functionality and features, acquire and license leading technologies, enhance our
existing services, develop new services and technology and respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and
practices on a cost-effective and timely basis. We may not be able to adapt quickly enough to changing customer requirements and
industry standards.
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We depend on key personnel. We depend on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key
personnel, particularly Jeffrey P. Bezos, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. We do not have long-term
employment agreements with any of our key personnel, and we do not have "key person" life insurance policies. The loss of any of
our executive officers or other key employees could harm our business.
We rely on a small number of suppliers. We purchase a majority of our products from three major vendors, Ingram, B&T and
Valley Media. In late 1998, Barnes & Noble, one of our largest competitors, announced an agreement to purchase Ingram. Ingram is
our single largest supplier and supplied approximately 40% of our inventory purchases in 1998 and approximately 60% of our
inventory purchases in 1997. Although we increased our direct purchasing from manufacturers during 1998, we continue to purchase a
majority of our products from these three suppliers. We do not have long-term contracts or arrangements with most of our vendors to
guarantee the availability of merchandise, particular payment terms or the extension of credit limits. Our current vendors may stop
selling merchandise to us on acceptable terms. We may not be able to acquire merchandise from other suppliers in a timely and
efficient manner and on acceptable terms.
We are highly leveraged. We have significant indebtedness. As of December 31, 1998, we were indebted under our Senior
Discount Notes, capitalized lease obligations and other asset financing. With the sale of the Convertible Notes in February 1999, we
incurred $1.25 billion of additional indebtedness. We may incur substantial additional debt in the future. Our indebtedness could:
make it difficult to make principal and interest payments on the Senior Discount Notes and the Convertible Notes,
make it difficult to' obtain necessary financing for working capital, capital expenditures,
purposes,

debt service requirements

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and competition, and

•

make it more difficult for us to react in the event of an economic downturn.

or other

We may not be áble to meet our debt service obligations. If our cash flow is inadequate to meet our obligations, we may face
substantialliquidity problems. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or obtain funds for required payments, or if we fail to
comply with other covenants inour indebtedness, we will be in default. This would permit our creditors to accelerate the maturity of
our indebtedness.
Risks associated with doma in names. We hold rights to various Web domain names, including "Amazon.com," "Amazon.co.uk"
and "Amazon.de." Governmental agencies typically regulate domain names. These regulations are subject to change. We may not be
able to acquire or maintain appropriate domain names in all countries in which we do business. Furthermore, regulations governing
domain names may not protect our trademarks and similar proprietary rights. We may be unable to preventthird
parties from
acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe upon or diminish the value of our trademarks and other proprietary rights.
Governmental regulation and legal uncertainties. At this time, we face general business regulations and laws or regulations
regarding taxation and access to online commerce. For example, expanding our distribution center network may result in additional
sales and other tax obligations. Regulatory authorities may adopt specific laws and regulations governing the Internet or online
commerce. These regulations may cover taxation, user privacy, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution and characteristics and
quality of products and services. Changes in consumer protection laws also may impose additional burdens on companies conducting
business online. These laws or regulations may impede the growth of the Internet or other online services. This could, in turn,
diminish the demand for our products and services and increase our cost of doing business. Moreover, it is not clear how existing laws
governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the Internet and online
commerce. Unfavorable resolution of these issues may harm our business.
Risks of uncertain protection of intellectual property. Third parties that license our proprietary rights, such as trademarks, patented
technology or copyrighted material, may take actions that diminish the value of our proprietary rights or reputation. In addition, the
steps we take to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate and third parties may infringe or misappropriate our copyrights,
trademarks, trade dress, patents and similar proprietary rights. Other parties may claim that we infringed their proprietary rights. We
have been subject to claims, and expect to be subject to legal proceedings and claims, regarding alleged infringement by us and our
licensees of the trademarks and other intellectualproperty
rights of third parties. Such claims, even if not meritorious, may result in
the expenditure of significant financiaI and mariagerial resources.
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Risks oi Year 2000 non-compliance. We have developed a plan to modify our information technology to recognize the year 2000
and have begun converting our critical data processing systems. We have initiated formal communications with our significant
suppliers and service providers to determine the extent to which our systems may be vulnerable if they fail to address and correct their
own Year 2000 issues. We cannot guarantee that the systems of suppliers or other companies on which we rely will be Year 2000
compliant. Their failure to convert their systems could disrupt our systems. In addition, the computer systems necessary to maintain
the viability of the Internet or any of the Web sites that direct consumers to our online stores may not be Year 2000 compliant. Finally,
computers used by our customers to access our online stores may not be Year 2000 compliant, delaying our customers' purchases of
our products. We are in the process of developing a formal contingency plano We cannot guarantee that our systems will be Year 2000
compliant or that the Year 2000 problem will not adversely affect our business, which includes lirniting or precluding customer
purchases.
Our stock price is highly volatile. The trading price of our common stock fluctuates significantly. For example, during the 52-week
period ended February 28, 1999 (as adjusted for our 2-for-l split of our common stock effected June 1, 1998 and 3-for-l split of our
common stock effected January 4, 1999), the reported closing price of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was as high
as $184 5/8 and as low as $9 Y2 per share. Trading prices of our common stock may fluctuate in response to a number of events and
factors, such as:
quarterly variations in operating results,
•

announcements of innovations,
new products, services and strategic developments by us or our competitors,

•

business combinations and investments by us or our competitors,
changes in our operating expense leveIs or losses,
changes in financial estimates and recommendations

by securities analysts,

performance by other online commerce companies, and
•

news reports relating to trends in the Internet, book, music, vídeo or other product or service industries.

Any of these events may cause our stock price to fall, which may adversely affect our business and financing opportunities. In
addition, the stock market in general and the market prices for Internet-related companies in particular have experienced significant
volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations
may adversely affect the trading price of the common stock, regardless of our operating performance.
Executive Officers and Directors
The following tables set forth certain information regarding the executive officers and Directors of the Company as of February
28, 1999:
Executive Officers
~

Name

Position

35

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

.

35

Chief FinanciaI Officer and Vice President of Finance and Administration

.

41

Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Sheldon J. Kaphan

.

46

Vice President and Chief Technology Officer

John D. Risher
Kavitark R. Shriram

.
.

33

Senior Vice President of Product Development

42
45

Vice President of Business Development
Vice President and Chief Logistics Officer

Jeffrey P. Bezos

.

Joy D. Covey
Richard L. Dalzell

Jimmy M. Wright.

Bowne Conversion

,

~.

11

Jeffrey P. Bezos. Mr. Bezos has been President and Chairman of the Board of the Company since founding it in 1994, and Chief
Executive Officer since May 1996, and served as Treasurer and Secretary from May 1996 to March 1997. From December 1990 to
June 1994, Mr. Bezos was employed by D.E. Shaw & Co., a Wall Street investment firm, becoming Senior Vice President in 1992.
From April 1988 to December 1990, Mr. Bezos was employed by Bankers Trust Company, becoming Vice President in February
1990. Mr. Bezos received his B.S. in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Summa Cum Laude, from Princeton University.
Joy D. Covey. Ms. Covey joined the Company in December 1996 as Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance and
Administration, and served as Secretary from March 1997 to February 1999. Ms. Covey also served as Treasurer of the Company
from March 1997 to February 1998. From June 1995 to February 1996, Ms. Covey served as Vice President, Operations of the
Broadcast Division of Avid Technology, Inc. ("Avid"), a developer of digital media systems, and from January 1995 to Iune 1995,
Ms. Covey served as Vice President ofBusiness Development for Avid. From July 1991 to January 1995, Ms. Covey served as Chief
Financial Officer of Digidesign, Inc., a developer of random access digital audio systems and software. Prior to that, she was an
associate at Wasserstein Perella & Co., and a certified public accountant at Emst & Young LLP. Ms. Covey received her B.S. in
Business Administration, Summa Cum Laude, from Califomia State University, Fresno, her M.B.A., With High Distinction, from
Harvard Business School and her I.D., Magna Cum Laude, from Harvard Law School. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a
member of the Califomia State Bar.
Richard L. Dalzell. Mr. Dalzell joined the Company in August 1997 as Vice President and Chief Information Officer. From
February 1990 to August 1997, Mr. Dalzell held several management positions within the Information Systems Division at Wal-Mart
Stores, Inc., including Vice President of Information Systems from Ianuary 1994 to August 1997. From 1987 to 1990, Mr. Dalzell
acted as the Business Development Manager for E-Systems; Inc. Prior to joining E-Systems, Inc. he served seven years inthe United
States Army as a teleprocessing officer. Mr. Dalzell received a B.S. in Engineeringfrom
the United States'Military Academy, West
Point.
'
Sheldon J. Kaphan. Mr. Kaphan has served as the Company's Vice President and Chief Technology Officer since March 1997.
From October 1994 to March 1997, Mr. Kaphan served as Vice President of Research and Development of the Company. From
October 1992 to July 1994, Mr. Kaphan served as senior engineer at Kaleida Labs Inc., a multi media joint venture between Apple
Computer Inc. and Intemational Business Machines Corporation. Mr. Kaphan received his B.A. in Mathematics from the University
of Califomia, Santa Cruz.
John D. Risher. Mr. Risher joined the Company in February 1997 as Vice President of Product Development. Mr. Risher was
promoted to Senior Vice President of Product Development in November 1997. From July 1991 to February 1997, Mr. Risher held a
variety of marketing and project management positions at Microsoft Corporation, including Team Manager for Microsoft Access and
Founder and Product Unit Manager for MS Investor, Microsoft's Web site for personal investment. Mr. Risher received his B.A. in
Comparative Literature, Magna Cum Laude, from Princeton University and his M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
Kavitark R. Shriram. Mr. Shriramjoined the Company in August 1998 and was named Vice President ofBusiness Development
in October 1998. From May 1998 to August 1998, Mr. Shriram served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Junglee Corpo
From November 1994 to July 1997, Mr. Shriram held several positions at Netscape Communications Corporation, most recently Vice
President of OEM and WebSite Sales. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. Shriram served as director of global channel sales at Network
Computing Devices,' Inc. Mr. Shriram holds a B.S. from the University of Madras, India and an M.B.A. from the University of
Michigan.
Jímmy M. Wright. Mr. Wright joined the Company in July 1998 as Vice President and Chief Logistics Officer. From 1985 to
1998, Mr. Wright held a variety of logistics management positions with Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., most recently as Vice President of
Distribution. Additionally, during 1998, Mr. Wright served as managing partner of Diversified Retail Solutions, L.L.c., a retail
consulting firm, From 1972 to 1985, Mr. Wright held a variety of positions at Fina Oi! and Chemical Company, a branch of Petrofina
S.A. based in Brussels, most recently as General Manager of Distribution. Mr. Wright received his B.B.A. in personnel management
from the University ofTexas.
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Board of Directors
Name

~

Jeffrey P. Bezos

35

Tom A. Alberg.......................................

59

Scott D. Cook.........................................

46

L. John Doerr.........................................

47

Patricia Q. Stonesifer..............................

42

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
Principal in Madrona Investment Group, L.L.C.
Founder and Chairman of the Executive Committee of Intuit, Inc.
General Partner, Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers
Chairman of the Gates Leaming Foundation and Former Senior Vice President of
the Interactive Media Division ofMicrosoft Corporation

Item 2. Properties
The Company's principal office facilities located in the United States currently total approximately 150,000 square feet and are
located in Seattle, Washington under leases that expire in June 1999 through April 2003. The Company also recently leased an office
building of approximately 184,000 square feet in Seattle, Washington under a lease that expires in 2009. The Company will occupy
the office building in 1999. The Company's warehousing and fulfillment operations are housed in an approximately 93,000-squarefoot facility in Seattle, Washington under a lease that expires in October 1999, and in an approximately 200,000-square-foot facility
located in New Castle, Delaware under a lease that expires in October 2002. In December 1998, the Company leased an
approximately 323;000-square-foot distribution facility in Femley, Nevada under a lease that expires in 2009. The facility is expected
to begin operations in 1999.
The Company has additional properties in Europe. The German subsidiary's headquarters and distribution center, located in
Regensburg, Germany, total approximately 32,000 square feet, under leases that expire in December 1999 and 2000. The editorial and
marketing offices in Germany are approximately 9,000 square feet and are located in Munich under a lease that expires in 2001. The
headquarter offices and distribution center of the Ll.K. subsidiary total approximately 41,000 square feet and are located in Slough,
England urider a lease that expires in 2008.
The Company does not own any real estate as of December 31, 1998. Additionally, the Company anticipates that it will require
additional office space within the next 12 months. There can be no assurance that suitable additional space will be available on
commercially reasonable terms.
The Company intends to establish one or more additional distribution centers within the next 12 months, which would require it to
commit to lease obligations, stock inventories, purchase fixed assets, hire and train employees and installleasehold improvements. In
addition, the Company has announced plans to continue developing distribution infrastructure to increase efficiency and support
greater customer demand, as well as to increase its inventory to provide better availability to customers arid achieve purchasing
efficiencies.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Intimate Bookshop. In August 1998, The Intimate Bookshop and Wallace Kuralt filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court
for the Southem District of New York against the Company, Barnes & Noble, Borders Group, Inc. and others alleging antitrust, unfair
competition and related claims under the Robinson-Patman Act, the Clayton Act, the Donnelly Act and certain New York state
statutes and common law. The complaint was thereafter amended to drop the class action allegations and certain claims, A claim for
unfair competition was added. The plaintiffs requested the following relief: actual damages of approximately $11.25 million, treble
damages, injunctive relief, punitive damages, pre- and postjudgment interest, attomeys' fees and costs. Amazon.com understands that
the plaintiffs filed a voluntary dismissal of this action, with prejudice, on March 4, 1999.
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. In October 1998, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. ("Wal-Mart") filed a lawsuit in Bentonville, Arkansas against the
Company andother defendants alleging actual and threatened misappropriation of trade secrets and ancillary common-law claims.
Wal-Mart subsequently requested a temporary restraining order preventing the defendants from misappropriating Wal-Mart's alleged
trade secrets, from placing employees in positions in which they would "inevitably disclose" Wal-Mart's alleged trade secrets and
from soliciting, inducing or recruiting Wal-Mart employees. In January 1999, Wal-Mart filed an identical action in Seattle,
Washington, and the Arkansas court dismissed Wal-Mart's action on jurisdictional grounds before deciding the temporary restraining
order. The dismissal is pending appeal. Wal-Mart has advised the Company that it will file a preliminary injunction motion. In
addition to injunctive relief, Wal-Mart has requested compensatory damages, pre- and postjudgment interest and attomeys' fees and
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costs. The Company believes that Wal-Mart's claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend against the plaintiffs' claims.
Amazon.com has filed a counterclaim based in part on unfair competition and intentional interference. Litigation is inherently
uncertain, and there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit.
From time to time, the Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including
claims of alIeged infringement of trademarks and other intellectual property rights. The Company currently is not aware of any such
legal proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individualIy or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its business,
prospects, financial condition and operating results.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
No matters were submitted for a vote of stockholders of the Company during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31,
1998.

PARTII
Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information
The common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "AMZN." The following table sets forth the high
and low closing sale prices for the common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the Nasdaq National Market.
High
Year ended December 31, 1997
Second Quarter (from May 15)
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

.
.
.

Year ended December 31, 1998
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

.
.
.
.

$

3.92
9.25
10.78

14.31
33.27
46.50
117.31

Low
$

2.79
3.03
7.25

8.52
13.50
24.33
28.73

The prices in this table have been adjusted to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split effected June 1, 1998 and the 3-for-l stock split effected
January 4, 1999.
Holders
As of February 28, 1999 there were 2,304 stockholders of record of the common stock, although there are a larger number of
beneficial owners.
Dividends
The Company has never declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock. The Company intends to retain all future eamings
to finance future growth and, therefore, does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the
Company is restricted from paying cash dividends under the Senior Discount Notes.
Changes in Securities
None.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
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Item 6. Selected ConsolidaJed Financial Data
The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto and the information contained herein in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations." Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results.

Years Ended December 31,
1927
1996
1995
(in thousands, except per share data)

1998
Statement or Operations Data (1):
Net sales ..............................................................
Cost of sales ........................................................
Gross profit. .........................................................
Operating expenses:
Marketing and sales ..........................................
Product development ........................................
General and administrati ve ..............................
Merger and acquisition related costs,
including amortization of goodwill and
other purchased intangibles ............................
Total operating expenses ...........................
Loss from operations ..........................................
Interest income ....................................................
Interest expense ..................... :.............................
Net interest income (expense) ..................
Net loss ................................................................
Basic and diluted loss per share (2) ...................
Shares used in computation of basic and
diluted loss per share (2) ..................................

$ 609,996

$ 147,787

4Z6,1~5
133,841

118,969
28,818

15,746
12,287
3,459

133,023
46,807
15,799

40,486
13,916
7,011

6,090
2,401
1,411

200
171
35

2,202
(6,443)
202
(5)
197
(6246)
(O 06)

406
(304)
1

s
s

50,172
245,801
(111,960)
14,053
(26,639)
(12,586)
(124546)
(O 84)

61,413
(32,595)
1,901
(326)
1,575
$ (31 020)
(O 24)

s

148112

1998
Balance Sheet Data (1):
Cash ............................................
Marketable securities ................
Working capital (deficiency) ....
Total assets .................................
Long-terrn debt ..........................
Stockholders' equity ..................

$

Period From
July 5,1994
(inception) to
December 31,
1994

25,561
347,884
262,679
648,460
348,140
138,745

$
$

130341

1997

$

$

1,876
123,499
93,158
149,844
76,702
28,591

$

$
$

111211

864
5,425
1,698
8,434
2,943

$

38
14

52
(52)

1
(303)
(O 00)

s
s

1995

$

(52)

(O 00)
19.146

86364

December31
1996
(in thousands)

$

511
409
102

1994

804
192
920
1,084

$ 52

977

8

(16)
76

(1) Reflects restatement for pooling of interests. See Notes 1 and 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financiai Statements.
(2) For further discussion ofloss per share see Notes 1 and 8 ofNotes to Consolidated Financiai Statements.
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Item 7. Management's

Discussion and Analysis

0/ Financiai

Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Priva te Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. This Act provides a "safe harbor" for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to provide prospective
information about themselves so long as they identify these statements as forward looking and provide meaningful cautionary
statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ from the projected results. Ali statements other than
statements of historical fact made in this Annual Report on Form lO-K are forward looking. In particular, the statements herein
regarding industry prospects and future results of operations or financiai position are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements reflect management's current expectations and are inherently uncertain. The Company's actual results may differ
significantly from management's expectations. The following discussion and the section entitled "Business - Additional Factors That
May Affect Future Results" describes some, but not ali, ofthefactors that could cause these differences.

Results of Operations
Net Sales
1998
Net sales

% Change

$ 609,996

313%

1997
% Change
(in thousands)
$ 147,787
839%

1996
$ 15,746

Net sales are composed of the selling price of books, music and other products and services sold by the Company, net of returns, as
well as outbound shipping andhandling charges. Growth in net sales in 1998 and 1997 reflects a significant increase in units sold due
to the growth of the Company's customer base and repeat purchases from the Company's existing customers. The Company had
approximately 6.2 million and 1.5 million cumulative customer accounts as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Repeat
customer orders accounted for over 60% of orders placed on the Amazon.com Web site during the fiscal year ended December 31,
1998. Additionally, the increase in net sales in 1998 was partially due to the opening of the music store in June 1998, the United
Kingdom and German stores in October 1998 and the video store in November 1998.
Intemational sales, including export sales from the United States, represented approximately 20%, 25% and 33% of net sales for
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Although there can be no assurances, the Company does not expect
the introduction of the Euro resulting from the European Monetary Union to significantly impact our competitive position or
operations.
Gross Profit
1998
Gross profit................. $ 133,841
Gross margin...............
21.9%

% Change

1997
(in thousands)
364%
$ 28,818
19.5%

% Change

733%

1996
$ 3,459
22.0%

Gross profit consists of sales less the cost of sales, which consists of the cost of merchandise sold to customers, as well as
outbound and inbound shíppingcosts. Gross profit increased in 1998 and 1997 in absolute dollars, reflectingthe Company's increased
sales volume. Gross margin increased in 1998 as a result of improvements in product costs through improved supply chain
management, including increased direct purchasing from publishers, which together more than offset the impact of aggressive product
pricing and lower music and video margins. Gross margin decreased in 1997 due to a combination of lower prices and lower overall
shipping margins, partially offset by improvements in product cost.
The Company believes that offering its customers attractive prices is an essential component of its business strategy. Accordingly,
the Company offers everyday discounts of up to 40% on hundreds of thousands of titles and certain "special value" editions
discounted up to 85%. The Company may in the future expand or increase thediscounts it offers to its customers and may otherwise
alter its pricing structure and policies.
.
The Company over time intends to expand its operations by promoting new ar complementary products or sales formats and by
expanding the breadth and depth of its product and service offerings. Gross margins attributable to new business areas may be lower
than those associated with the Company's existing business activities. In particular, in June 1998 the Company launched its new music
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store and in November 1998 launched a video store. Music and video gross margins are lower than book gross margins. To the extent
music and video become a larger portion of the Company's product mix, it is expected to have a proportionate impact on overall
product gross margin.
Marketing and Sales
1998
Marketing and sales.........
Percentage ofnet sales.....

% Change

$ 133.023
21.8%

1997
(in thousands)
229%
$ 40,486
27.4%

% Change

565%

1996
$ 6,090
38.7%

Marketing and sales expenses consist primarily of advertising, promotional and public relations expenditures, as well as payroll
and related expenses for personnel engaged in marketing, selling and fulfillment activities. All fulfillment costs not included in cost of
sales, including the cost of operating and staffing distribution centers and customer service, are included in marketing and sales. The
Companyexpects its costs of fulfillment to increase based primarily on anticipated sales growth and its planned distribution network
expansion. Marketing and sales expenses increased in 1998 and 1997 primarily due to increases in the Company's advertising and
promotional expenditures, increased payroll and related costs associated with fulfilling customer demand and increased credit card
fees resulting from higher sales. The increase in 1998 was also attributable to the entry into music and video sales and the launch of
new stores in Germany and the United Kingdom. Marketing and sales expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales due to the
significant increase in net sales. The Company intends to continue to pursue its aggressive branding and marketing campaign, which
includes radio, television and print advertising and significant expenditures for online promotion and advertising relationships. In
addition, the Company intends to increase investments in marketing, promotion and fulfillment activities related to its product, service
and intemational expansion. As a result of the foregoing, the Company expects marketing and sales expenses to increase significantly
in absolute dollars.
Product Development
1998
Product development.......
Percentage ofnet sales....

% Change

$ 46,807
7.7%

236%

1997
(in thousands)
$ 13,916
9.4%

% Change

480%

1996
$ 2,401
15.2%

Product development expenses consist principally of payroll and related expenses for development, editorial, systems and
telecommunications operations personnel and consultants; systems and telecommunications infrastructure; and costs of acquired
content, including freelance reviews. The increases in product development expenses in 1998 and 1997 were primarily attributable to
increased staffing and costs related to continual feature, content and functionality enhancements to the Company's Web sites and
transaction-processing systems, as well as increased investment in systems and telecommunications infrastructure. Such increases in
1998 included investments associated with the entry into music and video sales, the launch of an enhanced holiday gift store, new
stores in Germany and the United Kingdom and operating expenses associated with the acquired entities. Product development
expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales due to the significant increase in net sales. To date, product development costs have
been expensed as incurred. The Company believes that continued investment in product development is critical to attaining its
strategic objectives. In addition to ongoing investmentsin
its Web stores and infrastructure, the Company intends to increase
investments in products, services and intemational expansion. As a result, the Company expects product development expenses to
increase significantly in absolute dollars.
General and Administrative
1998
General and administrative....
Percentage of net sales

$ 15,799

2.6%

% Change

1997
(in thousands)
125%
$ 7,011
4.7%

% Change

397%

1996
$ 1,411

9.0%

General and administrative expenses consist of payroll and relatedexpenses for executive, finance and administrative personnel,
recruiting, professional fees and other general corporate expenses. The 1998 and 1997 increases in general and administrative
expenses were primarily a result of increased salaries and related expenses associated with the hiring of additional personnel and legal
and other professional fees related to the Company's growth. In 1998, additional expenses were incurred associated with the acquired
entities and the related intemational expansion and expanded activities. Beginning in 1997, general and administrative costs have
included costs attributable to being a public company. General and administrative expenses decreased as a percentage of net sales due
to the significant.increase in net sales. The Company expects general and administrative expenses to increase i~ absolute dollars as the
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Company expands its staff and incurs additional costs related to the growth of its business, including investments associated with
products, services and international expansion.
Merger and Acquisition Related Costs, Including Amortization ofGoodwill

and Other Purchased Intangibles

Merger and acquisition related costs, including amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles, were approximately
$50.2 million or 8.2% of net sales in 1998. These costs were recorded in connection with the Company's April 1998 acquisitions of
three Internet companies and its August 1998 acquisition of Junglee. These acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. Additionally, certain transaction costs were incurred in connection with the August 1998 merger with
PlanetAll, which was accounted for under the pooling of interests method of accounting. Merger and acquisition related costs consist
of amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles of approximately $42.6 million, as well as approximately $7.6 million,
composed primarily of equity in loss of investee and other merger and acquisition related costs. The Company anticipates that future
amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles associated with its 1998 acquisitions will continue to be amortized on a
straight-line basis over lives ofup to approximately three years, and will amount to approximately $22 million per quarter until March
2000 and approximately $15 million per quarter thereafter until the related goodwill and other purchased intangibles are fully
amortized. It is likely that the Company will continue to expand its business through acquisitions and internaI development. Any
additional acquisitions or impairment of goodwill and other purchased intangibles, as well as equity in tosses of equity investees,
could result in additional merger and acquisition related costs.
Interest Income dnd Expense ...
1998
Interest income
Interest expense...............

$

14,053
(26,639)

% Change

1997
% Change
(in thousands)
639%
$ 1,901
841 %
NIM
(326)
NIM

1996
$ 202
(5)

Interest income on cash and marketable securities increased in 1998 due to higher investment balances resulting from the proceeds
from the Senior Discount Notes issued in May 1998, and in 1997 due to higher investment balances resulting from the proceeds of the
Company's initial public offering in May 1997. Interest expense in 1998 includes interest and amortization of deferred charges related
to the Senior Discount Notes.
Interest expense in 1998 and 1997 consists of interest and amortization of deferred charges related to the Company's $75 million
three-year senior secured termloan (the "Senior Loan") entered into in December 1997, as well as asset acquisitions financed through
loans and capital leases. In 1998, interest expense also includes the write-off of $2.0 million of unamortized loan fees following
prepayment of the Senior Loan in May 1998.
The Company expects interest expense to increase in the future as a result of the Senior Discount Notes, the Convertible Notes and
potentially increased financing of asset acquisitions through loans and capitalleases. The Company also expects interest income to
increase because of higher cash balances resulting from the net proceeds of the Convertible Notes.
Income Taxes
The Company did not provide any current or deferred U.S. federal, state or foreign income tax provision or benefit for any of the
periods presented because it has experienced operating losses since inception. Utilization of the Company's net operating loss
carryforwards, which begin to expire in 2011, may be subject to certain limitations under Section 382 of the Internai Revenue Code of
1986, as amended. The Company has provided a full valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net
operating loss carryforwards, because of uncertainty regarding its realizability.

Pro Forma Information
In April 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of three Internet companies. Each of the acquisitions was
accounted for underthe purchase method of accounting. The aggregate purchase price of the three acquisitions, plus related charges,
was approximately $55 million. The consideration for the acquisitions was comprised of common stock and cash, The Company
issued an aggregate of approximately 3.2 million shares of common stock to affect the transactions. The Company is amortizing the
goodwill resulting from the acquisitions on a straight-line basis over approximately two years.
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In August 1998, the Company acquired alI of the outstanding capital stock of Junglee. The Company issued approximately 4.7
million shares of common stock and assumed alI outstanding options and warrants in connection with the acquisition of Junglee. The
Junglee acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, with substantialIy alI of the approximately $180
million purchase price allocated to goodwill and other purchased intangibles. The goodwilI and substantialIy alI other purchased
intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over lives averaging approximately three years.
In August 1998, the Company exchanged common stock and options for alI of the outstanding capital stock of PlanetAll. The
Company issued approximately 2.4 million shares of common stock and assumed alI outstanding options in connection with the
merger. The PlanetAll merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests and, as a result, the Company's consolidated financiaI
statements have been restated for alI periods presented.
As of December 31, 1998, the Company has an investment of approximately 46% in drugstore.com, inc., an online drugstore, that
is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company's share of the investee's
eamings or loss is included in consolidated operating results. The Company's basis in its equity investment is classified within other
purchased intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the Company's share of the investee's loss is classified in
merger and acquisition related costs, including amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles. To date, this investment has
not materiaIly impacted the Company's results of operations or its financiaI position.
Pro forma information regarding the Company's results, excluding approximately $50.2 million of merger and acquisition related
costs, which include amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles, for the business combinations discussed above, as welI
as the Company's share of losses from its investee, is as folIows:
YearEnded
December 31,

1998

Pro forma loss from operations
,
Pro forma net loss
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per share
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted loss per
share

.
.
.
.

(in thousands)
$ (61,788)
$ (74,374)
$
(0.50)
148,172

The pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 1998 are presented for informational purposes only and arenot prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principIes.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 1998, the Company's cash was $25.6 million, compared to $1.9 million at December 31, 1997. Marketable
securities balances, which include highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less, were $347.9 million and $123.5
million at December 31,1998 and 1997, respectively.
Net cash provided by operating activities of $3LO million and $687,000 for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997,
respectively, was prirnarily attributable to increases in accounts payable, other liabilities and accrued expenses, accrued advertising
and non-cash expenses, largely offset by the net loss and increases in inventories and prepaid expenses and other.
Net cash used in investing activities was $261.8 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 and consisted of net purchases of
marketable securities, purchases of fixed assets, and acquisitions, dispositions and investments in businesses. For the year ended
December 31, 1997, net cash used in investing activities was $125.7 million and consisted of net purchases of marketable securities
and purchases of fixed assets.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $254.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 resulted from net proceeds of
approximately $318.2 million from the Senior Discount Notes offering, net proceeds of approximately $8.4milIion from PlanetAlI's
issuance of capital stock, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $6.0 million, partiaIly offset by the repayment of the
Senior Loan. Net cash provided by financing activities of $126.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 resulted primarily
from net proceeds from the Senior Loan, the Company's initial public offering and PlanetAlI's issuance of capital stock.
As of December 31, 1998, the Company's principal sources of liquidity consisted of $373.4 million of cash and marketable
securities. As of that date,the Company's principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under its Senior Discount
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Notes, obligations in connection with the acquisition of fixed assets, operating leases and commitments for advertising and
promotional arrangements. The Company anticipates a substantial increase in its capital expenditures and lease commitments
consistent with anticipated growth in operations, infrastructure and personnel, including growth associated with product and service
offerings, geographic expansion and integration of business combinations. For example, in August 1998, the Company entered into a
long-term office lease, which will result in increased lease obligations commencing in 1999, and, in December 1998, the Company
leased a highly mechanized distribution facility in Femley, Nevada, which is expected to begin operations in 1999. Bringing these
facilities to operational readiness will require significant leasehold improvement and capital expenditures, and require the Company to
stock inventories, purchase fixed assets and hire and train employees.
The Company intends to establish one or more additional distribution centers within the next 12 months, which would require it to
commit to lease obligations, stock inventories, purchase fixed assets, hire and train employees and installleasehold improvements. In
addition, the Company has announced plans to continue developing distribution infrastructure to increase efficiency and support
greater customer demand and to increase its inventory to provi de better availability to customers and achieve purchasing efficiencies.
Senior Discount Notes
In May 1998, the Company completed the offering of approximately $326 million gross proceeds of the Senior Discount Notes.
Pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4, in September 1998, the Company completed an exchange offer of 10% Senior
Discount Notes due 2008 (the "Exchange Notes"), which were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), for all outstanding Senior Discount Notes. The Exchange Notes have identical terms in all material respects to the
terms of the original Senior Discount Notes, except that the Exchange Notes generally are freely transferable (the Exchange Notes are
referred to throughout this Annual Report interchangeably with the Senior Discount Notes). The Exchange Notes were issued urider
the indenture goveming the original Senior Discount Notes (the "Seniór Notes Indenture"). The Senior Discount Notes were sold at a
substantial discount from their principal amount at maturity of $530 million. Prior to November 1, 2003, no cash interest payments are
required; instead, interest will accrete during this period to the $530 million aggregate principal amount at maturity. From and after
May 1, 2003, the Senior Discount Notes will bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum payable in cash on each May 1 and November
1. The Senior Discount Notes are redeemable, at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at any time on or after May 1, 2003,
at the redemption prices set forth in the Senior Notes Indenture, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption.
Upon a Change of Control (as defined in the Senior Notes Indenture), the Company would be required to make an offer to
purchase the Senior Discount Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of their Accreted Value onthe date of purchase, plus accrued
interest, if any. There can be no assurance that the Company would have sufficient funds available at the time of any Change of
Control to make any required debt repayment (including repurchases of the Senior Discount Notes).
The Senior Notes Indenture contains certain covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Company and its Restricted
Subsidiaries (as defined in the Senior Notes Indenture) to incur indebtedness, pay dividends, prepay subordinated indebtedness,
repurchase capital stock, make investments, create liens, engage in transactions with stockholders and affiliates, sell assets and engage
in mergers and consolidations. However, these limitations are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The
Company was in compliance with all financial covenants at December 31, 1998.
'
Convertible Subordinated Notes
In February 1999, the Company completed an offering of approximately $1.25 billion of the Convertible Notes. Interest payrnents
on the Convertible Notes of 4 %% per annum are due and payable semiannually in arrears in cash on February 1 and August 1 of each
year, commencing August 1, 1999. The Convertible Notes are unsecured and are subordinated to all existing and future Senior
Indebtedness as defined in the indenture governing the Convertible Notes (the "Convertible Notes Indenture"). The Convertible Notes
are generally convertible into common stock of the Company, unless redeemed or repaid prior to maturity, at a conversion price of
$156.055 per share. The Convertible Notes may be redeemed by the Company (the "Provisional Redemption"), in whole or in part, at
any time prior to February 6, 2002, at a redemption price equal to $1,000 per Convertible Note tobe redeemed plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption (the "Provisional Redemption Date") if (l)the closing price of the common stock
shall have exceeded 150% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days in any consecutive 30-trading day period
and (2) the shelf registration statement covering resales of the Convertible Notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of
the Convertible Notes is effective and available for use and is expected to remain effective and available for use for the 30 days
following the Provisional Redemption Date. Upon any Provisional Redemption, the Company will make an additional payment in
cash with respect to the Convertible Notes called for redemption in an amount equal to $212.60 per $1,000 Convertible Note, less the
amount of anyinterest
actually paid oh such Convertible Note prior to the call for redemption. The Company must make these
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payments on all of the Convertible Notes caUed for redemption, including Convertible Notes caUed after the date of the calI for
redemption. After February 6, 2002, the Convertible Notes will be redeemable on at least 30 days' notice at the option of the
Company, in whole or in part, at any time, at the redemption prices set forth in the Convertible Notes Indenture.
Upon occurrence of any Fundamental Change (as defined in the Convertible Notes Indenture) prior to the maturity of the
Convertible Notes, each holder of the Convertible Notes has the right to require the Company to redeem alI or any part of the holder's
Convertible Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus any accrued interest, of the Convertible Notes being
redeemed.
The Company will, for the benefit of the holders, file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as soon as practicable, but in
any event within 90 days after the first date of original issuance of the Convertible Notes, a shelf registration statement covering
resales of the Convertible Notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.
The Company has or may use the net proceeds from the offering of the Convertible Notes for general corporate purposes,
including working capital to fund anticipated operating losses, the expansion of the Company's core business, investments in new
business segments and markets, capital expenditures, acquisitions or investments in complementary businesses, products and
technologies and repurchases and retirement of debt.
The Company believes that current cash and marketable securities balances, together with net proceeds from the Convertible
Notes, will be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. However, any projections of future cash
needs and cash flows are subject to substantial uncertainty. If current cash, marketable securities and cash that may be generated from
operations are insufficient to satisfy the Company's liquidity requirements, the Company may seek to sell additional equity or debt
securities or to obtain a line of credit. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in additional dilution to
the Company's stockholders, In addition, the Company will, from time to time, consider the acquisition of or investment in
complementary businesses, products, services and technologies, and the repurchase and retirement of debt, which might impact the
Company's liquidity requirements or cause the Company to issue additional equity or debt securities. There can be no assurance that
financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to the Company, if at alI.
Year 2000 Implications
Many current installed computer systems and software may be coded to accept only two-digit entries in the date code field and
cannot distinguish 21st century dates from 20th century dates. As a result, many software and computer systems may need to be
upgraded or replaced. The Company is in the process of assessing the Year 2000 issue and expects to complete the program in the
second quarter of 1999. The Company has not incurred material costs to date in the process, and does not believe that the cost of
additional actions will have a material effect on its operating results or financial condition. However, the Company has established a
budget totaling approximately $1 million for the acquisition of contract software services that will assist in the Year 2000 assessment
and remediation activities to be completed no later than the third quarter of 1999. Amazon.com's current systems and products may
contain undetected errors or defects with Year 2000 date functions that may result in material costs. In addition, the Company utilizes
third-party equipment, software and content, including non-information technology systems, such as security systems, building
equipment and embedded micro-controllers that may not be Year 2000 compliant. The Company is in the process of developing a plan
to assess whether its intemally developed software, third-party systems and non-information technology systems are adequately
addressing the Year 2000 issue. Failure of third-party equipment, software or content to operate properly with regard to the Year 2000
issue could require the Company to incur unanticipated expenses to remedy problems, which could have a material adverse effect on
its business, operating resultsand financiaI condition.
Amazon.com 'is assessing whether third parties in its supply and distribution chain are adequately addressing their Year 2000
compliance issues. The Company has initiated formal communications with its significant suppliers and service providers to determine
the extent to which its systems may be vulnerable if such suppliers and providers fail to address and correct their own Year 2000
issues. The Company cannot guarantee that the systems of suppliers or other companies on which the Company relies will be Year
2000 compliant. The Company is in the process of developing a contingency plan that will address situations that may result should
Year 2000 compliancefor critical operations not be fully achieved in 1999.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 1998. However, the Company is exposed to
interest rate risk. The Compariy employs established policies and procedures to manage its exposure to changes in the market risk of
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its marketable securities, which are classified as available-for-sale as ofDecember 31,1998. The Company's Senior Discount Notes,
Convertible Notes and other long-term debt have fixed interest rates and the fair value of these instruments is affected by changes in
market interest rates. The Company believes that the market risk arising from holdings of its financiaI instruments is not material.
Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosure about market risk is set forth below and in "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of FinanciaI Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources."
The table below provides information about the Company's marketable securities, including principal cash flows for 1999 through
2003 and the related weighted average interest rates.
Principal (notional) amounts by expected maturity in U.S. dollars (in thousands):
Estimated Fair
Value at
December 31,

1999
Commercial paper and short-term
obligations .........................................
Weighted average interest rate ..........
Corporate notes and bonds .................
Weighted average interest rate ..........

$ 114,579

5.34%

4,250
5.90%

Asset -backed and agency
securities ...........................................
Weighted average interest rate ..........
Treasury notes and bonds ..................
Weighted average interest rate ..........
Total Portfolio, excluding
equity securities ............................
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2000

Si 121522

2002

$

$

$

2003

$

Thereafter

27,400
4.89%

Si 25400

8,746
5.16%

7,087
5.29%

42,175
--AM%

~%

Si 50221

~

10,086
5.64%

5.34%

35,497
5.82%

8,000

22

Si 10086

Total

$ 114,579

$

46,500
5.20%

21,500
5.57%
8,700
5.63%

2001

Si 35421

1998
$ 114,180

50,750
5.26%

51,351

82,916
5.62%

83,569

86,275
4.82%

89,013

Si 334520

Si 338113
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Amazon.com, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Amazon.com, Inc. as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 1998. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule Iisted in the Index at Item 14(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financiaI statements and schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financiaI statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit aIso
includes assessing the accounting principIes used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financiaI statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financiaI statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Amazon.com, Inc. at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principIes. AIso, in our opinion,
the related financiaI statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financiaI statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.
ERNST & YQUNG LLP
Seattle, Washington
January 22, 1999, except for Note 11
as to which the date is February 10, 1999
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AMAZON.COM,

INC.

CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash
Marketable securities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Fixed assets, net
Deposits and other
Goodwill and other purchased intangibles,
Deferred charges
Total assets

December
1998
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

net.

$

s

25,561
347,884
29,501
21,308
424,254
29,791
626
186,377
7412
648460

31,
1997
$

s

1,876
123,499
8,971
3,363
137,709
9,726
169
2,240
142844

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Iiabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued advertising
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt.
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term portion of capitallease obligation
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0 I par value:
Authorized shares - 10,000
Issued and outstanding shares - none
Common stock, $0.01 par value:
Authorized shares - 300,000
Issued and outstanding shares-159,267
and 144,909 shares in 1998
and 1997, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Note receivable from officer for common stock
Deferred compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Totalliabilities and stockholders' equity

.
.
.
.
.
.
.

$

113,273
13,071
34,547
684
161,575
348,077
63

25

33,027
3,454
6,570
1,500
44,551
76,521
181

.

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

s

1,593
300,130
0,099)
0,625)
1,806
(162,060)
138,745
648460

. See accompanying notes to consolidated financiaI statements.
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$

1,449
66,586
0,930)

s

(37,514)
28,591
142844

AMAZON.COM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Marketing and sales
Product developrnent
General and adrninistrative
Merger and acquisition related costs, including
arnortization of goodwill and other purchased
intangibles
Total operating expenses
Loss frorn operations
Interest income
Interest expense
N et interest income (expense)
Netloss
Basic and diluted loss per share
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted loss per
share

.
.
.

$

.
.
.

Years Ended December
1998
1997
609,996
$ 147,787
476,155
118,969
133,841
28,818
133,023
46,807
15,799

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

50,172
245,801
(I II ,960)
14,053
(26,639)
(12,586)
(124546)
$
(O 84)

.

148 172

s

s
s

26

$

1996
15,746
12,287
3,459

40,486
13,916
7,011

6,090
2,401
1,411

61,413
(32,595)
1,901
(326)
1575
(31 020)
(O 24)

9,902
(6,443)
202
(5)
197
(6246)
(O 06)

130341

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiaI statements.
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AMAZON.COM,
CONSOLIDATED

INC.

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'
(in thousands)

Note Receivable

Advances

Preferred
Slock
Shares

Amount

Balance at January I, 1996 ............

Common Stock
Amount
Shares
87,331
1,075

s

Net loss ...........................................
Reincorporation in Delaware ....•...
Sale of preferred stock,
net of $30 issuance costs .............
Sale of common stock ...................
Issuance of capital stock ...............
Exercise of common stock
options ..........................................
Deferred compensation
related to stock options ...............
Balance at December 31, 1996 ......

Received ror
Cornmon
Stock
$
150

Additional
Paid·ln
Ca~ital
$

(201)
569

569

6

6

EQUITY

FromOfficer

For
Common Stock
$

Deferred
Coml!!:;nsation
$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

Income
$

201

Accumulaled
Deficll
$
(248)
(6,246)

7,964
136
11

7,970
36
11

30

165

195

95,418

954

612
9,089

18,000

180

48,923

20,678

207

1,350
1,270

13
13

1,487
3,989

8,193

82

427

5,ü43
17

50

3,027

(150)

~)
(612)

(6,494)
(31,020)

Net loss ...........................................
Sale of preferred stock ..................
Public stock offering,
net of $4,897 issuance costs .......
Conversion of preferred
stock into common stock ............
Issuance of common stock
for fixed assets and
accrued product development... ..
Issuance of capital stock ...............
Exercise of common stock
options ..........................................
Deferred compensation
related to stock options ...............
Amortization of deferred
compensation related
to stock options ............................
Balance at December 31, 1997 ......
Net loss ...........................................
Foreign currency
translation losses .........................
Unrealized gain on
marketable
securities ......................................
Comprehensive loss .......................
Issuance of capital stock ...............
Exercise of common stock
options ..........................................
Note receivab1e from
officer for common
stock .............................................
Deferred compensation
related to stock options ...............
Amortization of deferred
compensation related
to stock options ............................
Balance at December 31,1998 ......

200

5

(574)

(6)

49,\03

1,500
4,002
509

2,741

144,909

2,943
(31,020)
200

(201)

(2,741)

~

(69)
66,586

1,449

(1,930)

1354
28 591
(124,546)

(37,514)
(124,546)
(35)

(35)

1,841
9,025

90

225,534

1841
(122,740)
225,624

5,333

54

5,929

5,983

(1,099)

(1,099)

2,081

--

159267

L....L.m

$

-

$

300 130

(2,081)

~)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiai statements.

Bowne Conversion

Tolal
Stockholders'
Egui!!
$
977
(6,246)

27

~

~)

$

1806

$

(162060)

$

2386
138 745

AMAZON.COM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Years Ended December

1998

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred compensation related to stock
options
Non-cash merger and acquisition related costs, inc1uding
amortization of goodwill and other purchased
intangibles
Non-cash interest expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other
Deposits and other
Accounts payable
Accrued advertising
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Maturities of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of fixed assets
Acquisitions, dispositions, and investments in
businesses
Net cash used in investíng activities
Financing activities
Net proceeds from initial public offering
Proceeds from exerci se of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock
Proceeds from long-term debt..
Repayment oflong-term debt
Financing costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase in cash
;
Cash at beginning of period
ó ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Cash at end of period
Supplemental
cash flow information
Common stock issued in connection with acquisitions
Common stock issued for fixed assets and accrued product
development
Fixed asseIs acquired under capitallease
Fixed asseIs acquired under financing agreement...

.

$ (124,546)

.

$

$ (6,246)

9,692

3,442

296

.

2,386

1,354

.
.

47,065
23,970

64

.
.
.
.
.
.
.

(20,513)
(16,465)
(293)
78,674
9,617
21,448
31,035

(8,400)
(3,034)
(21)
30,172
2,856
5274
687

.
.
.

332,084
(546,509)
(28,333)

4,311
(122,385)
(7,603)

(5,233)
(1,335)

.
.

(19,019)
(261,777)

(125,677)

(6,568)

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

28

1996

(31,020)

5,983
8,383
325,987
(78,108)
(7,783)
254,462
(35)
23,685
1876

(554)
(315)
(148)
2,756
598

----LQQ1

(2,010)

49,103
509
3,746
75,000
(47)
(2,309)
126,002

.

s

25561

s

.

$ 217,241

$

.
.
.

$
$
$

$
$
$

1,012
864

1 S:Z6

195
8,443

8,638

-----ªº1
~
60

$
1,500
442
3,021

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1997

$
$
$

AMAZON.COM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business
Amazon.com, Inc. ("Amazon.com" or the "Company"), an Internet retailer, was incorporated in July 1994 and opened its virtual
doors on the Web in July 1995. Amazon.com offers book, music CD, video, DVD, computer game and other titles on its Web sites.
Business Combinations and Investments
For business combinations which have been accounted for under the
results of operations of the acquired business from the date of acquisition.
fair value at the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over
and other purchased intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance

purchase method of accounting, the Company includes the
Net assets of the companies acquired are recorded at their
the fair value of net assets acquired is included in goodwill
sheets.

Other business combinations are accounted for under the pooling of interests method of accounting. In such cases, the assets,
liabilities and stockholders' equity of the acquired entities are combined with the Company's respective accounts at recorded values.
The consolidated financial statements reflect the restatement of all periods presented to include the accounts of merged entities
accounted for under the pooling of interests method of accounting. The historical results of the pooled entities reflect each of their
actual operating cost structures and, as a result, do not necessarily reflect the cost structure of the newly combined entity. The
historical results do not purport to be indicative of future results.
Investments in affiliated entities in which the Company has the ability to exerci se significant influence of an investee, generalIy a
20% or greater ownership interest of the voting stock, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method of accounting, the Company's share of the investee's earnings or loss is included in consolidated operating results.
AlI other investments, for which the Company does not have the ability to exerci se significant influence, are accounted for under
the cost method of accounting. Dividends and other distributions of earnings from other investees, if any, are included in income when
declared. The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of its investments accounted for under the cost method of accounting
and as of December 31, 1998, such investments were recorded at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value.
Principies of Consolidation
The consolidated financiaI statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

All significant

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financiaI statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principIes requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affectthe reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financiai statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Marketable Securities
The Company's marketable securities consist primarily of high-quality short- to intermediate-term fixed income securities and
money market mutual funds, are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are reported,
net of taxes, as a component of stockholders' equity within accumulated other comprehensive income. Unrealized losses are charged
against in come when a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary. The specific identification method is used to
determine the cost of securities soldo The Company classifies all investments of cash as marketable securities, including highly liquid
investments with maturities of three months or less, and reflects the related cash flows as investing cash flows. As a result of the
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classification of highly liquid investments within marketable securities, a significant portion of the Company's
securities purchases and maturities disclosed as investing cash flows is related to highly liquid investments.

gross marketable

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The Company purchases a majority of its products from three major vendors,
Ingram Book Group ("Ingram"), Baker & Taylor, Inc. and Valley Media Inc. In late 1998, Bames & Noble announced an agreement
to purchase Ingram. Ingram is the Company's single largest supplier and accounted for approximately 40% and approximately 60% of
the Company's inventory purchases in 1998 and 1997, respectively. The Company does not have long-term contracts or arrangements
with most of its vendors to guarantee the availability of merchandise, particular payment terms or the extension of credit limits. The
Company's current vendors may stop selling merchandise to the Company on acceptable terms. The Company may not be able to
acquire merchandise from other suppliers in a timely and efficient manner and on acceptable terms.
Fixed Assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which includes the amortization of assets recorded
under capitalleases. Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated usefullives of the assets (generally one to
ten years). Fixed assets purchased under capitalleases are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the estimated usefullife
of the asset or the lease termo
Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangibles
Goodwill and other purchased intangibles represent the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired. Total
goodwill of approximately $215.7 million and other purchased intangibles of approximately $13.3 million are stated net of total
accumulated amortization of $42.6 million at Deceinber 31, 1998 in the accompanying balance sheet. Goodwill and substantialIy all
other purchased intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over lives ranging from two to three years.
Long-Lived Assets
In accordance with Financiai Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ("SFAS") No.
121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of, the carrying value of
intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or circumstances, both intemalIy
and extemalIy, that may suggest impairment. To date, no such impairment has been indicated. Should there be an impairment in the
future, the Company will measure the amount of the impairment based on undiscounted expected future cash flows from the impaired
assets. The cash flow estimates that will be used will contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary
assumptions and projections at the time.
Fair Value of Financiallnstruments
The carrying amounts for the Company's cash, prepaid expenses and other, deposits and other, accounts payable, accrued
advertising, and other liabilities and accrued expenses approximate fair value. The fair market value for long-term debt and marketable
securities is bas~d on quoted market prices where available.
Deferred Charges
In May 1998, the Company issued approximately $326 million gross proceeds of 10% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 (the
"Senior Discount Notes"). At December 31, 1998, deferred charges consisted of fees associated with the issuance of the Senior
Discount Notes. The fees are being amortized into interest expense over the life of the Senior Discount Notes.
Income Taxes
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of
assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to be
recovered.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from product sales, net of any discounts, when the products are shipped to customers. Outbound
shipping and handling charges are included in net sales. Revenue from gift certificates is recognized upon product shipment following
redemption. The Company provides an allowance for sales returns, which has been insignificant, based on historical experience.
Advertising Costs
The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, the Company incurred
advertising expense of$60.2 million, $21.2 million and $3.4 million, respectively.
Product DeveLopment
Product development expenses consist principally of payroll and related expenses for development,
telecommunications operations personnel and consultants, systems and telecommunications infrastructure
content. To date, all product development costs have been expensed as incurred.

editorial, systems and
and costs of acquired

Merger and Acquisition Related Costs
Merger and acquisition related costs consist primarily of amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles of
approximately $42.6 million, as well as approximately $7.6 million, composed primarily of equity in loss of investee and other merger
and acquisition related costs.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principies Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees
("APB No. 25"), and related interpretations, in accounting for its employee stock options rather than the alternative fair value
accounting allowed by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. APB No. 25 provides that the compensation
expense relative to the Company's employee stock options is measured based on the intrinsic value of the stock option. SFAS No. 123
requires companies that continue to follow APB No. 25 to provide a pro forma disclosure of the impact of applying the fair value
method of SFAS No. 123.
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of the Company's foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. Assets and liabilities of the foreign
subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at year end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated at average rates
prevailing during the year. Translation adjustrnents are included in accumulated other comprehensive income, a separate component of
stockholders' equity. Transaction gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity involved, which have been insignificant, are included in the consolidated statements of operations. To date, the
Company has entered into no foreign currency exchange contracts or other such derivative instruments.
Segment and Geographic Information
The Company operates in one principal business segment across domestic and international markets. International sales, including
export sales from the United States, represented approxirnately 20%, 25%, and 33% of net sales for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. No foreign country or geographic area accounted for more than 10% of net sales in any of the
periods presented. There were no transfers between geographic areas during the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997.
Substantially all of the domestic operating results and identifiable assets are in the United States.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of its holdings of
cash and marketable securities. The Company's credit risk is managed by investing its cash and marketable securities in high-quality
money market instruments and securities of the U.S. government and its agencies, foreign governments and high-quality corporate
issuers. At Decernber 31, 1998, the Company has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
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Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic
computed
computed
Common

earnings per share excludes any dilutive effects of options, warrants and convertible securities. Basic eamings per share is
using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted eamings per share is
using the weighted-average number of common and common stock equivalent shares outstanding during the period.
equivalent shares are excluded from the computation if their effect is antidilutive.

As a result of the Company's initial public offering in May 1997, alI preferred stock automaticalIy converted into common stock.
Accordingly, the 1997 and 1996 net loss per share is a pro forma loss per share based on the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding and preferred stock on an "as ir' converted basis outstanding during each period. The Company believes
that this is a more meaningful presentation of earnings per share for periods prior to its initial public offering.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Asof January 1, 1998, the Company adopted SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for
the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components in the financiai statements. The only items of comprehensive
income (loss) that the Company currently reports are unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities and foreign currency
translation adjustments.
New Accouruing'Pronouncements
In March 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee issued Statément of Position 98-1 ("SOP 98-1 "), Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtainedfor Internai Use. SOP 98-1 requires ali costs related to the development of
internai use software other than those incurred during the application development stage to be expensed as incurred. 'Costs incurred
during the application development stage are required to be capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software.
SOP 98-1 is effectivefor the Company'sfiscal year ending December 31,1999. Adoption is not expected to have a material effect on
the Company's consolidatedfinancial
statements as the Company's policies are substantially in compliance with SOP 98-1.
In April 1998, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued SOP 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up
Activities. SOP 98-5 is effective for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 1999. SOP 98-5 requires costs of start-up
activities and organization costs to be expensed as incurred. Adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's
consolidated financiaI statements.
In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. SFAS No. 133 requires that alI derivative instruments be recorded on the
balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded each period in current eamings or other
comprehensive income, depending on whether a derivative is designed as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge
transaction. The Company does not expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 133 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements because the Company does not currently hold any derivative instruments.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
Note 2 -

BUSINESS COMBINA TIONS AND INVESTMENTS

In April 1998, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of three international Internet companies. The aggregate
purchase price of the three acquisitions, plus related charges, was approximately $55 million. The consideration for the acquisitions
was comprised of common stock and cash. The Company issued an aggregate of approximately 3.2 million shares of common stock to
effect the transactions. The goodwill andother purchased intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over two years.
In August 1998, the Company acquired alI the outstanding capital stock of Junglee Corpo ("Junglee"). Junglee is a leading provi der
of Web-based virtual database technology which allows visitors to access a variety of products sold by other merchants. The Company
issued approximately 4.7 million shares of common stock and assumed alI outstanding options and warrants in connection with the
acquisition of Junglee. The Junglee acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, with substantialIy alI of
the approximately $180 million purchase price aUocated to goodwill and other purchased intangibles. The goodwill and substantialIy
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all other purchased intangible assets are
November 1998, the Company sold the
shares of the purchaser's common stock.
classified within marketable securities in

being amortized on a straight-line basis over lives averaging approximately three years. In
employment business unit of Junglee in exchange for cash and approximately 1.7 million
There was no gain or loss recorded from this sale. The investment is recorded at cost and is
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The pro forma combined consolidated financiai information for the aggregate of all the business combinations described above and
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, as though the acquisitions had occurred on January 1 of each year, would
have resulted in net sales of $615.0 million and $155.8 million; net loss of $171.6 million and $118.7 million; and basic and diluted
loss per share of $1.12 and $0.86 for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The pro forma net loss includes
amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles of $83.0 million for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997. This unaudited
pro forma combined consolidated financiai information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of
the consolidated results of operations in future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had Amazon.com, the
intemational subsidiaries and Junglee been a combined company during the specified periods.
In August 1998, the Company exchanged common stock and options for all of the outstanding capital stock of Sage Enterprises,
Inc. ("PlanetAlI"). The Company issued approximately 2.4 million shares of common stock and assumed all outstanding options in
connection with the merger. The PlanetAlI merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests and, as a result, the Company's
consolidated financiai statements have been restated for all periods presented. PlanetAlI issued approximately 167,000 shares of
capital stock for proceeds of approximately $1.0 million and approximately 896,000 shares of capital stock for proceeds of
approxirnately $7.4 million in January 1998 and April1998, respectively.
Net sales for PlanetAlI were not significant and net loss was $4.1 million, $3.4 million and $469,000 for the nine months ended
September 30, 1998 and the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, respectively, which represent separate results of the combined
entity through the periods preceding the merger. There were no significant intercompany transactions between the two companies and
no significant conforming accounting adjustments.
As of December 31, 1998, the Company has an investment of approximately 46% in drugstore.com, inc., an online drugstore, that
is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The Company's basisin its equity investment is classified within other
purchased intangibles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the Company's share of the investee's loss is classified in
merger and acquisition related costs, including amortization of goodwill and other purchased intangibles. To date, this investment has
not materially impacted the Company's results of operations or its financiai position.
Note 3 -

MARKET ABLE SECURITIES

The following tables summarize by major security type the Company's marketable securities and their contractual maturities:
December 31 1998
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
(in tbousands)

Amortized
Cost
Commercial paper and short-term
obligations
Corporate notes and bonds
Asset-backed and agency securities
Treasury notes and bonds
Equity securities

.
.
.
.
.

$ 114,158
51,242
83,611
88,952
8.080
$ 346043

~
~

Due within one year
Due after one year through five years
Asset-backed and agency securities with various
maturities
Equity securities
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98
230

$

$

~)

.
.
.
.

(3)
(140)
(169)

Estimated
Fair Value
$ 114,180
51,351
83,569
89,013
9771
$ 341884

Amortized
Estimated
Cost
Fair Value
(in tbousands)
$ 121,411
$ 121,454
132,941
133,090
83,611
8.080
$ 346043

83,569
9771
$ 347884
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The gross realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities were not significant for the year ended December 31,
1998. The net adjustment to unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities included in accumulated other comprehensive
in come as a component of stockholders' equity totaled approximately $1.8 million.
At December 31, 1997, marketable securities consist primarily of commercial paper and short-term obligations and corporate notes
and bonds and were carried at cost, which approximates market. Unrealized holding gains and losses at December 31, 1997 were not
significant.
Note 4 -

FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets, at cost, consist of the following:

Note 5 -

LONG-TERM

Computers and equipment
Purchased software
Leasehold improvements
Leased assets

.
.
.
.

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Fixed assets, net

.
.

December 31.
1998
1997
(in thousands)
$ 33,061
$ 7,562
4,547
4,560
5,535
926
442
442
---'4-:-3,~58~5 13,490
13.794
3764
$ 29791
$ 9726

DEBT

Senior Discount Notes
In May 1998, the Company eompleted the offering of approximately $326 million gross proceeds of the Senior Discount Notes
due May I, 2008. Pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4 in September 1998, the Company eompleted an exchange offer of
10% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 (the "Exehange Notes"), which were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
for all outstanding Senior Discount Notes. The Exchange Notes have identical terms in all material respects to the terms of the original
Senior Discount Notes, except that the Exehange Notes generally are freely transferable (the Exchange Notes are referred to
throughout these notes to consolidated financial statements interchangeably with the Senior Discount Notes). The Exchange Notes
were issued under the indenture governing the original Senior Discount Notes (the "Indenture"). The Senior Discount Notes were sold
at a substantial discount from their principal amount at maturity of $530 million. Prior to November I, 2003, no cash interest
payments are required; instead, interest will acerete during this period to the $530 million aggregate principal amount at maturity.
From and after May I, 2003, the Senior Discount Notes will bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum payable in cash on each May I
and November 1. The Senior Diseount Notes are redeemable, at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at any time on or after
May 1, 2003, at the redemption prices set forth in the Indenture, plus accrued interest, if any, to the date of redemption.
The Senior Diseount Notes are senior unseeured indebtedness of the Company ranking pari passu with the Company's existing and
future unsubordinated, unsecured indebtedness and senior in right of payment to ali subordinated indebtedness of the Company. The
Senior Discount Notes are effectively subordinated to ali secured indebtedness and to ali existing and future liabilities of the
Company's subsidiaries.
The Indenture eontains eertaineovenants that, among other things, limit the ability of the Company and its Restrieted Subsidiaries
(as defined in the Indenture) to ineur indebtedness, pay dividends, prepay subordinated indebtedness, repurchase capital stock, make
investments, create liens, engage in transactions with stockholders and affiliates, sell assets and engage in mergers and eonsolidations.
However, these limitations are subjeet to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The Company was in compliance with
all financiaI covenants at Deeember 31, 1998.
A portion of the net proceeds from the offering of the Senior Diseount Notes was used to retire approximately$75
million of
indebtedness outstanding as ofDecember 31, 1997. Future principal payments related to the Senior Discount Notes do not commence
until 2008. The carrying amount of the Senior Discount Notes is approximately $347.2 million as of December 31, 1998, which
approximates fair value.
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Financing Agreement for Purchase of Fixed Assets
In November 1997, the Company purchased fixed assets through a financing agreement with a vendor having an imputed interest
rate of approximately 7.7% and a term of three years. The debt is to be repaid in four equal payments. Future debt payments related to
this financing agreement are $684,000 and $837,000 for the years ending December 31, 1999 and 2000, respectively, and none
thereafter.

Note 6 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases andMarketing

Agreements

The Company currently leases office and distribution center facilities and fixed assets under noncancelable operating and capital
leases. Rental expense under operating lease agreements for 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $8.5 million, $2.1 million and $270,000,
respecti vel y.
The Company has also entered into certain marketing agreements, which include fixed fees through 2000. The costs associated
with these agreements are recognized on a systematic basis over the term of the related agreements as services are received.
Future minimum commitments are as follows:
Operating
Leases and
Capital
Marketing
Leases
Agreements
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less imputed interest
;
Present value of net minimum lease payments
Less current portion
Long-term capitallease obligation

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

$ 145
62

$ 207

~

$

47,626
37,718
11,615
6,077
4,712
27,081
$ 134829

187
124
$ 63

Legal Proceedings
In October 1998, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. ("Wal-Mart") filed a lawsuit in Bentonville, Arkansas against the Company and other
defendants alleging actual and threatened misappropriation of trade secrets and ancillary common-law claims. Wal-Mart subsequently
requested a temporary restraining order preventing the defendants from misappropriating Wal-Mart's alleged trade secrets, from
placing employees in positions in which they would "inevitably disclose" Wal-Mart's alleged trade secrets and from soliciting,
inducing or recruiting Wal-Mart employees. In January 1999, Wal-Mart filed an identical action in Seattle, Washington, and the
Arkansas court dismissed Wal-Mart's action on jurisdictional grounds before deciding the temporary restraining order. The dismissal
is pending appeal. Wal-Mart has advised the Company that it will file a preliminary injunction motion. In addition to injunctive relief,
Wal-Mart has requested compensatory damages, pre- and postjudgment interest and attomeys' fees and costs. The Company believes
that Wal-Mart's claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend against the plaintiffs' claims, Amazon.com has filed a
counterclaim based in part on unfair competition and intentional interference. Litigation is inherently uncertain, and there can be no
assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit.
From time to time, the Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including
claims of alleged infringement of trademarks and other intellectual property rights. The Company currently is not aware of any such
legal proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on its business,
prospects, financiaI condition and operating results.
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Note 7 - STOCKHOLDERS'

EQUITY

Reincorporation and Authorized Capital
In May 1996, the Company reincorporated in the state of Delaware with authorized capital of 5
preferred stock and 25 million shares of $0.01 par value common stock. In Apri11997, the Company
stock to 100 million shares and increased its authorized preferred stock to 10 million shares. In June
number of authorized shares of common stock, from 100 million shares to 300 million shares.
financial statements have been restated to reflect these recapitalizations.

million shares of $0.01 par value
increased its authorized common
1998, the Company increased the
The accompanying consolidated

Preferred Stock
In June 1996, the Company issued 569,396 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock at a price of $14.05 per share. In January
and February 1997, the Company sold an additional 5,000 shares of Series A preferred stock at $40 per share. The preferred stock was
convertible into common stock at the option of the holder, at any time, at an effective rate of 36 shares of common stock for one share
of preferred stock. As of the closing of the Company's initial public offering, all of the preferred stock outstanding was converted into
an aggregate of 20,678,256 shares of common stock.
Common Stock
On November 23, 1996, the Company effected a 4-for-l common stock split. On April 18, 1997, the Company effected a 3-for-2
common stock split. On May 15, 1997, the Company completed an initial public offering of 18 million shares of its common stock.
Net proceeds to the Company aggregated $49.1 million. On June 1, 1998, the Company effected a 2-for-l stock split in the form of a
stock dividend to stockholders of record on May 20, 1998. On January 4, 1999, the Company effected a 3-for-l stock split in the form
of a stock dividend to the stockholders of record on December 18, 1998. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financiaI
statements have been restated to reflect these stock splits.
Stock Option Plans
The Company's stock option plans consist of the 1997 Stock Option Plan and the 1994 Stock Option Plano Shares reserved under
the plans consist of 36.0 million shares in the 1997 Stock Option Plan and 28.8 million shares in the 1994 Stock Option Plano Any
shares of common stock available for .issuance under the 1994 Stock Option Plan that are not issued under that plan may be added to
the aggregate number of shares available for issuance under the 1997 Stock Option Plano In connection with the acquisition of Junglee
and the merger with PlanetAll in August 1998, the Company assumed outstanding options to purchase common stock originally issued
under these companies' stock option plans. The Company's stock options plans as well as the assumed stock option plans are hereby
collectively referred to as the "Plans."
Generally, options are granted by the Company's Board of Directors at an exerci se price of not less than the fair market value of
the Company's common stock at the date of grant. Each outstanding option granted prior to December 20, 1996 has a term of tive
years from the date of vesting. Each outstanding option granted on or subsequent to December 20, 1996 has a term of ten years from
the date of grant. Subject to InternaI Revenue Service limitations, options granted under the Plans generally become exercisable
immediately. Optionsgenerally vest at the rate of 20% after year one, 20% after year two and 5% at the end of each quarter for years
three through five. Shares issued upon exercise of options that are unvested are restricted and subject to repurchase by the Company
upon termination of employment or services and such restrictions lapse over the original vesting schedule. At December 31, 1998,
approximately 3.9 million shares of restricted common stock were subject to repurchase.
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Stock Option Activity
The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity:

Balance January I, 1996
Options granted and assumed
Options canceled
Options exercised
Balance December 31, 1996
Options granted and assumed
Options canceled
Options exercised
Balance December 31, 1997
Options granted and assumed
Options canceled
Options exercised
Balance December 31,1998

Number
Weightedof
Average
Shares
Exercise Price
(in thousands)
10,616
$ 0.024
15,600
0.102
(3,172)
0.046
(3.027)
0.065
20,017
0.075
18,060
2.295
(2,552)
0.539
(8.193)
0.063
27,332
1.502
19,774
25.468
(3,768)
8.098
(5.333)
1.108
~
$ 13.375

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

At December 31, 1998, 12.8 million shares of common stock were available for future grant under the Plans.
The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 1998:

Rangeof
Exercise Prices
0.029
0.167
1.232
4.094
12.563
19.604
26.094
39.667
67.427
103.625
$ 0.029

$

0.111
0.778
4.021
12.271
17.875
25.771
39.479
65.729
94.479
114.479
$114.479

$

Options
Outstanding
(in thousands)
5,744
6,397
4,959
5,502
7,303
781
3,225
3,235
626

-lli

~

OQtions Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life
5.1 years
8.0 years
8.4 years
9.0 years
9.3 years
9.6 years
9.7 years
9.7 years
9.9 years
9.9 years
8.4 years

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
0.082
0.432
2.141
8.128
14.599
23.874
33.618
43.625
79.702
107.483
$ 13.375

$

OQtions Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Options
Exercise Price
Exercisable
(in thousands)
$
5,204
0.083
5,499
0.426
2.157
3,714
7.902
3,850
5,675
14.679
443
23.729
2,383
33.375
2,112
43.804
80.068
493
--1!2
107.413
22.S.62
$ 12.410

Deferred Compensation
The Company recorded aggregate deferred compensation of $2.1 million, $2.7 million and $612,000 in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively. The amounts recorded represent the difference between the grant price and the deemed fair value of the Company's
common stock for shares subject to options granted in 1998, 1997 and 1996. Options granted below fair market value and the
associated weighted average exercise price per share were 536,000 and $4.095, 8.3 million and $0.473, and 9.3 million and $0.133
during the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The amortization of deferred compensation is charged to
operations over the vesting period of the options, which is typically tive years. Total amortization recognized in 1998 and 1997 was
$2.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively. No amortization was recognized in 1996.
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Pro Forma Disclosure
The Company follows the intrinsic value method in accounting for its stock options. Had compensation cost been recognized
based on the fair value at the date of grant for options granted in 1998, 1997 and 1996, the pro forma amounts of the Company's net
loss and net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 would havebeen as follows:

Net loss - as reported
Net loss - pro forma
Basic and diluted loss per share - as
reported
Basic and diluted loss per share - pro forma

.
.
.
.

Years Ended December 31,
1998
1997
1996
(in thousands, except per share data)
$ (124,546)
$ (31,020)
$ (6,246)
(194,269)
(35,983)
(6,278)
$

(0.84)
(1.31)

$

(0.24)
(0.28)

$

(0.06)
(0.06)

The fair value for each option granted was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, assurning no
expected dividends and the following weighted-average assumptions:

Average risk-free interest rates
Average expected life (in years)
Volatility (1)

.
.
.

Years Ended December 31.
1998
1997
1996
4.7%
6.3%
6.4%
3~
3~
3~
81.6%
50.0%
0.0%

(1) Options granted prior to the Company's initial public offering and by PlanetAll prior to its merger with the Company were valued
using the minimum value method and therefore volatility was not applicable.
The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the years 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $19.07, $2.07 and $0.01,
respectively, for options granted at fair market value. The weighted-average fair value of options granted at less than fair market value
during 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $4.61, $0.55 and $0.09, respectively. Compensation expense recognized in providing pro forma
disclosures may not be representative of the effects on pro forma earnings for future years because SFAS No. 123 does not apply to
stock option grants made prior to 1995.
Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
In June 1998, pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4, the Company registered 15 million shares of its common stock,
which may from time to time be offered in connection with the acquisition of entities. Such shares may be issued in exchange for the
shares of capital stock (by merger or otherwise), partnership interests or other assets representing an interest in other companies or
other entities, or in exchange for assets used in or related to the business of such entities.
At December 31, 1998, common stock reserved for future issuance is as follows (in thousands):
Stock options.................................................... 50,853
Shelf registration
;
;.................. 15.000
Total
~

Bowne Conversion

38

Note 8 -

EARNINGS

(LOSS) PER SHARE

The following represents the calculations for net loss per share:
Years Ended December 31.

1998

1997

1996

(in thousands, except per share data)
Net loss - as reported
Weighted average shares outstanding
Pro forma adjustment for preferred stock
Weighted average common shares issued
subject to repurchase agreements
Shares used in computation of basic and
diluted loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share

.
.
.

$ 024 546)
152,472

$ (31 020)
126,559
9,478

.

(4.300)

(5.696)

.
.

$

148172
(O 84)

$

$

(6 246)
90,795
20,498
(22)

130341
(O 24)

$

111271
(Q 06)

All of the Company's stock options (see Note 7) are excluded from diluted loss per share since their effect is antidilutive.
Note 9 -

INCOME

TAXES

The Company did not provi de any current or deferred United States federal, state or foreign income tax provision or benefit for
any of the periods presented because it has experienced operating losses since inception. The Company has provided a full valuation
allowance on the deferred tax asset, consisting primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, because of uncertainty regarding its
realizability.
At December 31, 1998, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $207 million related to U.S. federal,
foreign and state jurisdictions. Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to certain limitations under Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Substantially all of these carryforwards will begin to expire at various times
starting in 2011. To the extent that net operating loss carryforwards, when realized, relate to stock option deductions of approximately
$103 million, the resulting benefits will be credited to stockholders' equity.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax
assets are approximately as follows:
,
Net operating loss carryforwards
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax assets
:

Note 10 -

EMPLOYEE

BENEFIT

.
.
.
.
.
.

December 31.

1998

1997

7,400
5400
85,900
(85,900)

2.400
13,200
<13.200)

(in thousands)
$ 73,100
$ 10,800

$

$

PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan covering substantially all of its employees. Eligible employees may contribute through
payroll deductions. The Company matches employees' contributions at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors. To date,
the Company has not matched employee contributions to the 401(k) savings plano
Note 11 -

SUBSEQUENT

EVENTS

Convertible Subordinated Notes
On February 3, 1999, the Company completed an offering of $1.25 billion of 4 %% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2009 (the
"Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes are convertible into the Company's common stock at a conversion price of $156.055 per
share, subject to adjustment in certain events and at the holders' option. Interest on the Convertible Notes is payable semiannually in
arrears on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commencing on August 1, 1999. The Convertible Notes are unsecured and are
subordinated to all existing and future Senior Indebtedness (as defined in the Convertible Notes indenture) of the Company. The
Convertible Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Company prior to February 6, 2002, in whole or in part, at the redemption
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prices set forth in the Convertible Notes indenture. The Company is obligated to file by May 4, 1999, a shelf registration statement
covering resales of the Convertible Notes and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.
Upon occurrence of any Fundamental Change (as defined in the Convertible Notes indenture) prior to the maturity of the
Convertible Notes, each holder of the Convertible Notes has the right to require the Company to redeem all or any part of the holder's
Convertible Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus any accrued interest, of the Convertible Notes being
redeemed.
The Company has or 'may use the net proceeds from the offering of the Convertible Notes for general corporate purposes,
including working capital to fund anticipated operating losses, the expansion of the Company's core business, investments in new
business segments and markets, capital expenditures, acquisitions or investments in complementary businesses, products and
technologies and repurchases and retirement of debt.
Authorized Shares
On February 10, 1999, the Board of Directors approved an increase in authorized shares of common stock and preferred stock, par
value $0.01 per share, from 300 million shares to 1.5 billion shares and from 10 million shares to 150 million shares, respectively.
This increase in authorized shares is subject to approval by the stockholders at the Company's Annual Meeting on May.20, 1999.
Stock Option Plan
On February 10, 1999, the Board of Directors approved the 1999 Nonofficer Employee Stock Option Plan, which reserves 20.0
million shares of common stock available for future issuance.
Note 12 -

QUARTERL Y RESULTS

(unaudited)

The folIowing tables contain selected unaudited Statement of Operations information for each quarter of 1998 and 1997. The
Company believes that the folIowing information reflects all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the
information for the periods presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future
period.
Year Ended December 31,1998
Third
Second
First
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
$ 252,893
$ 153,698
$ 116,010
$ 87,395
19,333
53,417
34,875
26,216
(46,427)
(45,171)
(22,579)
(10,369)
$
(0.30)
$
(0.30)
$
(0.15)
(0.07)
$
Fourth
Quarter

Net sales
Gross profit
:
Net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share(l)
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted
loss per share
,

.
.
.
.
.

154,389

150,703

146,277

141,318

Year Ended December 31,1997
First
Third
Second
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)
$ 66,040
$ 37,887
$ 27,855
$ 16,005
12,913
7,170
5,214
3,521
(10,808)
(9,647)
(7,345)
(3,220)
$
(0.08)
$
(0.07)
$
(0.06)
(0.03)
$
Fourth
Quarter

Net sales
Gross profit.
Net loss
Basicand diluted loss per share
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted
loss per share

.
.
.
.
.

139,413

137,595

127,920

116,430

(1) The sum of quarterly per share amounts may not equal per share amounts reported for year-to-date periods. This is due to changes
in the number of weighted average shares outstanding and the effects of rounding for each period.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financiai Disclosure
None.

PARTIU
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
Information regarding the Company's executive officers required by Part Ill, Item 10, is set forth in Item
the caption "Executive Officers and Directors." Information required by Part Ill, Item 10, regarding the
included in the Company's Proxy Statement relating to the Company's annual meeting of stockholders to be
and is incorporated herein by reference. Information relating to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities
as amended, is set forth in the Proxy Statement and incorporated herein by reference.

1 of Part I herein under
Company's directors is
held on May 20, 1999,
Exchange Act of 1934,

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by Part 111, Item 11, is included in the Company's Proxy Statement relating to the Company's annual meeting
of stockholders to be held on May 20, 1999, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiai Owners and Management
Information required by Part Ill, Item 12, is included in the Company's Proxy Statement relating to the Company's annual meeting
of stockholders to be held on May 20, 1999, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Information regarding certain of the Company's relationships and related transactions is included in the Company's Proxy
Statement relating to the Company's annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 20, 1999, and is incorporated herein by
reference.

PARTIV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financiai Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) List of Documents Filed as a Part ofThis Annual Report:
(1) Index to Consolidated

FinanciaI Statements:

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
Consólidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1998 and 1997
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the three years ended December 31, 1998
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for each of the three years ended December 31, 1998
Consolidated Statements ofCash Flows for each ofthethreeyears
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Index to FinanciaI
Schedule 11 -
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Schedules:

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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ended December 31,1998

All other scheduIes have been omitted because the required information is included in the consolidated financiaI statements or the
notes thereto, or is not applicabIe or required.
(3) Index to Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

2.1

2.2

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4
4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8
10.1t

1O.2t
10.3t

lO.4t

10.5t
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Description

Agreement and PIan of Merger dated as of August 3, 1998, by and among Amazon.com, Inc., AJ Acquisition,
Inc. and JungIee Corporation (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
August 3, 1998).
Agreement and PIan of Merger dated as of August 3, 1998, by and among Amazon.com, Inc., Pacific
Acquisition, Inc. and Sage Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K dated August 3, 1998).
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-55943) fiIed June 3, 1998).
Restated ByIaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 1998).
Indenture, dated as of May 8, 1998, between Amazon.com, Inc. and the Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended
March31; 1998).
Form of 10% Senior Discount Notes Due 2008 (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-56723) filed June 12, 1998).
Registration Rights Agreement entered into on May 8, 1998, between Amazon.com, Inc. and Morgan StanIey &
Co. Incorporated (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form IO-Q for the Quarterly
Period Ended March 31, 1998).
Form of Investor Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the former stockhoIders of Junglee
Corpo(incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 3, 1998).
Form of Investor Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the former stockholders of Sage
Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by referenceto the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 3,
1998).
Registration Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the former stockholders of Telebook, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-65091)
fiIed September 30, 1998).
Indenture, dated as of February 3, 1999,between Amazon.com, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as trustee,
including the form of 4 %% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2009 attached as Exhibit A thereto
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 1999).
Registration Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the Initial Purchasers (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 1999).
Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option PIan (version as of December 20, 1996 for Amended and Restated
Grants and version as of December 20, 1996 for NewGrants) (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).
1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its Directors and Executive Officers
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23795)
filed March 24, 1997).
Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 6, 1995, from the Company to Tom A.
Alberg (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).
Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 6, 1995, from the Company to Tom A.
Alberg (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).
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Exhibit
Number

Description

1O.6t

Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 20, 1996, from the Company to Joy D.
Covey (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).

10.7t

Incentive Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 20, 1996, from the Company to Joy D. Covey
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23795)
filed March 24, 1997).

10.8

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of June 21, 1996, by and among the Company, Kleiner Perkins Caufield &
Byers VIII, KPCB Information Sciences Zaibatsu Fund II and Jeffrey P. Bezos (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).

10.9

Lease Agreement, dated August 22, 1997, by and between the Company and McConnell Development, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended
September 30, 1997).

10.10

Lease Agreement, dated Apri117, 1998, by and between Bookpages Limited and Amazon.com, Inc. and SIough
Trading Estate Limited (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period Ended June 30, 1998).

10.11

Lease Agreement, dated August 31, 1998, by and between Amazon.com, Inc. and WRC.COM Tower LLC
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended
September 30, 1998).

1O.12t

Junglee Corpo 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed October 1, 1998).

10.13
21.1

Lease Agreement, dated December 14, 1998, by and between Amazon.com, Inc. and Panattoni Carlsen Rieger.
List of Subsidiaries.

23.1

Consent of Emst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.

27.1

FinanciaI Data Schedule.

t Executive Compensation Plan or Agreement

(b) Reports

00

Form 8-K:

On October 26, 1998, the Company fiIed a Form 8-KlA under Item 5, which amended the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
dated August 12, 1998, regarding its acquisition of Junglee Corpo
On October 28, 1998, the Company filed a Form 8-K under Item 5 announcing its financial results for the third quarter of 1998.
On November 20, 1998, the Company filed a Form 8-K under Item 5 announcing the approval by the Board of Directors of a 3for-I stock split of its common stock,
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalfby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
AMAZON.COM,

INC.

Date: March 5, 1999
By:

/s/
JEFFREY P. BEZOS
Jeffrey P. Bezos
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.
/s/ JEFFREY P. BEZOS
Jeffrey P. Bezos

/s/ JOY D. COVEY
JoyD. Covey

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance and
Administration (Principal FinanciaI and Accounting Officer)

/s/ TOM A. ALBERG
Tom A. Alberg

Director

/s/ SCOTT D. COOK
Scott D. Cook

Director

/s/ L. JOHN DOERR
L. John Doerr

Director

/s/ PATRICIA O. STONESIFER
Patricia Q. Stonesifer

Director
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AMAZON.COM,
SCHEDULE

11-

VALUATION

INC.

ANO QUALIFYING

ACCOUNTS

Inventory Valuation Allowance
Balance at
Beginning
ofPeriod

YearEnded
December 31, 1998
December 31, 1997
December31,1996

Bowne Conversion

.
.
.

Chargedl
(Credited)
Inventory
to Costs
. Disposed or
and Expenses
Written Off
(in thousands)

~

~)

$

$

L-8illl
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L-=

Balance at
Endof
Period

INDEX TO EXHIDITS
Exhibit
Number

2.1

2.2

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4
4.5

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 3, 1998, by and among Amazon.com, Inc., AJ Acquisition,
Inc. and Junglee Corporation (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
August 3, 1998).
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 3, 1998, by and among Amazon.com, Inc., Pacific
Acquisition, Inc. and Sage Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form
8-K dated August 3,1998).
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-55943) filed June 3, 1998).
Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 1998).
Indenture, dated as of May 8, 1998, between Amazon.com, Inc. and the Bank of New York, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period Ended
March 31,1998).
Form of 10% Senior Discount Notes Due 2008 (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-56723) filed June 12, 1998).
Registration Rights Agreement entered into on May 8, 1998, between Amazon.com, Inc. and Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the Quarterly
Period Ended March 31, 1998).
Form of Investor Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the former stockholders of Junglee
Corpo(incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 3, 1998).
Form of Investor Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the formerstockholders of Sage
Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 3,
1998).

4.6

Registration Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc.and the former stockholders of Telebook, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-65091)
filed September 30, 1998).

4.7

Indenture, dated as of February 3, 1999, between Amazon.com, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as trustee,
including the form of 4 %% Convertible Subordinated Note Due 2009 attached as Exhibit A thereto
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 1999).
Registration Rights Agreement by and among Amazon.com, Inc. and the lnitial Purchasers (incorporated by
reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 3, 1999).
Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (version as of December 20, 1996 for Amended and Restated
Grants and version as of December 20, 1996 for New Grants) (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-l (Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).
1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its Directors and Executive Officers
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-23795)
filed March 24, 1997).
Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 6, 1995, from the Company to Tom A.
Alberg (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement onForm S-l (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).
Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 6, 1995, from the Company to Tom A.
Alberg (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).
Non-Qualified Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 20, 1996, from the Company to Joy D.
Covey (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33323795) filed March 24, 1997).

4.8
10.1t

1O.2t
10.3t

lO.4t

1O.5t

1O.6t
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Exhibit
Number

Description

1O.7t

Incentive Stock Option Letter Agreement, effective December 20, 1996, from the Company to Joy D. Covey
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-l (Registration No. 333-23795)
filed March 24, 1997).

10.8

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of June 21, 1996, by and among the Company, K1einer Perkins Caufield &
Byers VIII, KPCB Information Sciences Zaibatsu Fund II and Jeffrey P. Bezos (incorporated by reference to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-l (Registration No. 333-23795) filed March 24, 1997).

10.9

Lease Agreement, dated August 22, 1997, by and between the Company and McConnell Development, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarter1y Report on Form lO-Q for the Quarter1y Period Ended
September 30, 1997).

10.10

Lease Agreement, dated Apri117, 1998, by and between Bookpages Limited and Amazon.com, Inc. and Slough
Trading Estate Lirnited (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarter1y Report on Form lO-Q for the
Quarter1y Period Ended June 30, 1998).

10.11

Lease Agreement, dated August 31, 1998, by and between Amazon.com, Inc. and WRC.COM Tower LLC
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarter1y Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter1y Period Ended
September 30, 1998).

1O.12t

JungIee Corpo 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed October 1, 1998).

10.13
21.1

Lease Agreement, dated December 14, 1998, by and between Amazon.com, Inc. and Panattoni Carlsen Rieger.

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.

27.1

FinanciaI Data Schedule,

List of Subsidiaries.

t Executive Compensation Plan or Agreement
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Anexo 5-

Barnes & Nobles: 1998 Annual Report

B A R N E S

&

N O B L E
1998

FINANCIAL

SHAREHOLDER

ANNUAL

REPORT

DATA

&

INFORMATION

SELE.CIED ....CONS.O.LID.AIED....fINAN.CIAL ...DAIA.
The selected consolidated financial data of Barnes &
Noble, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively,the
Company) set forth on the following pages should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
notes included elsewhere in this reporto The Company's fiscal
year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the Saturday
closest to the last day ofJanuary. The Statement of Operations
Data for the 52 weeks endedJanuary 30,1999 (fiscal 1998), the
52 weeks endedJanuary 31, 1998 (fiscal 1997)and the 53 weeks
ended February 1, 1997 (fiscal 1996) and the Balance Sheet
Data as ofJanuary 30, 1999 andJanuary 31, 1998 are derived
from, and are qualified by reference to, audited consolidated
financia! statements which are included elsewhere in this reporto
The Statement of Operations Data for the 52 weeks ended
January 27, 1996 (fiscal 1995)andJanuary 28, 1995 (fiscal1994)
and the Balance Sheet Data as ofFebruary 1, 1997,January 27,
1996andJanuary 28, 1995are derived from audited consolidated
financial statements not included in this reporto Certain priorperiod amounts have been reclassifiedfor comparative purposes.

SELECTED CDNSOLlDATED FINANCIAL DATA CONT/NUED

Fiscal Year

1998

1997

1996

1995

1994

Barnes & Noble stores
B. Dalton stores
barnesandnoble.com
Other

$ 2,515,352

2,245,531
509,389
14,601
27,331

1,861,177
564,926

1,349,830
603,204

952,697
646,876

22,021

23,866

23,158

Total sales
Cost of sales and occupancy

3,005,608
__ ,b!:!2,717

2,448,124
_!,785,39~

1,976,900
__1-~~4 ,5.~

1,622,731
1,192,12ª

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

STATEMENT

OF OPERATIONS

DATA:

5ales
468,414
21,842

Gross profit
Selling and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Pre-opening expenses
Restructuring charqe'"

862,891
577,195
88,345
8,795

777,561
540,423
76,951
12,918

662,732
465,687
59,806
17,571

532,345
383,692
47,881
12,160
..__ ..123_,.?68

188,556

147,269

119,668

(35,156)

68,513

(24,412)
(71,334)
63,759

(37,666)

(38,286)

(28,142)

(22,955)

156,569

109,603
44,935

81,382
30,157

(63,298)
(10,3?~)

45,558
20,085

92,376

64,668
11,499

51,225

(52,976)

25,473

i$

92,376

53,169

51,225

(52,976)

25,473

1$
$
i$

1.35

0.96
0.17
0.79

0.77

(0.85)

0.42

0.77

(0.85)

0.42

0.93
0.17
0.76

0.75

(0.85)

0.41

0.75

(0.85)

0.41

!---_.-

Operating profit (Ioss)
Interest expense, net and amortization of
deferred financing fees(2)
Equity in net loss of barnesandnoble.com
IId3)
Gain on formation of barnesandnoble.com
IId4)
Earnings (1055) before provision (benefit)
for income taxes and extraordinary charge
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary
Extraordinary charge(S)

~ __§~_J?l

charge

Net earnings (Ioss)
Earnings (Ioss) per common share
Basic
Earnings (Ioss) before extraordinary charge
Extraordinary charge
Net earnings (Ioss)
Diluted
Earnings (Ioss) before extraordinary charge'
Extraordinary charge
Net earnings (Ioss)
Weighted average common
shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted
OTHER OPERATING

$
$
$

1.35
1.29
1.29

68,435,000
71,677,000

430,608
316,457
36,617
9,021

-----

._-_ ...__ .....-

67,237,000
69,836,000

66,103,000
67,886,000

62,434,000
62,434,000

59,970,000
61,560,000

DATA:

Number of Stores
Barnes & Noble stores'"
B. Dalton stores'"

_._-_489-

483
528

431
577

358
639

268
698

1,009

1,011

1,008

997

966

6.9%
(4.3)

12.6%
(2.3)

520
..

Total
Comparable store sales increase (decrease)(8)
Barnes & Noble stores
B. Dalton stores
Capital Expenditures
BALANCE

2,796,852
2,019,291

5.0%
(1.4)

9.4%
(1.1)

7.3%
(1.0)

141,388

121,903

171,885

:$ 315,989
$ 1,807,597
$ 249,100
$ 678,789

264,719
1,591,171
284,800
531,755

212,692
1,446,647
290,000
455,989

:$

154,913

88,763

SHEET DATA:

Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt, less current portions
?hareholders' equity

226,500
1,315,342
262,400
400,235

155,976
1,026,418
190,000
358,173

---_.-

SELECTED

CONSOLIDATED

(In thousands

FINANCIAL

DATA CONTlNUED

of dollars)

(1) Restructuring charge indudes restructuring and asset
impairment lesses recognized upon adoption of Statement
of financiai Accounting Standards No. 121, "lmpairment
of Long-Lived Assets and Assets to be Disposed Of."
(2) Interest expense for fiscal 1998, 1997,1996, 1995 and 1994
is net of interest income of $976, $446, $2,288, $2,138 and
$3,008, respectively.
(3) On November 12, 1998, the Company and Bertelsmann
AG (Bertelsmann) completed the formation of a limited
liability company to operate the online retail bookselling
operations of the Company's wholly owned subsidiary,
barnesandnoble.com inc. barnesandnoble.com inc. began
operations in fiscal 1997.As a result of the formation of
barnesandnoble.comllc (barnesandnoble.com),the Company
began accounting for its interest in barnesandnoble.com
under the equity method of accounting as of the beginning
of fiscal 1998. Fiscal 1998 reflects a one-hundred percent
equity interest in barnesandnoble.com for the first three
quarters ended October 31, 1998 (aiso the effective date of
the limited liability company agreement), and a fifry percent equity interest beginning on November 1, 1998
through the end of the fiscal year. Had the Company
reported the results of barnesandnoble.com inc. under the
equity method of accounting during fiscal 1997,its fiscal
1997 equity in the net loss of barnesandnoble.com inc.
would have been $15,395.

(4) As a result of the formation of the limited liability company,
the Company has recognized a pre-tax gain during fiscal
1998 in the amount of $126,435, of which $63,759 has
been recognized in earnings based on the $75,000 received
directly from Bertelsmann and $62,676 ($36,351 after
taxes) has been reflected in additional paid-in capitaI based
on the Company's share of the incrementai equity of the
joint venture resulting from the $150,000 Bertelsmann
contribution.
(5) Reflects a net extraordinary charge during fiscal 1997 due
to the early extinguishment of debt, consisting of: (i) a pretax charge of $11,281 associated with the redemption
premium on the Company's senior subordinated notes; (ii)
the associated write-off of $8,209 of unamortized deferred
fmancecosts; and (iii) the related tax benefits of $7,991 on
the extraordinary charge.
(6) Also indudes 15 Bookstop and 25 Bookstar stores as of
January 30, 1999.
(7) Also indudes 15 Doubleday Book Shops, eight Scribner's
Bookstores and seven smaller format bookstores operated
under the Barnes & Nobletrade name representing the
Company's original retail strategy as ofJanuary 30, 1999.
(8) Comparable store sales increase (decrease) is calculated on
a 52-week basis, and indudes sales of stores that have been
open for 12 months for B. Dalton stores and 15months for
Barnes & Noble stores (due to the high sales volume associated with grand openings). Comparable store sales for
fiscal years 1998, 1997 and 1996 indude relocated Barnes
& Noble stores and exdude B. Dalton stores which the
Company has dosed or has a formal plan to dose.
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level through efficiencies m receiving,
returns processing.

The Company's fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks,
ending on the Saturday closest to the last day of January. As
used in this section, "fiscal 1998" represents the 52 weeks ended
January 30, 1999, "fiscal 1997" represents the 52 weeks ended
January 31, 1998 and "fiscal 1996" represents the 53 weeks
ended February 1, 1997.

Barnes & Noble stores opened during fiscal 1998 added 1.3
million square feet to the Barnes & Noble base, bringing the
total square footage to 11.9 million square feet, a 10% increase
over the prior year. Barnes & Noble stores contributed more
than 84% of the Company's total sales in fiscal 1998. The
Company plans to open approximately 50 Barnes & Noble
stores in 1999 which are expected to average 26,000 square feet
in size.

.GfneraL ...

_

Barnes & Noble, Inc. (Barnes & Noble or the Company), the
world's largest booksellerf as ofJanuary 30, 1999 operates 1,009
bookstores. Of these 1,009 stores, 520 operate under the Barnes
& Noble Booksellers,Bookstop and Bookstar trade names, (50 of
which were opened in fiscal 1998), and 489 operate under the
B. Dalton Bookseller, Doubleday Book Shops and Scribner's
Bookstore trade names. Through its fifty percent interest in
barnesandnoble.com llc (barnesandnoble.com), the Company is
also the world's largest bookseller on the World Wide Web
(http://www.barnesandnoble.com) and the exclusive bookseller
on America Online (keyword: bn). Barnes & Noble publishes
books under its own imprint for exclusive sale through its retail
stores, maíl-order catalogs and barnesandnoble.com. The
Company employed approximately 29,000 full- and part-time
booksellers and created nearly 2,000 new jobs nationwide during
fiscal 1998 primarily due to its Barnes & Noble store expansion.
Barnes & Noble is the largest operator of book "super"
stores in the United States* with 520 Barnes & Noble stores
located in 49 states and the District of Columbia as ofJanuary
30, 1999. With more than 30 years of bookselling experience,
managernent has a strong sense of customers' changing needs
and the Company leads book retailing with a "community
store" concept.Barnes & Noble's typical store offers a comprehensive title base, a cafe, a children's section, a music department anda calendar of ongoing events, including author
appearances and children's activíties, that make each Barnes &
Noble store an active part of its community.
Barnes & Noble stores range in size from 10,000 to 60,000
square feet depending upon market size, and each store features
a comprehensive selection of books, ranging from 60,000 to
175,000 titles: The title selection is diverse and reflects local
interests. In addition, Barnes & Noble emphasizes books
published by small and independent publishers and university
presses. Bestsellers represent only 3% of Barnes & Noble store
sales. Complementing this extensive on-site selection, alI Barnes
& Noble stores provide customers with access to the millions of
books available to online shoppers while offering an option to
have the book sent to the store or shipped direcdy to the customer. During fiscal 1999 the Company expects to complete
installation ofBookMastei, the Company's new in-storeoperating system, in all Barnes & Noble stores. BookMaster enhances
our existing merchandise replenishment systems, resulting in
higher in-stock positions and better productivíty at the store

cashiering

and

At the end of fiscal 1998, the Company operated 489
B. Dalton stores in 45 states and the District of Columbia.
B. Dalton stores employ merchandising strategies that target the
"middle-American" consumer book market, offering a wide
range of bestsellers and general-interest titles. Most B. Dalton
stores range in size from 2,800 to 6,000 square feet, and while
they are appropriate to the size of adjacent mall tenants, the
opening of superstores in nearby locations continues to have a
significant impact on B. Dalton stores.
The Company is continuing to execute its strategy to
maximize returns from its B. Dalton division in response to
declining sales attributable to superstore competition and
weaker overall consumer traffic in shopping malls. Part of the
Company's strategy has been to close underperforming stores,
which has resulted in the closing of, on average, between 40 and
60 B. Dalton stores per year since 1989.
barnesandnoble.com, a limited liability company created in
November 1998 (as discussed more fully below) was formed by
combining the online bookselling operations of the Company
with funds contributed by the international media company
Bertelsmann AG (Bertelsmann), one of the largest integrated
media companies in the world. barnesandnoble.com has the
world's largest selection of books* - more than eight million
in-print and out-of-print books. In less than two years of
operations, it has become the fourth most-trafficked e-commerce
site and among the top 25 largest overall sites on the
Internet, as of December 1998, according to Media Metrix.
barnesandnoble.com has access to the largest standing inventory
of any online bookseller with more than 750,000 titles ready for
immediate delivery. The site's database features more than six
and one half million out-of-print and rare books, as well as the
largest online selection of bargain books discounted up to
90 percent. During 1998, many major enhancements were introduced, including one-clickordering, a powerful and user friendly
search engine, email book reviews and product-notification
services, Software and Magazine stores, a Gift Center and
Bargain Book store and online gift certificates.Also during 1998,
the site began to add music and vídeo to its product offerings, as
well as an out-of-print book service. barnesandnoble.com is the
exclusive bookseller to America Online (AOL)'s more than 16
million subscribers. The Company's affiliate network pays the
highest commissions with the best linking and best reporting
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tools, including daily updated sales information, and is the leader
in business-to-business e-commerce with its unique Business
Solutions programo
The Company further differentiates its product ofTerings
from those of its competitors by publishing books under its own
Barnes & Noble Books imprint for exclusive sale in its retaiI
stores, direct-mail catalogs and through barnesandnoble.com.
With publishing and distribucion rights to over 2,000 titles,

CONTlNUEO

Barnes & Noble Books ofTerscustomers hígh-qualiry books at
excepcional values, while generating attractive gross margins.
The Company also maintains an investment in Chapters
Inc., an Ontario company which is publicly traded on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. Chapters is the Iargest book retaiIer in
Canada and the third Iargest in North Americat operating 327
bookstores, including 52 superstores, as of the end of fiscal 1998.

Res.u1ts_oL(lp.er.afums,

_

The Company's sales, operating profit, comparable store sales, store openings, store cIosings, number of stores open and square
feet of selling space at year end are set forth below:
Fiscal Year
(In thousands

1998

1997

1996

01 dollars)

Sales'"
Operating

$3.005.608
Profit'"

Comparable

$

188.556

2,796.852
147.269

2,448.124
119,668

Store Sales Increase (Oecreasel'"

Barnes & Noble stores
B. Dalton stores

5.0%
(1.4)

9.4%
(1.1)

7.3%
(1.0)

Stores Opened
Barnes & Noble stores

50
4

65
4

91

B. Dalton stores
Total

54

69

101

10

Stores Closed
Barnes & Noble stores
B. Dalton stores
Total
Number of Stores Open at Year End
Barnes & Noble stores
B. Dalton stores
Total.
Square Feet of Selling Space at Year End
Barnes & Noble stores

13

13

43

53

18
72

56

66

90

520
489

483
528

431
577

1,009

1,011

1,008

(In millions)

B. Dalton stores

11.9
1.9

10.8
2.0

9.3
2.2

Total

13.8

12.8

11.5

('IInc1uded in fiscal 1997are sales and opcrating losses associatcd wilh bamesandnoblc.com of $14,601 and ($15,395),respectivc1y.Bc~ning ~ flS~ 1998 lhe Comp",,;y's
Consolidated Statement of Opcrations presents its equity in lhe results of operations of barnesandnoblc.com as a single line Item below operatmg
profit in accordance wilh lhe cquity method ofaccounting. The Company's cquity in lhe net loss ofbamesandnoble.com for fiscal 1998 was ($71,334).
(21 Comparable store sales for B. Dalton stores are dctcrmined using stores open at least 12 months. Comparable store salcs for Barnes. 8< Noble stores ",:e
dctcrmincd using stores open at least 15 months, due to lhe high sales volume associatcd wilh grand openings. Comparable store sales mcrease (decrease) IS
cornputcd on a 52-week basis for fiscal 1996.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage relationship that certain items bear to total sales of
the Company:
FiscalYear

1998

1997

1996

100.0%
71,:3

100.0%

100.0%
72.9

Gross margin
Selling and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Pre-opening expenses

28,7

27.8

19.2
2.9
0.3

19.3
2.8
0.4

Operating margin(1)
Interest expense, net and amortization of deferred financing fees
Equity in net loss of barnesandnoble.com IIc
Gain on formation of barnesandnoble.com IIc

.,&3

5.3
(1.4)

4.9
(1.6)

3.9
1.6

3.3
1.2

2.3
0.4

2.1

______

._.

._.

o

Sales
Cost of sales and occupancy

Earnings before provision for income taxes
and extraordinary charge(1)
Provisionfor income taxes'"

(0.8)
(2.4)

27.1
19.0
2.5
0.7

2.1

5.2
2.1

Earnings before extraordinary charqe'"
Extraordinarycharge, net
3J%
(1)

72.2

1.9%

2.1%

If operating margin, earnings before provision for income taxes and cxtraordinary charge, provision for ineome taxes and earnings before cxtraordinary charge were
presented without barnesandnoble.com during Iiscal1997, the percentage relationship that these items would bear to total sales of the Company would be 5.8%, 4.5%,
1.8%and 2.7%

52 Weeks Ended January 30, 1999 Compared
w.ith ...52 ...W.eeks....End.ed ...J.anuary31. 1998
Sales
The Company's sales increased 7.5% during fiscal 1998 to
$3.006 billion from $2.797 billion during fiscal 1997.Fiscal 1998
sales from Barnes & Noble stores, which contributed 83.7% of
total sales, increased 12.0% to $2.515 billion from $2.246 billion
in fiscal 1997.
The increase in sales was primarily due to the 5.0% increase
in Barnes & Noble comparable store sales and the opening of an
additional 50 Barnes & Noble stores during 1998. This increase
was slighrly offset by declining sales ofB. Dalton, due to 43 store
closings and a comparable store sales decline of 1.4%. In addirion, fiscal 1997 includes barnesandnoble.com sales of $14.6
million whereas fiscal 1998 does not include sales for barnesandnoble.com due to the conversion to the equity method of
accounting as of the beginning of the year. Excluding
barnesandnoble.com sales in fiscal 1997, retail sales increased
8.0% during fiscal 1998.

Cost of Sales and Occupancy
The Company's cost of sales and occupancy includes costs
such as rental expense, common area maintenance, merchant
associarion dues, lease-required advertising and adjustments
for LIFa.
Cost of sales and occupancy increased to $2.143 billion in
fiscal 1998 from $2.019 billion in fiscal 1997.The Company's
gross margin rate increased to 28.7% in fiscal 1998 from 27.8%in
fiscal 1997.Excluding barnesandnoble.com in fiscal 1997the retail
gross margin rate was 27.9%.The current year improvement in
gross margin reflects more direct buying, increased distribution
center efficiencies,better shrinkage control, and a more-favorable
merchandise mixo
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Se//ing and Administrative Expenses
Selling and administrative expenses increased $36.8
million, or 6.8% to $577.2 million in fiscal 1998 from $540.4
million in fiscal 1997. Selling and administrative expenses
decreased slightly to 19.2% of sales during fiscal 1998 from
19.3% during fiscal 1997 primarily as a result of the start-up
expenses from barnesandnoble.com included in the fiscal 1997
results. Excluding barnesandnoble.com, retail selling and
administrative expenses would have been 18.9% of sales in fiscal 1997 and total retail selling and administrative expenses
would have increased 9.9% in fiscal 1998. The current year
increase in retail selling and administrative expenses reflects the
opening of an additional50 Barnes & Noble stores, the full year
implementation of a new wage plan, and expenses associated
with new store system enhancements.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $11.3 million, or
14.8%, to $88.3 million in fiscal 1998 from $77.0million in fiscal
1997.The increase was primarily the result of the new Barnes &
Noble stores opened during fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1997,as weH
as new store system enhancements made during fiscal 1998.
Pre-Opening Expenses
Pre-opening expenses declined in fiscal 1998 to $8.8
million from $12.9 million in fiscal 1997 reflecting fewer new
stores compared with prior years.
Operating Profit
Operating profit increased to $188.6 million in fiscal 1998
from $147.3million in fiscal 1997.Excluding the $15.4 million
operating loss for barnesandnoble.com included in fiscal.1997,
retail operating margin improved to 6.3% of sales during fiscal
1998 from 5.8% of sales in fiscal 1997.
/nterest Expense, Net and Amortization
of Deferred Financing Fees
Interest expense, net of interest income, and amortization of
deferred financing fees decreased 35.2% or $13.3 million in fiscal
1998 to $24.4 million from $37.7 million in fiscal 1997. The
decline was the result of the retirement of $190 million in 11]/8%
senior subordinated notes on January 15, 1998 as well as the
more-favorable rate environment and lower spreads over the
London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) in effect since the
November 1997refinancing.

CONTlNUED

Equity in Net Loss of barnesandnob/e. com /Ie
As a result of the formation of the limited liability company
with Bertelsmann, the Company began accounting for its interest in barnesandnoble.com under the equity method of accounting as of the beginning of fiscal 1998. The Company's equity in
the net loss ofbarnesandnoble.com for fiscal 1998 was $71.3million. This reflects a one-hundred percent equity interest for the
first three quarters ended October 31, 1998 (also the effective
date of the limited liability company agreement), and a fúty percent equity interest beginning on November 1, 1998 through the
end of the fiscal year. Had the Company reported the results of
barnesandnoble.com under the equity method of accounting
during fiscal 1997, its fiscal 1997 equity in the net loss of
bamesandnoble.com would have been $15.4 million.
Gain on Formation of barnesandnob/e.com /Ie
As a result of the formation of the limited liability company, resulting in the receipt of $75 million by the Company
from Bertelsmann, a gain was recorded in fiscal 1998 in the
amount of $63.8 million. The gain represents the excess of the
amount received over the portion of the net assets of
barnesandnoble.com sold by the Company to Bertelsmann.
Provision for /ncome Taxes
Barnes & Noble's effective tax rate was 41.0% during both
fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1997.
Earnings
Fiscal 1998 earnings before extraordinary charge increased
$27.7 million, or 42.8%, to $92.4 million (or $1.29 per diluted
share) from $64.7 million (or $0.93 per diluted share) during fiscal 1997.Before the effect of barnesandnoble.com, retail earnings
before extraordinary charge increased $23.0 million, or 31.3%to
$96.8 million (or $1.35 per diluted share) from $73.8 million (or
$1.06 per diluted share).
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Sales
The Company's sales increased 14.2%during fiscal 1997 to
$2.797 billion from $2.448 billion during fiscal 1996. Fiscal 1996
includes 53 weeks; excluding the impact of the 53rd week, sales
increased 16.0%. Fiscal 1997 sales from Barnes & Noble stores,
which contributed 80.3% of total sales, increased 20.7% to
$2.246 billion from $1.861 billion in fiscal 1996.
The increase in sales was primarily due to the 9.4% increase
in Barnes & Noble comparable store sales and the opening of an
additional 65 Barnes & Noble stores during 1997.This increase
was slighdy offset by declining sales of B. Dalton stores which
closed 53 stores and posted a comparable store sales decline of
1.1%. The inclusion of barnesandnoble.com as a consolidated
wholly owned subsidiary also contributed to the increase in sales,
posting $14.6 million of sales during its first year of operations.
Cost of Sales and Occupancy
The Company's cost of sales and occupancy includes costs
such as rental expense, common area maintenance, merchant
association dues, lease-required advertising and adjustments
for LIFO.
Cost of sales and occupancy increased 13.1% during
fiscal 1997 to $2.019 billion from $1.785 billion in fiscal 1996.
The Company's gross margin rate increased to 27.8% in
fiscal 1997 from 27.1% in fiscal 1996. The gross margin expansion reflects more direct buying, reduced costs of shipping and
handling, and improvements in merchandise mixo
Selling and Administrative Expenses
Selling and administrative expenses increased $74.7
million, or 16.0% to $540.4 million in fiscal 1997 from $465.7
million in fiscal 1996. Selling and administrative expenses
increased to 19.3% of sales during fiscal 1997 from 19.0%
during fiscal 1996 primarily as a result of the start-up expenses
from barnesandnoble.com. Excluding barnesandnoble.com,
selling and administrative expenses would have declined to
18.9%of sales, reflecting operating leverage improvement ..
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $17.2 million, or
28.8%, to $77.0million in fiscal 1997from $59.8 million in fiscal
1996. The increase was primarily the result of the new Barnes
& Noble stores opened during fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996.
Pre-Opening Expenses
Pre-opening expenses declined in fiscal 1997 to $12.9
million from $17.6 million in fiscal 1996 reflecting fewer new
stores compared with prioryears.
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Operating Profit
Operating profit increased to $147.3million in fiscal 1997
from $119.7 million in fiscal 1996. Despite the $15.4 million
operating loss from barnesandnoble.com, operating margin
improved to 5.3% of sales during fiscal 1997 from 4.9% of sales
during fiscal 1996. Excluding barnesandnoble.com, retail operating margin improved to 5.8% of sales.
Interest Expense, Net and Amortization of Deferred
Financing Fees
Interest expense, net of interest income, and amortization:
of deferred financing fees decreased $0.6 million in fiscal 1997
to $37.7 million from $38.3 million in fiscal 1996. The decline
was primarily due to lower borrowings under the Company's
senior credit facilities.
Provision for /ncome Taxes
Barnes & Noble's effective tax rate was 41.0% during
fiscal 1997 compared with 37.1% during fiscal 1996. The
fiscal 1996provision reflected a non-recurring $3.0 million rehabilitation tax credito
Extraordinary Charge
As a result of obtaining a new senior credit facilityduring fiscal 1997, the Company called its outstanding $190 million,
11-7/8%senior subordinated notes onJanuary 15, 1998, at a call
prernium of 5.9375%. The extraordinary charge reflects (on an
after-tax basis) such call premium along with the write-offof related deferred fmancing fees.
Earnings
. Fiscal 1997earnings before extraordinary charge increased
$13.4 million, or 26.2%, to $64.7 million (or $0.93 per diluted
share) from $51.2million (or $0.75 per diluted share) during fiscal 1996. The extraordinary charge in fiscal 1997 of $11.5 million equated to $0.17 per diluted share resulting in net earnings
during fiscal 1997 of $53.2 million (or $0.76 per diluted share).
All fiscal 1997 and 1996 share and per-share amounts contained in this annual report have been restated to reflect a twofor-one split of the Company's common stock.in September of
1997, and the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 128, "Earnings per Share" (SFAS 128).
Implementation of SFAS 128 did not have a material effect on
the Company's diluted earnings per share. SFAS 128 requires
the disclosure of basic earnings per share in addition to diluted
earnings per share.

Seas.o.naliiyl-
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The Company's business, like that of many retailers, is
seasonal,with the major portion of sales and operating profit
realized during the quarter which includes the Christmas selling
season. The growth in Barnes & Noble stores continues to
reduce such seasonal fluctuation.The Company has now reported
operating profit foreleven consecutive quarters.
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Working capital requirements are generally at their highest
during the Company's fiscal quarter ending on or aboutJanuary
31 due to the higher payments to vendors for holiday season
merchandise purchases and the replenishment of merchandise
inventories following this period of increased sales. In addition,
the Company's sales and merchandise inventory leveis will
fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter as a result of the number and
tinúng of new store openings, as well as the amount and tinúng
of sales contributed by new stores.
Cash flows from operating activities, funds available under
its revolving credit facility and vendor financing continue to
provide the Company with liquidity and capital resources for
store expansion, seasonal working capital requirements and
capital investments.
Cash Flow Cash flows provided from operating activities
were $181.1 million, $169.2 million and $119.5 million during
fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. FIscal 1997 cash flows
from operating activities without barnesandnoble.com were
$181.9million. The slight decrease in retail operating cash flows
in fiscal 1998 was due to a strategic increase in the distribution
center standing inventory,the implementation of a new wage
plan in fiscal 1998 and increased operating expenses associated
with implementing the Company's new store system enhancements. In fiscal 1997, the improvement in cash flows was
primarily due to the improvement in net earnings.
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) increased $52.7 rnillion or 23.5% to $276.9
million in fiscal 1998 from $224.2 million in fiscal 1997.Without
barnesandnoble.com fiscal 1997 EBITDA was $236.9 million
resulting in a retail increase in EBITDA in fiscal 1998 of 16.9%.
In addition, total debt to retail EBITDA decreased from 1.20
times in fiscal 1997 to .90 times in fiscal 1998. This significant
improvement in EBITDA is the result of the continued maturation of the Barnes & Noble stores. The weighted-average age
per square foot of the Company's 520 Barnes & Noble stores
was 3.3 years as ofJanuary 30,1999 and is expected to increase
to approximately 3.9 years by January 29, 2000. As the relatively young Barnes & Noble stores mature, and as the number
of new stores opened during the fiscal year decreases as a
percentage of the existingstore base, the increasing operating
profits of Barnes & Noble stores are expected to generatea
greater portion of cash flows required for working capital,
including new store inventories as well as capital expenditures
and other initiatives. Additionally, due to the formation of the
joint venture with Bertelsmann as discussed below, retail cash
flows are now fully available to support the Company's working capital requirements.

CONTINUEO

Capital Structure Continued strong cash flows from
operations and a continued emphasis on working capital management, once again strengthened the Company's balance sheet
in fiscal 1998. Including the effect of the Bertelsmann contribution to barnesandnoble.com (as discussed more fully below),
shareholders' equity increased 27.7% to $678.8 million as of
January 30, 1999, from $531.8 million as ofJanuary 31, 1998,
and increased 20.8% as of January 30, 1999 before the
Bertelsmann contribution. Return on average equity increased
to 15.3%in fiscal 1998 from 13.1% during fiscal 1997.
The Company has an $850 million senior credit facility
(the Facility), obtained in November 1997,with a syndicate led
by The Chase Manhattan Bank. The Facility is structured as a
five-year revolving credito The Facility permits borrowings at
various interest rate options based on the prime rate or LIBOR
depending upon certain fmancial tests. In addition, the agreement requires the Company to pay a commitment fee up to
0.25% of the unused portion depending upon certain financial
tests. The Facility contains covenants, limitations and events of
default typical of credit facilities of this size and nature.
The amount outstanding under the Facility has
been classified as long-term debt in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets due to both its terms and the
Company's intent and ability to maintain principal amounts
outstanding through November 2002.
Borrowings under the Company's senior credit facilities
averaged $380.3 million, $184.5 million and $186.6
rnillion and peaked at $535.0 rnillion, $304.9 million and
$292.8 million during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
The increase in average and peak borrowings in fiscal 1998 is
primarily the result of utilizing the Facility to retire $190
rnillion in lP/s% senior subordinated notes on January 15,
1998 as well as the Company's funding of the operations of
barnesandnoble.com. As a result of this retirement and the
more favorable rates contained in the current facility as compared with the facility existing until November 1997, interest
expense decreased 35% from $37.7 million to $24.4 million.
The ratio of debt to equity improved significantly to 0.37:1.00
as ofJanuary 30, 1999 from 0.54:1.00 as ofJanuary 31, 1998.
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Capital Investment Capital expenditures totaled $141.4
million, $121.9 million and $171.9 million during fiscal 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively, Capital expenditures in fiscal 1999,
primarily for the opening of approximately 50 new Barnes &
Noble stores as weIl as computer hardware and software associated with the Company's new store point-of-sale system, are
expected to be between $100 mil1ionand $120 mil1ion,although
commitment to such expenditures has not yet been made,

50% membership interest in barnesandnoble.com. barnesand-

noble.com inc. contributed substantially all of its assets and
liabilities to the joint venture and Bertelsmann paid $75 million
to the Company and made a $150 million cash contribution to
the joint venture. Bertelsmann also agreed to contribute an
additional $50 million to the joint venture for future working
capital requirements. In addition, if in an initial public offering
of the business of the joint venture prior to December 31, 2001,
the value of Bertelsmann's interest exceeds the value of
Bertelsmann's investment, Bertelsmann will pay the Company
such excess amount, up to $25 million. As a consequence of the
above transactions the Company has recognized a pre-tax gain
during fiscal 1998 in the amount of $126.4 million of which
$63.8 million has been recognized in earnings based on the $75
million received directly and $62.6 million ($36.4 million after
taxes) has been reflected in additional paid-in capital based on
the Company's share of the incremental equity of the joint venture resulting from the $150 million Bertelsmann contribution.

Based on current operating levels and the store expansion
planned for the next fiscal year, management believes cash
flows generated from operating activities, short-term vendor
financing and its borrowing capacity under its revolving credit
facility will be suflicient to meet the Company's working
capital and debt service requirements, and support the development of its short- and long-term strategies for at least the next
12 months.
At the Company's Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on
June 3, 1998, the Company's shareholders approved an amendment to the Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation to
increase the number of shares of Common Stock, par value
$.001 per share, that the Company is authorized to issue, from
100,000,000 to 300,000,000.

The accompanying consolidated fmancial statements, in
accordance with the equity method of accounting, reflect the
Company's investment in barnesandnoble.com as a single line
item in the consolidated balance sheet as ofJanuary 30, 1999
and reflect the Company's interest in the net 1055 of
barnesandnoble.com as a single line item in the consolidated
statement of operations for the fiscal year ended January 30,
1999, as if the formation of the joint venture had occurred at
the beginning of the fiscal year. Consequently, the $71.3 million
equity in net 1055 of barnesandnoble.com shown in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations reflects the
Company's one-hundred percent interest throughout the
period ending at the date of the formation of the joint venture,
October 31, 1998, and the Company's fifry percent interest
from that point through the end of the fiscal year ending
January 30, 1999. The accompanying consolidated fmancial
statements reflect the financial position and results of operations of barnesandnoble.com as a consolidated wholly owned
subsidiary for all other periods presented.

OnJuly 10, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Company
declared a dividend of one Preferred Share Purchase Right
(a Right) for each outstanding share of the Company's common
stock (Common Stock). The distribution of the Rights was automaticallyrnade onJuly 21, 1998 to stockholders of record on that
date. Each Rightentitles the holder to purchase from the
Company one four-hundredth of a share of a new series of
preferred stock, designated as Series H Preferred Stock, par value
$.001 per share (the Preferred Stock), at a price of $225 per one
four-hundredth of a share. For a discussion of the terms of such
preferred stock see Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. The Rights will be exercisable only if a person or
group acquires 15% or more of the Company's outstanding
Common Stock or announces a tender offer or exchange offer,
the consummation of which would result in such person or group
owning 15% or more of the Company's outstanding Common
Stock. For a further discussion of the terms of the Rights see
Note 8 ofNotes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements.
F..or.m.ati.D..nrnesandnoble.com

CONTINUEO

In March 1999, the Company announcéd the filing of a
registration statement with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) for an initial public offering of Class A
common stock in barnesandnoble.com inc. Prior to the
offering the Company and Bertelsmann will each own a fifry
percent interest in barnesandnoble.com inc. via high voting
Class B and high voting Class C common shares, respectively.
barnesandnoble.com inc wiIl use the proceeds of the offering
to purchase a fifteen to twenty percent interest in barnesandnoble.com llc. In March 1999, the limited liability company
agreement was amended to also provide for the additional
$50 million cash contribution by Bertelsmann to be made to
barnesandnoble.com in the event of the completion of the
initial public offering.

IIc

On November 12, 1998, the Company and Bertelsmann
completed the forrnation of a joint venture to operate the online
retail bookselling operations of the Company's wholly owned
subsidiary, barnesandnoble.com inc. The new entity is
structured as a limited liability company under the name
barnesandnoble.com llc. Under the terms of the relevant agreements, effectiveas of October 31, 1998, the Company and
Bertelsmann (through their respective subsidiaries) each have a

e .
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Ac.quisitio.no.tlngram ..Book GrollP ..__

__ __ _._

..

reIationships will be designated anew and documented.

On November 6, 1998, the Company announced an agreement to purchase the Ingram Book Group, a group of
subsidiaries of privateIy heId Ingram Industries Inc., for $600
million, consisting of approximately $200 million in cash and
approximateIy $400 million in common stock of the Company.
The closing of the transaction is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions including the expiration of the waiting period
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

Newly:JssuedAccountingPronouncements_..

The Company from time to time enters into interest
rate swap agreements for the purpose of hedging risks
attributabIe to changing interest rates associated with the
Company's revolving credit facility,and, in general, such hedges
have been fuIly effective.The Company may from time to time,
enter into interest rate swaps in the future and these transactions
are expected to substantially offset the effects of changes in the
underlying variable interest rates. The Company does not
believe that adoption of SFAS 133 will have a material effect on
its consolidated financiai statements.

_ _ _

In April 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive
Committee issued Statement of Position 98-5, "Reporting on
the Costs of Start-Up Activities" (SOP 98-5). SOP 98-5 requires
an entity to expense all start-up activities, as defined, when
incurred. The Company has historicalIy amortized costs
associated with the opening of new stores over the respective
store's first 12 months of operations. In accordance with SOP
98-5,the Companywill adopt its provisions effective for the
fiscal year endingJanuary 29, 2000, and wiIl record a one-time
charge reflecting the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principIe in the first quarter of fiscal year 1999, in an amount
estimated to be $4,500 after taxes, representing such start-up
costs capitalized as of the beginning of that fiscal year. In addition,the Company will, on a prospective basis, expense all such
start-up costs as incurred. Without consideration to the onetime charge, the Company's consolidated fmancial statements
issued subsequent to fiscal year 1998 are not expected to be
materially affected by the adoption of SOP 98-5.

Historically, the Company has not used derivative
contracts for specuIative purposes.

Year...2O.QO
The Year 2000 issue is the resuIt of computer programs
being written using two digits rather than four to define the
applicabIe year. The Company's computer equipment and software and devices with embedded technology that are datesensitive may recognize a date using "00" as the year 1900 rather
than the year 2000. This could resuIt in a system failure or miscalcuIations causing disruptions of operations, including, arnong
other things, a temporary inability to process transactions, send
invoices, or engage in other normal business activities.
In 1997, the Company began assessing how it may be
impacted by the Year 2000 issue and has formulated and commenced impIementation of a comprehensive pIan to address all
known aspects of the issue.

In March 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive
Committee issued Statement of Position 98-1, "Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internai Use" (SOP 98-1). SOP 98-1 is effective for the
Company's fiscal year ending January 29, 2000. Adoption is
not expected to have a material effect on the Company's
consolidated financial statements as the Company's policies are
substantially in compliance with SOP 98-1.

The Company's pIan encompasses the foIlowing areas:
(1) information systerns that utilize date/time oriented software
(IT systems), (2) computer chips, processors and controllers
(non-IT systems), and (3) vendors and customers. The
Company is in various stages of impIementation which include
remediation, testing and implementation.
To date, approxirnateIy 80% of the Company's administrative support IT systerns have at least completed the rernediation phase. Of this arnount, approximately 80% have completed
the testing and remediation phase and 20% have been replaced
or upgraded. AlI remaining Year 2000 compliance efforts for
administrative IT functions are expected to be completed by the
second quarter of fiscal 1999.

In June 1998, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities (SFAS 133). SFAS 133 requires companies to
recognize all derivatives contracts as either assets or liabilities in
the balance sheet and to measure them at fair value. If certain
conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically designated
as a hedge, the objective of which is to match the timing of gain
or loss recognition on the hedging derivative with the recognition of (i) the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or
liability that are attributabIe to the hedgedrisk or (ii) the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transaction. For a derivative
not designated as a hedging instrument, the gain or Ioss is recognized in income in the period of change.

ApproximateIy 90% of non-IT systems have completed the
remediation, testing and impIementation phases with no
material repIacements necessary.

SFAS 133 is effective for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years
beginning afterJune 15, 1999.The Company currendy plans to
adopt SFAS 133 on January 30, 2000. On that date, hedging
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The Company has been obtaining information from
major vendors, suppliers, and service providers to determine if
their systems will be Year 2000 compliant. There has been no
indication from these sourees that their systems will not be
sufficiently Year 2000 compliant or that their failure to be Year
2000 compliant will cause a significant disruption in the operations of the Company. The Company is developing contingency plans to identify alterna tive sources which are Year2000
compliant in the event the current parties sufIer significant
disruption as a result of Year 2000 complianee failures.

This report may contain eertain forward-looking statements
(as such term is defmed in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995) and information relating to the Company
that are based on the beliefs of the management of the Company
as well as assumptions made by and inforrnation currendy available to the management of the Company. When used in this
report, the words "anticipate," "believe," "estimare," "expect,"
"intend," "plan" and similar expressions, as they relate to the
Company or the management of the Company, identify
forward-looking statements. Such statements reflect the current
views of the Company with respect to future events, the
outcome of which is subject to certain risks, including among
others general economic and market conditions, decreased
consumer demand for the Company's products, possible
disruptions in the Company's computer or telephone systems,
increased or unanticipated costs or efIects associated with Year
2000 complianee by the Company or its service or supply
providers, possible work stoppages or increases in labor costs,
possible increases in shipping rates or interruptions in shipping
serviee, effects of competition, possible disruptions or delays in
the opening of new stores or the inability to obtain suitable sites
for new stores, higher than anticipated store closing or relocation
costs, higher interest rates, the performance of the Company's
online initiatives such as barnesandnoble.com, unanticipated
increases in merchandise or occupancy costs, unanticipated
adverse litigation results or effects, and other factors which maY
be outside of the Company's control. Should one or more of
these risks or uneertainties materialize, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results or outcomes maY
vary materially from those described as anticipated, believed,
estimated, expected, intended or planned. Subsequent written
and oral forward-Iooking statements attributable to the
Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified
in their entirety by the cautionary statements in this paragraph.

The Company estimates that total costs to implement its
Year 2000 plan will be between $4.0 million and $6.0 million of
which $2.6 million has already been incurred, including $1.5
million relating to the purchase of new software and hardware
modifications, and $1.1 million relating to Year 2000 consultants. The estimated total includes direct costs for systems
enhancements which would have been implemented in the
ordinary course of business but whose acquisition has been
aceelerated to ensure compliance by the Year 2000. The
estimate excludes costs for scheduled system upgrades which
have not been accelerated due to Year 2000 issues.
The implementation of the Company's proprietary
point-of-sale system (Bookmaster), which began in 1996, is
continuing and is expected to be completed in the second quarter of fiscal 1999. Bookmaster, which is Year 2000 compliant, is
an inventory management system with integrated point-of-sale
features that utilizes a proprietary data-warehouse-based just-intime replenishment system. It enhanees communications and
real-time access to the Company's network of stores, distribution eenter, and wholesalers. The Bookmaster system has been
installed in approximately 25% of alI Barnes & Noble stores. By
the end of the second quarter of fiscal 1999 ali existing Barnes
& Noble and B. Dalton stores will either be utilizing the
Bookmaster system or will receive Year 2000 upgrades to their
existing point-of-sale systems.
Should some of the Company's systems not be availabledue
to Year2000 problems, in a reasonably likely worst case seenario,
the Company may experienee significant delays in its ability to
perform eertain functions. However, the Company does not
expect an impairment in its ability to execute critical functions.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

January 30, 1999

January 31, 1998

31,081

12,697
43,858

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net

$

Merchandise inventories
Prepaid expenses

and other current assets

Total current assets

57,523
945,073
54,634

852,107
68,902

1,088,311

977,564

3,197
383,292
440,488

681
347,598
378,058

826,977

726,337
244,207

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Fixtures and equipment

Less accumulated

depreciation

and amortization

_316,631

Net property and equipment
Intangible assets, net
Investment in barnesandnoble.com

510,346

482,130

86,980

90,237

82,307

IIc

39,653

Other noncurrent assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders'

41,240

$

1,807,597

1,591,171

:$

498,237
274,085

253,050

772,322

712,845

249,100

284,800

Equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

459,795

Deferred income taxes

32,449

Other long-term liabilities

74,937

61,771

69
523,517

68
468,860
62,827

Shareholders' equity:
Common stock; $.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares
authorized; 68,759,111 and 67,921,830 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total shareholders'
Commitments

~20~

and contingencies

notes to consolidatcd

531,755

---

Total liabilities and shareholders'
See accompanying

678,789 .

equity

---

j$

equity

1,807,597

1,591,171
Barnes & Noble, Inc. 1998

fmaneial statements.
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-------------------

OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common

(Inthousands 01 dollars)

Additional
paid-in capital

Stock

Balance at January 27, 1996

$

441,736

66

Exercise of 459,022 common stock options,
including tax benefits of $2,272

Balance at February 1, 1997
Exercise of 1,545,580 common stock options,
including tax benefits of $8,253

---

51.225

66

446,265

9,658

2

22,595

Net earnings

---

common

,~~

..

"

~--

.. ,

468,860

68

including tax benefits of $9,002
barnesandnoble.com

Total
400,235
4,529
51,225
455,989
22,597

53,169
62,827

53,169
--531,755

18,306

18,307

36,351

36,351

IIc issuance of membership

units (net of deferred

income taxes of $26,325)

Net earnings
Balance at January30,

(41,567)

4,529

Net earnings

Balance at January 31. 1998
. Éxercise or83-7;281
stock opi:lons~

Retained
earnings (deficit)

1999

Ll2

523,517

Sce aecompanying notes to consolidated financiai staternents.

92,376

92,376

155,203

678,789

Barnes & Noble, Inc. 1998
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CONSOLlDATED

STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Year
(In thousands

1998

1997

1996

$ 92,376

53,169

51,225

of

Cash flows from operating
Net earnings

activities:

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows
from operating activities:
Depreciation

and amortization

Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment
Deferred taxes
Extraordinary charge due to early extinguishment
net of tax benefits
Increase in other long-term
increases in long-term

78,629

3,291
14,761

853
11,598

61,652
(130)
6,604

of debt,
11,499

liabilities for scheduled

rent

leases

Gain on formation of barnesandnoble.com
Equity in net loss of barnesandnoble.com
Changes in operating

88,721

IIc

assets and liabilities, net

Net cash flows from operating

16,350

15,663

71,334
(39,67.3)

(2,884)

(15,477)

181,082

169,214

119,537

(141,388)
(75,394)

(121,903)

(171,885)

(13,177)

177
(16,787)
(188,495)

14,031
(63,759)

IIc

activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Investment in barnesandnoble.com
IIc
Proceeds from formation of barnesandnoble.com
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment
Net increase in other noncurrent

75,000

IIc

10
(3,533) .

assets

Net cash flows from investing activities

(145,305)

(135,080)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in revolving credit facility

(35,700)

244,800
(290,000)

Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options
including related tax benefits

18,307

22,597
(11,281)

4,529

(17,393)

(33,884)

72,129

18,384
12,697

250
12,447

3,171
9,276

31,081

12,697

12,447

1,700
(119,904)
9,721

3,461

Payment of note premium
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Changes in operating

assets and liabilities, net:
$ (14,012)
(93,491)

Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Prepaid ex penses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Changes in operating

(1,047)
68,877
. $ (39,673)

assets and liabilities, net

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
____ ~In=co=m~e~ta=x~e=s
Sce aecompanying

(32,400)
100,000

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

notes to consolidated

$ 25,243
~--------------------~:

$~~18~,=22=5~

105,599
(2,884)

37,845
~20,28.~2

8,148
(19,502)
(7,584)
(15,477)

38,103
2~4~,=57~4
Barncs & Noble, Inc. 1998

financiai statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL

Merchandise Inventories
Merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined primarily by the retai1 inventory
method on the first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis for 86% and 83%
of the Company's merchandise inventories as of January 30,
1999 and January 31, 1998, respectively. The remaining merchandise inventories are valued on the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method.

STATEMENTS

For the 52 weeks endedJanuary 30,1999 (fiscal 1998), the
52 weeks endedJanuary 31,1998 (fiscal 1997) and the 53 weeks
ended February 1, 1997 (fiscal 1996).
(In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies

Business
Barnes &Noble, Inc. (Barnes &Noble), through its wholly
owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Company), is primarily
engaged in the sale ofbooks through three principal bookselling
strategies: its "super" store strategy through its wholly owned
subsidiary Barnes &Noble Booksellers, Inc., under its Barnes &
Noble Booksellers, Bookstop and Bookstar trade names (hereafter collectively referred to as Barnes & Noble stores), its mall
strategy through its wholly owned subsidiaries B. Dalton
Bookseller, Inc. and Doubleday Book Shops, Inc., under its
B. Dalton stores, Doubleday Book Shops and Scribner's
Bookstore trade names (hereafter collectively referred to as
B. Dalton stores), and its direct-mail strategy through its wholly
owned subsidiary Marboro Books Corpo The Company is also
engaged in the online retailing of books and other
products through a 50% interest in barnesandnoble.com llc
(barnesandnoble.com), as more fully described in Note 5.
The Company's interest in barnesandnoble.com is through its
wholly owned subsidiary B&N.com Holding Corpo

If substantially ali of the merchandise inventories currently
valued at UFO costs were valued at current costs, merchandise
inventories would remam unchanged as ofJanuary 30, 1999, and
would have increased approximately $5,102 as ofJanuary 31,1998.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. For fmancial reporting
purposes, depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over estimated usefullives. For tax purposes, difIerent
methods are used. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred, while betterments and major remodeling costs are
capitalized. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and
amortizedover the shorter of their estimated usefullives or the
terms of the respective leases. Capitalized lease acquisition costs
are being amortized over the average lease terms of the únderlying leases. In March 1998, the Accounting Standards
Executive COlIDIÚttee issued Statement of Position 98-1,
''Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use" (SOP 98-1). This statement is efIective for the Company's fiscal year ending January 29, 2000.
Adoption is not expected to have a material efIect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements as the Company's
policies are substantially in compliance with SOP 98-1. Costs
incurred in purchasing management information systems are
capitalized and included in property and equipment. These
costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives from the
date the systems become operational.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Barnes & Noble and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
Investments in affiliates that are 20% to 50% owned, principally
barnesandnoble.com, are accounted for using the equity
method. The Company's investment in barnesandnoble.com
has been presented in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements under the equity method as of the beginning of fiscal
1998 and as a consolidated wholly owned subsidiary for ali of
fiscal 1997. Ali significantintercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior-period
amounts have been reclassifiedfor comparative purposes.

Intanglble Assets and Amortization
The costs in excess of net assets of businesses acquired are
carried as intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The net
intangible assets, consisting primarily of goodwill and trade
names, of $59,365 and $27,615 as of January 30, 1999, and
$61,484 and $28,753 as ofJanuary 31,1998, are amortized over
40 years using the straight-line method.

Use or Estimates
In preparing fmancial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principies, the Company is
required to make estimares and assumptions that afTect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could difIer from those estimates.

Amortizationof goodwill and trade names included in
depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is $3,257, $3,257 and $3,305
during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Accumulated
amortization at January 30, 1999 and January 31, 1998 was
$44,551 and $41,294, rcspcctivcly.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers alI short-term, highly liquid
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.
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The Company periodicalIy evaluates the recoverability of
goodwill and considers whether this goodwiII should be
completely or partialIy written off or the amortization periods

elosings of $1,208 during fiscal 1998 are ineluded in selling and
administrative
expenses in the accompanying
consolidated
statements of operations.

accelerated. The Company assesses the recoverability of this
goodwill based upon several factors, ineluding management's
intention with respect to the acquired operations and those

Net Earnings Per Common Share

operations'

projected undiscounted

Basic earnings per share is computed

store-Ievel cash flows.

Deferred Charges
Costs incurred to obtain long-term fmaneing are amortized
over the terms of the respective debt agreements using the
straight-line method, which approximates the interest method.
Unamortized

costs ineluded

in other noncurrent

by dividing income

available to common shareholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share reflect, in periods in which they have a dilutive effect,
the impact of common shares issuable upon exercise of
stock options.

Income Taxes

assets as of

January 30, 1999 andJanuary 31, 1998 were $1,397 and $1,764,
respectively. Unamortized costs of $8,209 were ineluded in the

The provision for income taxes ineludes federal, state and
local income taxes currently payable and those deferred because

extraordinary loss due to the early extinguishment of debt for
fiscal 1997. Amortization
expense ineluded in interest and
amortization of deferred financing fees is $376, $1,678 and
$1,846 during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996 respectively.

of temporary differences between the fmaneial statement and
tax bases of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that
are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse.

Revenue Recognition

Stock Options

Revenue from sales of the Company's
nized at the time of sale.
The Company

selIs memberships

products

is recog-

The Company

accounts for alI transactions

under which

employees receive shares of stock or other equity instruments in
the Company or the Company incurs liabilities to employees in
amounts based on the price of its stock in accordance with the

which entitle purchasers

provisions

to additional discounts. The membership revenue is deferred and
recognized as income over the twelve-month membership period.

of Accounting

"Accounting
compensation

Principies

Board

Opinion

No. 25,

for Stock Issued to Employees."
Generally,
expense is not recognized for stock option grants.

Sales returns (which are not significant) are recognized at
the time returns are made.

Reporting Period

Pre-opening Expenses

The Company's fiscal year is comprised of 52 or 53 weeks,
ending on the Saturday elosest to the last day ofJanuary. The

In April 1998, the Accounting
Standards
Executive
Committee issued Statement of Position 98-5, "Reporting on

reporting periods ended January 30, 1999, January 31, 1998
and February 1, 1997 contained 52 weeks, 52 weeks and 53

the Costs of Start-Up Activities" (SOP 98-5). SOP 98-5 requires
an entity to expense alI start-up activities, as defmed, when
incurred. The Company
has historically
amortized costs
assoeiated with the opening of new stores over the respective
store's first 12 months of operations. In accordance with SOP

weeks, respectively.

2. Receivables,

Net

Receivables represent customer, bankcard, landlord
other receivables due within one year as folIows:

98-5, the Company will adopt its provisions effective for the
fiscal year ending January 29, 2000, and will record a one time
non-cash charge reflecting the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principie in the first quarter of fiscal year 1999, in an
amount estimated to be $4,500 after taxes, representing such
start-up costs capitalized as of the beginning of that fiscal year.

_..

In addition, the Company will, on a prospective basis, expense
ali such start-up costs as incurred. Exeluding the one time
charge, the Company's consolidated finaneial statements are
not expected to be materially affected by the adoption of

and

_.......~.~.~lI.~.'Y
~9.~
~.??_?~~I~y~I)'}~~
..~?.?.~

_

Trade accounts
Bankcard receivables
Receivables from landlords for
leasehold improvements
Other receivables

$ 6,743

Total receivables,

$57,523

net

19,421
23;659

.?~?9.9.

6,628
15,536
16,715
4,979
43,858

SOP 98-5.

C/osed Store Expenses

3. Debt

Upon a formal deeision to elose or relocate a store, the
On November
18, 1997, the Company
obtained an
$850,000 five-year senior revolving credit facility (the Revolving
Credit Facility) with a syndicate led by The Chase Manhattan
Bank. The Revolving Credit Facility refmanced an existing

Company charges unrecoverable costs to expense. Such costs
inelude the net book value of abandoned fixtures and leasehold
improvements and a provision for future lease obligations, net
of expected sublease recoveries. Costs assoeiated with store
18
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$450,000 revolving credit and $100,000 tenn loan facility (the
Old Facility). The Revolving Credit Facilírypennits borrowings
at various interest rate options based on the prime rate or
London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) depending upon certain
fmaneial tests. In addition, the agreement requires the Company
to pay a commitment fee up to 0.25% of the unused portion
depending upon certain financial tests. The Revolving Credit
Faeility contains covenants, limitations and events of default
typical of credit facilities of this size and nature, including
fmaneial covenants which require the Company to meet, among
other things, cash flow and interest coverage ratios and which
limit capital expenditures. The Revolving Credit Facility is
secured by the capital stock, accounts receivable and general
intangibles of the Company's subsidiaries.

Fees expensed with respect to the unused portion of the
Company's revolving credit commitrnent were $733, $1,204
and $911, during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
The amounts outstanding under the Company's Revolving
Credit Facility of$249,100 and $284,800 as ofJanuary 30, 1999
and January 31, 1998, respectively, have been classified as
long-term debt based on the terms of the credit agreement and
the Company's intention to maintain prineipal amounts outstanding through November 2002.
The Company has no agreements to maintain compensating balances.
4. Fair Values of Financiai Instruments

Net proceeds from the Revolving Credit Facility are
available for general corporate purposes and were used to
redeem all of the Company's outstanding $190,000, 11-7/8%
senior subordinated notes on January 15, 1998. As a result of
the refmancings, the Company recorded an extraordinary
charge of $11,499 (net of applicable taxes) due to the early
cxtinguishment of debt during fiscal 1997.The cxtraordinary
charge represents the payment of a call premium assoeiated
with the redemption of the senior subordinated notes of $6,656
(net of applicable taxes) and the write-off of unamortized fees of
$4,843 (net of applicable taxes).

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents reported
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets approximate
fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets.
The aggregate fair value of the Revolving Credit Facility
approximates its carrying amount, because of its recent and
frequent repricing based upon market conditions. Interest rate
swap agreements are valued based on market quotes obtained
from dealers. The Company also maintains an investrnent in
Chapters Inc., a Canadian book retailer. The fair value of the
investrnent in Chapters Inc. is based on quoted market prices
and conversion rates atJanuary 30,1999 andJanuary 31,1998.

The Company from time to time enters into interest rate
swap agreements to manage interest costs and risk associated
with changes in interest rates. These agreements effectively
convert underlying variable - rate debt based on prime rate or
LIBOR to fixed-rate debt through the exchange of fixed and
floating interest payment obligations without the exchange of
underlying prineipal amounts. As of January 30, 1999 and
January 31, 1998 the Company had outstanding $125,000
of swaps with maturities ranging from 1999 to 2003.
The Company recorded interest cxpense assoeiated with these
agreements of $440 and $306 during fiscal years 1998 and
1997,respectively.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Company's
financial instruments as of January 30, 1999 and January 31,
1998 are as follows:

Cash and cash
equivalents
Revolvingcredit
facility
Interest rate swaps
liability
Investment in
Chapters Inc.

Selected infonnation related to the Company's revolving
credit facility is as follows:
FiscalYear
Balance at end of year
Average balance
outstanding during
the year
Maximumborrowings
outstanding during
the year
Weighted average
interest rate during
the year
Interest rate at end
of year

1998
$ 249,100

$ 380,315

$535,000

6.29%
5.77%

1997
284,800

105,127

304,900

7.12%
6.60%

1996
40,000

101,671

192,800

7.56%
6.87%
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Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

$ 31,081

31,081

12,697

12,697

$249,100
$
$ 18,827

249,100

284,800

1,463

2,189
33,201

284,800

17,686

31,445
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IIc

earnings
based on the $75,000 received
directly from
Bertelsmann
and $62,676 ($36,351 after taxes) has been
reflected in additional paid-in capital based on the Company's
share of the incremental equity of the joint venture resulting

On November 12, 1998, the Company and Bertelsmann
AG (Bertelsmann) completed the formation of a limited liability
company to operate the online retail bookselling operations of

from the $150,000 Bertelsmann

the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, barnesandnoble.com
inc. The new entity is structured as a limited liability company

Summarized financial information
follows:

under the name barnesandnoble.com
llc. Under the terms of the
relevant agreements, effective as of October 31, 1998, the
Company and Bertelsmann

contribution.

each have a 50% membership inter-

for barnesandnoble.com

Fiscal Year

est in barnesandnoble.com.
The Company contributed substantially all of the assets and liabilities of its online operations to the

Net sales
Gross profit

joint venture and BerteIsmann paid $75,000 to the Company
and made a $150,000 cash contribution to the joint venture.
Bertelsmann also agreed to contribute an additional $50,000 to
the joint venture for future working capital requirements. In
addition, if in an initiaI public offering (see below) of
barnesandnoble.com
prior to December 31, 2001, the value of
Bertelsmann's interest exceeds the value ofBertelsmann's invest-

$ 70,249

Loss before taxes

$ 16,169
$(85,590)

Current assets
Noncurrent asset
Currentliabilities

$102,114
$ 89,324
$ 26,824

Net assets
Barnes & Noble's equity in

ment, Bertelsmann wilI pay the Company such excess amount,
up to $25,000. As a consequence of the above transactions the
Company has recognized a pre-tax gain during fiscal 1998 in the

1997(1)

1998

14,601
2,849
(15,395)
12,197

$164,614

24,879
12,268
24,808

$(71,334)

(15,395)

1055

before taxes

24,808

Barnes & Noble's equity in net a~~:!.s.._~_~?,307
11)

amount of $126,435, of which $63,759 has been recognized in

Fiscal 1997 represents
consolidated

amounts

as consolidatcd

in the accompanying

financial statements,

6. Employees' Retirement and Defined Contribution Plans
The Company maintains a noncontributory
defmed benefit pension plan (the Pension Plan) and a defined contribution plan
(the Savings Plan) for the benefit of substantially all employees. In addition, the Company provides certain health care and life
insurance benefits (the Postretirement
A summary of the components
Postretirement Plan follows:

Plan) to retired employees, Iimited to those receiving benefits or retired as of Aprill,
of net periodic pension cost for the Pension Plan and other postretirement

Fiscal Year

1998
$ 4,157
2,039
(2,208)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization and deferral
Net periodic c?~~

36
_

...._$

benefit cost for the

Postretirement

Pension Plan

1993.

Plan

1997

1996

1998

1997

1996

3,294
1,666
(1,803)

2,542
1,354
(1,500)

149

315

326

315

326

36

4,024 .............3,193

36

__ (13.~)
14

-~---

Total Company contributions charged to employee benefit expenses for the Savings plan were $3,090, $2,545 and $2,115
during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
Weighted-average actuarial assumptions used in determining the net periodic pension and other post retirement
and the funded status of the Pension Plan and the Postretirement Plan are as follows:

benefit costs

Postretirement

Pension Plan

Plan

Fiscal Year

1998

1997

1996

1998

1997

1996

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Assumed rate of compensation increase

7.3%
9.5%
4.3%

7.3%
9.5%
4.3%

7.5%
9.5%
4.0%

7.3%

7.3%

7.5%

As a result of the formation of barnesandnoble.com
llc, as more fully described in Note 5, assets of the Pension Plan and an
equivalent benefit obligation, were transferred to barnesandnoble.com's
defined benefit pension plan as of the date of the formation.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, pIan assets and funded status of the Pension PIan and the
Postretirement PIan:

-_ ..__ ....._ ..Fiscal Year
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost

1997

1998

1997

'$ 30,734

21,378

1,975

4,349

4,157

3,294
1,666

149

315

5,752
(1,356)

136
(115)

Interest cost

2,039
(642)'
(2,427) •
(797)

Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on assets

33,064

30,734

22,909
2,255

18,565
4,165

Employer contributions

1,395
(797)

Benefits paid
Transfer to barnesandnoble.com

(2,544)
(145)

2,145

1,975

(2,145)
(2,136)

(1,975)
(2,407)

(4,281)

(4,382)

1,535
(1,356)

(431)
25,331

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

(7,733)
1055

Postretirement P/an

1998

Transfer to barnesandnoble.com
Actuarial (gain) 1055

Funded status
Unrecognized net actuarial

Pension Plan

80S
(183)

(gain)

Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net obligation remaining

166

$ (6,945)

Accrued Benefit Cost

22,909
(7,825)
3,490
(201)
220
(4,316)

The health care cost trend rate used to measure the expected cost of the Postretirement PIan benefits is assumed to be 7.5010 in
1999, declining at one-half percent decrements each year through 2004 to 5.0010 in 2004 and each year thereafter. The health care
cost trend assumption has a significant efIect on the amounts reported. For exampIe, a 1010increase or decrease in the health care
cost trend rate wouId change the accumuIated postretirement benefit obligation by approximateIy $215 and $195, respectively, as of
January 30, 1999, and would change the net periodic cost by approximately $15 and $14, respectively, during fiscal 1998.
A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes
and the expected provision for income taxes at the federal statutory rate of350J0during fiscal 1998, 1997and 1996, is as follows:

7. Income Taxes

The Company files a consoIidated federal returno Federal
and state income tax provisions for fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996
are as follows:
Fiscal Year
Current:
Federal
State

1998

1997

1996

$ 39,286
10,146

26,324
7,013

18,413

33,337

23,553

49,432
Deferred:
Federal
State

Total

Fiscal Year
Expected provision for
income taxes at federal
statutory rate
Amortization of goodwill
and trade names

5.140

State income taxes, net of
federal income tax benefit

1998

$54,799
1,251

8,596

1997

1996

38,361

28,484

1,140

5,873

Rehabilitation tax credit
11.697
3,064

9,575
2,023

5,300
1,304

14,761

11,598

6,604

_._----_._-

$ 64,193

44,935

Other, net
Provision for income taxes

.._.1Qill

21

(453)

----

$ 64,193

(439)
44,935

1,157

3,341
(2,974)
149
30,157
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The tax efTectsof temporary difTerencesthat give rise to significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and
liabilities as ofJanuary 30, 1999 andJanuary 31, 1998 are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities:
Operating

expenses

$(12,528)
(29,829)

Depreciation
barnesandnoble.com

(26,325)

Total deferred tax liabilities

(68,682)

Deferred tax assets:
Inventory

4,043
15,025

Lease transactions
Reversal of estimated
Restructuring charge

accruals

5;692
. ,J6,931
2,502'
11,411

Insurance liability
Deferred income
Other
Total deferred tax assets
$

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

8. Shareholders'

(10,103)
(16,359)

(26,462)

6,604
16,108
5,418
21,825
2,265
7,058

5,632

824

61,236

60,102

(7,446)

33,640

If a persan ar graup acquires 15% ar more of the
Company's autstanding Common Stock, each Right will entitle
a holder (other than such persan or any member of such group)
to purchase, at the Right's then current exercise price, a
number of shares of Common Stock having a market value of
twice the exercise price of the Right. In addition, if the
Campany is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% or more of its consolidated assets or
earning power are sold at any time after the Rights have
become exercisable, each Right will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right's then current exercise price, a number of the
acquiring company's common shares having a market value at
that time of twice the exercise price of the Right. Furthermore,
at any time after a person or group acquires 15%or more of the
autstanding Common Stock of the Company but prior to the
acquisition of 50% of such stock, the Board of Directors may, at
its aption, exchange part or ali of the Rights (other than Rights
held by the acquiring person ar group) at an exchange rate of
one faur-hundredth of a share of Series H Preferred Stock or
one share of the Company's Common Stock for each Right.

Equity

At the Company's Annual Meeting ofStockholders held on
June 3, 1998, the Company's shareholders approved an amendment to the Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation to
increase the number of shares of Common Stock, par value
$.001 per share, that the Company is authorized to issue from
100,000,000 to 300,000,000.
As discussed more fully in Note 5, shareholders' equity as
of January 30, 1999 includes an increase in additional
paid-in capital of $36,351 as a result of the formation of
barnesandnoble.com Ilc.
On July 10, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Company
declared a dividend of one Preferred Share Purchase Right (a
Right) for each outstanding share of the Company's common
stock (Conunon Stock). The distribution of the Rights was
made onJuly 21, 1998 to stockholders of record on that date.
Each Right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company
one four-hundredth of a share of a new series of preferred stock,
designated as Series H Preferred Stock, at a price of $225 per
one faur-hundredth of a share. The Rights will be exercisable
only if a person or group acquires 15% or more af the
Company's outstanding Common Stock ar announces a tender
ofTer ar exchange ofTer, the consummation of which would
result in such person or group owning 15% or more of the
Company's autstanding Common Stack.

The Company will be entitled to redeem the Rights at any
time prior to the acquisition by a person or group of 15% ar
more of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company, at a
price of$.01 per Right. The Rights will expire onJuly 20,2008.
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The Company has 5,000,000 shares of $.001 par vaIue
preferred stock authorized for issuance, of which 250,000
shares have been designated by the Board of Directors as Series
H Preferred Stock and reserved for issuance upon exercise of
the Rights. Each such share of Series H Preferred Stock will be
nonredeemable and junior to any other series of preferred stock
the Company may issue (unless otherwise provided in the terms
of such stock) and will be entitled to a preferred dividend equaI
to the greater of $2.00 per share or 400 times any dividend
declared on the Company's Common Stock. In the event of
liquidation, the holders of Series H Preferred Stock will receive
a preferred liquidation payment of $1,000 per sharc, plus an
amount equaI to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions thereon. Each share of Series H Prcferred Stock wiIl have
400 votes, voting together with the Company's Common Stock.
However, in the event that dividends on the Series H Preferred
Stock shall be in arrears in an amount equaI to six quarterly dividends thereon, holders of the Series H Preferred Stock shall
have the right, voting as a class, to elect two of the Company's
Directors, whose terms shaII extend until such time when all
accrued and unpaid dividends for all previous quarterly dividend periods and for the current quarterly dividend period on
all shares of Series H Preferred Stock then outstanding shall
have been declared and paid or set apart for payment. In the
event of any merger, consolidation or other transaction in
which the Company's Common Stock is exchanged, each share
of Series H Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive 400 times
the amount and type of consideration received per share of the
Company's Common Stock. As of January 30, 1999, there were
no shares of Series H Preferred Stock outstanding.
9. Restructuring

& NOBLE,

INC.199B

The foIlowing table scts forth the restructuring liability
activity:
Lease
Provisionfor Termination
Store Closing
Costs
Other
Total
Balance at
January 27, 1996 $5,974
32,833
6,099 44,906
Fiscal 1996
4,442
Activity
4,497 11,310
2,371
Balance at
February 1, 1997
Fiscal 1997 Activity

1,532
1,532

Balance at
January 31, 1998
Fiscal 1998 Activity
Balance at
January 30, 1999 $

30,462
9,026

1,602 33,596
1,602 12,160

21,436
12,968

21,436
12,968

8,468

8,468

The remaining liability, representing outstanding lease
liabilities, is expected to be paid out over the next severaI years.
10. Stock Option Plans
The Company currently has two incentive plans under
which stock options have been or may be granted to officers,
directors and key employees of the Company - the 1991
Employee Incentive Plan (the 1991 Plan) and the 1996 Incentive
PIan (the 1996 Plan). Thc options to purchasc common shares
gcnerally are issucd at fair market vaIue on the date of thc
grant, begin vesting after one year in 33-113% or 25% increments
per year, expire ten years from issuance and are conditioned
upon continuaI empIoyment during the vesting period.

Charge

From 1989 through 1995, the Company closed, on average, between 40 and 60 mall bookstores per year primarily due
to increasing competition from superstores and declining mall
traflic. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1995, the Company
accelerated its mall bookstore closing program with the aim of
forming a core of more profitable B. DaIton stores, and
provided for these closing costs and asset vaIuation adjustments
through a non-cash restructuring charge, and early adoption of
Statement of FinanciaI Accounting Standards No. 121,
"Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Assets to
be Disposed Of" (SFAS 121). In the fourth quarter of fiscal 1995,
the Company recorded a non-cash charge to operating earnings
of $123,768 ($87,303 after tax or $1.32 per share) to reflect the
aggregate impact of its restructuring plan and change in
accounting policy. The charge to earnings includcd a $33,000
write-down of goodwill, and $45,862 related to the write-down
of fixed assets and other long-term assets. The Company has
substantiaIly completed the store closing programo

At the Company's AnnuaI Meeting of Stockholders held
on June 3, 1998, the Company's shareholders approvcd an
amendment to the 1996 Plan increasing the numbcr of shares
available for issuance from 6,000,000 to 11,000,000. Thc 1991
PIan allows the Company to grant options to purchase up to
4,732,704 shares of common stock.
In addition to the two incentive plans, the Company has
granted stock options to certain key executives and directors.
The vesting terrns and contractuaI lives of these grants are
similar to that of the incentive pIans.
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In accordance with the Statement of Fmancial Accounting
Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation"

A sumrnary of the status of the Company's
is presented be!ow:

(SFAS 123), the Company discloses the pro forma impact of
recording compensation
expense utilizing the Black-Scholes
modeI. The BIack-Scholes option valuation modeI was deveIoped
for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have

(In thousands

no vesting restrictions and are fuJIy transferable. In addition,
option valuation models require the input of highIy subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because
the Company's stock options have characteristics significantly
dilferent from those of traded options, and because changes in
the subjective input assumptions can rnaterially affect the fair
value estimate, in rnanagement's
opinion, the Black-Scholes
modeI does not necessarily provide a reJiable mcasure of the fair
value of its stock optíons,
Had compensation
grants been detennined

imate!y $6,188 or $0.09 per share, $3,863 or $0.06 per share,
and $5,305 or $0.08 per share, respectively.

9,142

11.07

2,254
(1,546)

19.31
9.28
16.25

~)

9,664
1,841
(837)
(39ql
10,278

9.95
14.63
4.95
14.97

13.17
31.12
11.11
22.35
$19.69
._----------

Options exercisable as of ]anuary 30, 1999, ]anuary
1998 and February 1, 1997 were 6,780,000, 6,558,000
7,070,000, respective!y. Options available for grant under
plans were 5,902,000, 2,354,000 and 4,422,000 at]anuary
1999,]anuary 31, 1998 and February 1, 1997, respective!y.

Because the application
of the pro forma disclosure
provisions ofSFAS 123 are required only to be applied to grants
of options rnade by the Company during fiscal 1995 and after,
of the

efIects of applying SFAS 123 to future years.

The weighted-average fair value of the options
during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996 were estimated at
$8.05, and $4.66 respectively, using the BIack-Scholes
pricing mode! with the following assumptions: volatility

s

Balance, February 1, 1997
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

Balance, January 3D, 1999

fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, would have been reduced by approx-

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

7,902
1,856
(460)
(156)

, Forfeited

option grant dates consistent with the method of SFAS 123, the
Company's net earnings and diluted earnings per share for

Shares

stock options

Balance, January 27, 1996
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

Ba!a~~~, !anuary 31, 1998
. Granted
Exercised

cost for the Company's stock option
based on the fair value at the stock

the above pro forma amounts may not be representative

01 shares)

& NOBLE,INC.1998

granted
$12.96,
optionof 35%

for fiscal 1998 grants, 28% for fiscal 1997 and 1996 grants, riskfree interest rate of 5.33% in fiscal 1998, 6.54% in fiscal 1997,
and 6.63% in fiscal 1996, and an expected life of 5.4 years for
fiscal 1998 and 6.0 years for fiscal 1997 and 1996.
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The following table summarizes infonnation as ofJanuary 30, 1999 concerning outstanding and exercisable options:
Options Outstanding
Range of
Exercise
Prices

Number
Outstanding
(OOOs)

$ 3.21-$ 3.77
$10.00-$15.00
$ 17.13-$24.25
$26.50 -$34.75

818
5.384
2.870
1.206

-$34.75
_$ 3.21__
_.__

10.278

Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Weighted-

Number
Exercisable

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

Average Remaining
Contractural Life

Average
Exercise Price

4,38
4.98
8.42
9.07

$ 3.59
$ 12.11
$ 19.93
$34.30

818
5.275
665
22

$ 3.59
$12.08
$18.67
$28.92

..6.3.?_

~~~:??__ __ ._

_6._78_0._

$ 11.76

__ __ .

(OOOs)

___

o

11. Leases

12. Litigation

The Company leases retail stores, warehouse facilities,
oflice space and equipment. Substantially ali of the retail stores
are leased under noncancelable agreements which expire at
various dates through 2028 with various renewal options for
additional periods. The agreements, which have been classified
as operating leases, generally provide for both minimum and
percentage rentals and require the Company to pay ali
insurance, taxes and other maintenance costs. Percentage
ientals are based on sales performance in excess of specified
minimums at various stores.

In March 1998, the American Booksellers Association
(ABA) and 26 independent bookstores filed a lawsuit in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of
California against the Company and Borders Group Inc.
(Borders) alleging violations of the Robinson-Patman Act, the
California Unfair Trade Practice Act and the California Unfair
Competition Law. The Complaint seeks injunctive and
declaratory relief; treble damages on behalf of each of the bookstore plaintifIs, and, with respect to the California bookstore
plaintiffs, any other damages permitted by California law;
disgorgement of money, property and gains wrongfully
obtained in connection with the purchase of books for resale, or
offered for resale, in California from March 18, 1994 until the
action is completed and pre-judgment interest on any amounts
awarded in the action, as well as attorney fees and costs. In
November 1998, six other independent booksellers instituted an
action in the same court against the same defendants asserting
similar claims and seeking similar relief. The Company intends
to vigorously defend both actions.

Rental expense under operating leases are as follows:
I

RiscaiYear

1----

1998

..._·

1997

1996

3,183

253,472
3.216

222,700
2,750

$274.384

256.688

225,450

s 27l.201

~inimum rentals
~ercentage rentals
I
I

I Future minimum annual rentals, excluding percentage
rentals, required under leases that had initial, noncancelable
I~ase terms greater than one year, as ofJanuary 30,1999 are:

li'~1

Year

1999

~OOO

d001
~000032

2

tfter 2003
I

L----.

_

_

__

__

_

__

In August 1998, The Intimate Bookshop, Inc. and its
owner, Wallace Kuralt, filed a lawsuit in the United States
District Court for the Southern District ofNew York against the
Company, Borders, Amazon.com, Inc., certain publishers and
others alleging violationof the Robinson-Patman Act and other
federal law, New York statutes governing trade practices and
common law. The Complaint seeks certification of a class
consisting of all retail booksellers in the United States, whether
or not currently in business, which were in business and were
members of the ABA at any time during the four year period
preceding the flling of the Complaint. The Complaint allegcs
that the named plaintifIs have suffered damages of $11.25 million
or more and requests treble damages on behalf of the named
plaintiffs and each of the purported class members, as well as of
injunctive and declaratory relief (including an injunction
requiring the closure of all of defendants' stores within 10 miles
of any location where plaintiff either has or had a retail bookstore during the four years preceding the filing of the
Complaint, and prohibiting the opening by defendants of any
bookstore in such areas for the next 10 years), disgorgement of
alleged discriminatory discounts, rebates, deductions and

.__

$ 271.769
264.027
261.090
247.781
228,481
1.577.713
$2.850.861

I
I
Future minimum annual rentals for stores scheduled for
dlosing pursuant to the Company's restructuring plan are
included in the preceding table. Future rental payments
1epre~enting ~e exit costs associated with these sto~e closings
tere included m the Company's non-cash restructunng charge
éf $123,768 recorded during fiscal 1995 and, therefore, do not
~epresent future operating expenses.
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~ayments, punitive damages, interest, costs, attorneys fees and
9ther relief. Many of the allegations in the Complaint are
similar to those contained in the action instituted by the ABA
and 26 bookseller plaintifIs against the Company in March of
i998. The Company intends to vigorously defend the action.

respectively. In connection with the space, the Company
reirnbursed B&N College during fiscal 1997, for a landmark tax
credit totaling $726.
B&N College also allocated certain operating costs it
incurred on behalf of the Company. These charges are
included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and approximated $48, $75 and $115 for fiscal 1998, 1997
and 1996, respectively. The Company charged B&N College
$972 and $473 for fiscal years ended January 30, 1999 and
January 31, 1998, respectively, for capitaI expenditures, business
insurance, and other operating costs incurred on their behalf.

In November 1998, a former bookstore chain in Texas
which has filed for bankruptcy protection, filed an amended
complaint in an action in the Bankruptcy Court for the
Northern District of Texas against the Company alleging
various antitrust and related claims. Among other things, the
~laintiff alleges that the Company conspired with national book
I
Ilublishers to obtain lower prices and to monopolize the
Dallas/Fort Worth book retail market. The plaintiff is seeking
$11 million in actual damages, plus treble damages, punitive
damages, and attorneys' fees. The Company intends to
fgorously defend this action.

The Company uses a jet aircraft owned by B&N College
and pays for the costs and expenses of operating the aircraft
based upon the Company's usage. Such costs which inelude fuel,
insurance, personnel and other costs approximate $1,760, $1,910
and $1,685 during fiscal 1998, fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996,
respectively,and are ineluded in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

I In addition to the above actions, various claims and lawsuits arising in the normal course of business are pending
~gainst the Company. The subject matter of these proceedings
p,rimarilyincludes commercial disputes and employment issues.
The results of these proceedings are not expected to have a
~aterial adverse effect on the Company's consolidated fmancial
I ..
.
IlOSltlOn
or resu 1ts o f operanons.

On November 27,1996, Babbage's Etc. LLC (Babbage's),
a company owned by a principal shareholder/director/executive
officer of the Company, acquired substantially all of the assets
of Software Etc. Stores, Inc. (Software), a company (formerly a
division of the Company) in which two principal shareholderdirectors had an ownership interest, and assumed the opera·
tions of 14 retail software departments located within Barnes &
Noble stores. As of January 30, 1999 there are 13 of these
departments remaining. The Company pays all rent related to
these properties for which it receives a license fee from
Babbage's equal to 7.0% of the gross sales of such departments.
The Company also provides real estate and construction services to Babbage's and purchases business insurance on its behalf
for which the Company is reirnbursed for its incrementaI costs
to provide such services. The Company charged Software and
Babbage's, on a combined basis, $1,396, $1,430 and $1,282 during fiscal 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, for such services,
license fees, rent, operating costs, insurance costs and benefits
coverage. Babbages also purchases merchandise from the
Company at prices equal to the Company's cost to obtain and
ship the merchandise.

I

13. Certain

Relationships

and Related Transactions

!

l The Company leases space for its executive offices in propclrtiesin which a principal shareholder/director/executive officer
df the Company has a minority interest. The space was rented
Jt an aggregate annual rent including real estate taxes of
+proximately $1,316, $1,309 and $1,307 in fiscal years 1998,
1997 and 1996, respectively.

l

Marboro

Books Corp.,

the Company's

mail-order

SI bsidiary, leases a 76,000 square foot office/warehouse from

a partnership in which a principal shareholder/directorl
dxecutive officer of the Company has a 50% interest, pursuant
a lease expiring in 2023. Pursuant to such lease, the
d;ompany paid $737, $743 and $665 in fiscal years 1998, 1997
Jnd 1996, respectively.

tb

barnesandnoble.com purchased $33,444 and $4,997 of
merchandise from the Company during fiscal 1998 and 1997,
respectively, and barnesandnoble.com expects to source most of
its purchases through the Company in the future. The
Company has entered into an agreement (the Supply
Agreement) with barnesandnoble.com whereby the Company
charges barnesandnoble.com the costs associated with such
purchases plus incrementaI overhead incurred by the Company
in connection with providing such inventory. The Supply
Agreement is subject to certain terrnination provisions.

The Company is provided with certain package shipping
services by the LTA Group, Inc. (LTA),a company in which the
~rother of a principal shareholder/director/executive officer of
I
the Company acquired a 20% interest during fiscal 1996. The
I
Company paid LTA $12,571, $11,528 and $9,100 for such
+rvices during fiscal years 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
, The Company leases retail space in a building in which
Barnes & Noble College Bookstores, Inc. (B&N College), a
40mpany owned by a principal shareholderldirector/executive
ófficerof the Company, subleases space for its executive offices.
0ccupancy costs allocated by the Company to B&N College for
this space totaIed $725, $634 and $544 for the fiscal years ended
January 30, 1999, January 31, 1998 and February 1, 1997,

The Company has entered into agreements (the Service
Agreements) whereby barnesandnoble.com receives various
services from the Company, ineluding, among others, services
26
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for payroll processing,
benefits administration,
insurance
(property and casualty, medical, dental and life), tax, traffic, ful-

continue to receive, fees in an amount equal tothe direct costs
plus incrementai expenses associated with providing such serv-

fillment and telecommunications.

ices. The Company received $856 and $250 for such services
during fiscal 1998 and 1997, respectively.

of such agreements

14. Selected

the Company

Quarterly

A summary

In accordance with the terms
has received, and expects to

FinanciaI Information (Unaudited)

of quarterly

financial information

for each of the last two fiscal years is as follows:

Fiscal 1998 Quarter End

April

On or About

1998

----_._--Sales

$656/976

July
1998

October
1998

172/387
(13/603)
(3/335)
(0.05)

662/507
179/844
(23/003)
(5/709)
(0.08)

Diluted earnings (Ioss) per common share

(0.05)

(0.08)

(0.07)

Fiscal 1997 Ouarter End

April
1997

July
1997

October
1997

$595/731
147,514
(3/861)
(3/861)

617/748
158,813

614/831
164/514

(1/366)
(1/366)

65
65

(0.06)
(0.06)

(0.02)
(0.02)

(0.06)
(0.06)

(0.02)
(0.02)

Gross profit
Equity in net loss of barnesandnoble.com
Net earninqs (1055)(2)

IIc(1)

Basic earnings (loss) per common share

On or About
Sales
Gross profit
Earnings (Ioss) before extraordinary
Net earnings (1055)
Basic earnings (Ioss) per common share
Earnings (1055) before extraordinary
Net earnings (1055)

charge

charge

Diluted earnings (Ioss) per common share
Earnings (1055) before extraordinary charge
Net earnings (1055)

656/837
182/967
(20,472)
(4/596)
(0.07)

January
1999
1/029/288
327/693
(14,256)
106/016
1.54
1.47
January
1998

Total Fiscal
Year 1998
3,005/608
862,891
(71/334)
92,376
1.35
1.29
Total Fiscal
Year 1997

968/542
306,720
69,830
58,331

2/796/852
777,561

0.00

1.03

0.00

0.86

0.96
0.79

0.00
0.00

0.98
0.81

0.93
0.76

64/668
53/169

As a rcsult of the fonnation of barnesandnoble.com lIe on October 31, 1998, each quarter of fiscal 1998 presents the Company's equity in net loss of
barnesandnoble.com lIe as a separate line item in accordance with the equity method of accounting. Accordingly, the first thrcc quarters of fiscal 1998 rcflect the
Company's onc-hundrcd percent equity in net Iosses of bainesandnoble.com and the fourth quarter rcfleets the Company's fúty percent intercst in the nct
losses of barnesandnoble.com. Fiscal 1997 rcfleets the operations of barnesandnoble.com as a consolidatcd wholly owned subsidiary for cach quarter prcsented.
(2) Included in net earnings for the fourth quarter of ftscal 1998 is a pre-tax gain on the fonnation of barnesandnoble.com IIc of $63,759 ($37,618after tax) or $0.55 and
$0.52 per basie and dilutcd common sharc, rcspeetiveJy.
(1)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Direetors
Barnes & Noble, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofBarnes & Noble, Inc. and subsidiaries as ofJanuary 30, 1999
andJanuary 31, 1998 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the
fiscal years endedJanuary 30, 1999,January 31, 1998, and February 1, 1997,respeetively. These financiai statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmaneial statements based on our audits.
We condueted our audits in aecordanee with generally aceepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranee about whether the fmancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidenee supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fmaneial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the aecounting principies used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
fmaneial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in ali material respeets, the fmaneial
position ofBarnes & Noble, Inc. and its subsidiaries as ofJanuary 30,1999 andJanuary 31, 1998 and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the fiscal years ended January 30, 1999,January 31, 1998 and February 1, 1997, in eonformity with
generally aeeepted accounting principies.
New York, New York
Mareh 10, 1999

BDO Seidman, LLP
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INFORMATION
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STOCK
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The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol BKS. The following table
sets forth, for the quarterly periods indicated, the high and low
sales prices of the common stock on the NYSE Composite Tape
(restated to adjust for the two-for-one stock split effected
September 22, 1997).
1998

Fiscal Year

1997

HIGH

LOW

First Quarter

39 "/'6

30

Second Quarter

48

31"/'6

25 '/2

18 '/'
22 '/.
25 "/'6

v:

HIGH

LOW

19 "/'6

15 '/'6

Third Quarter

41 "/'6

22 '/'6

32 'I,

Fourth Quarter

48

26

v.

34 '/,

As of March 31, 1999, there were 69,012,755 shares of common
stock outstanding held by 2,018 shareholders of recordo No
dividends have been paid on the common stock since the initial
public offering date and dividend payments are currendy restricted
as a covenant of the Company's debt agreements.

INFORMATION

Corporate Headquarters:
Barnes & Noble, Inc.
122 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10011
(212) 633-3300
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New York Stock Exchange, Symbol: BKS
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The Bank of New York
Shareholder Relations, Department 11E
P.O. Box 11258, Church Street Station
New York, New York 10286
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E-mail address:shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com
Counsel:
Robinson Silverman Pearce Aronsohn & Berman LLP
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BDO Seidman, LLP, New York, New York
Annual Meeting:
The Annual Meeting of the Shareholders will be held at 10 a.m.
on Wednesday, June 9,1999 at the Marriot Marquis,
1535 Broadway, New York, New York.
Shareholder Services:
Inquiries from our shareholders and potential investors
are always we1come.
General financial information can be obtained via the
Internet by visiting the Company's Investor Re1ations Web site:
http://www.shareholder.comlbks/
Up-to-the-minute news about Barnes & Noble, requests for
Annual Reports, Form 10-K and lO-Qdocuments and other
available fmancial information can be obtained toll-free by
calling 1-888-BKS-NEWS.
Ali other inquiries should be directed to:
Investor Re1ations Department, Barnes & Noble, Inc.
122 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10011
Phone: (212) 633-3489 Fax: (212) 675-0413
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